

# Four Essays on Modeling and Analyzing Investor Interactions in Financial Markets, Herding Behavior, and Speculative Bubbles

## **Inaugural-Dissertation**

to obtain the academic degree of Doctor of Business Administration (doctor rerum politicarum – Dr. rer. pol.)

submitted to the

Faculty of Business Administration and Economics Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

presented by

## John Henrik Stiebel, M.Sc.

Research Associate at the Chair of Business Administration, esp. Financial Services, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf Universitätsstraße 1, 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Christoph J. Börner

Düsseldorf, November 6, 2024

## Contents

Ac	cknowledgements I			IV
Li	st of F	ligures		V
Li	st of T	ables		VI
Li	st of A	bbrevi	ations	VII
Li	st of S	ymbols		X
1	Intro	duction	1	1
	1.1	Market	Efficiency and its Limitations	3
		1.1.1	Theoretical Base of EMH	3
		1.1.2	Empirical Base of EMH	5
		1.1.3	Theoretical challenges to the EMH	7
		1.1.4	Empirical challenges to the EMH	10
	1.2	Contril	oution within a Framework of Behavioral Finance Research	12
2	Idea	l Agent	System with Triplet States: Model Parameter Identification of Agent-	
	Field	l Intera	ction	17
	2.1	Abstra	ct	17
	2.2	Introdu	ction	18
	2.3	Metho	d	22
		2.3.1	Canonical Ensemble	25
			2.3.1.1 Trade Potential	26
			2.3.1.2 Utility	28
			2.3.1.3 Risk Measures	28
		2.3.2	Microcanonical Ensemble	29
	2.4	Applic	ation	32
		2.4.1	Procedure for Determining the Model Parameters – Experimental Setup	32
		2.4.2	Data	34
			2.4.2.1 Volatility $T$ – Temperature	34
			2.4.2.2 Trade Potential $\bar{N}_{pot}$ – Magnetization	34
			2.4.2.3 News Sentiment $\mathcal{B}$ – The Magnetic Field	35
		2.4.3	Results	40
		2.4.4	Concept for a One-Step-Ahead-Forecast	42

	2.5	Conclusions	43
	2.6	Appendix – Table of Correspondence	46
	2.7	Declaration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments	47
3	Gen	eralized Agent System with Triplet States: Model Parameter Identification	
	of A	gent-Agent Interaction	<b>48</b>
	3.1	Abstract	48
	3.2	Introduction	49
	3.3	Method	53
		3.3.1 Utility Function	54
		3.3.2 Mean-Field Approximation	58
		3.3.3 Canonical Partition Function and Probability of Occupancy of the States	60
		3.3.4 Model of the generalized agent system	62
		3.3.5 Realizable Macroscopic States	64
		3.3.6 Measurement Equations for Parameter J	65
		3.3.7 Phase Transition and Critical Index	68
	3.4	Application	70
		3.4.1 Determining the Model Parameter J – Experimental Set-up	71
		3.4.2 Data and Transfer of the Model Parameters	71
		3.4.3 Summary of Results	76
		3.4.4 Model Phenomenology	77
		3.4.5 Model Predictions with Practical Relevance	79
	3.5	Conclusion	80
	3.6	Declaration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments	83
4	On t	the Connection Between Temperature and Volatility in Ideal Agent Systems	84
	4.1	Abstract	84
	4.2	Introduction	85
	4.3	Definition of $T$	85
	4.4	Two-State Ideal Agent System	87
		4.4.1 Occupation Probabilities	87
		4.4.2 Distribution of the Trade Potential <i>M</i>	88
	4.5	Stochastic Model of Market Capitalization	88
	4.6	Application	90
	4.7	Conclusion	90
	4.8	Declaration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments	91

5	Beyo	ond the	Individual: Investigating the Interdependence of Speculative Bubble	S
	and	Herdin	ng in Financial Markets	92
	5.1	Abstra	uct	92
	5.2	Introdu	uction	93
	5.3	Theore	etical Background	95
		5.3.1	Bubbles	95
			5.3.1.1 Definition	95
			5.3.1.2 Formation	95
			5.3.1.3 Empirical Methods	96
		5.3.2	Herding Behavior	97
			5.3.2.1 Definition	97
			5.3.2.2 Evidence for the US Stock Market	98
			5.3.2.3 Empirical Methods	99
		5.3.3	Bubbles due to Herding Behavior	100
			5.3.3.1 Theoretical Contributions	100
			5.3.3.2 Empirical Evidence	101
	5.4	Empir	ical Analysis	103
		5.4.1	Data	103
		5.4.2	Detection of Herding Behavior	105
		5.4.3	Detection of Bubbles	109
		5.4.4	Regression Analysis	112
			5.4.4.1 Baseline Analysis	112
			5.4.4.2 Sub-period Analysis	115
			5.4.4.3 Long-term Analysis	118
			5.4.4.4 Industry Analysis	121
			5.4.4.5 Company Size Analysis	124
	5.5	Robus	tness Analysis	126
	5.6	Conclu	usion	127
	5.7	Declar	ration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments	129
Re	eferen	ces		130
St	atutoi	ry decla	aration	160

## Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my doctoral advisor, Prof. Dr. Christoph J. Börner, for his professional and personal support at all times during the preparation of this thesis. I have considered it a privilege to be able to freely choose the topics for each project that sparked my research interest.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Ulrike Neyer for her co-supervision.

Moreover, I would like to thank my mentor and co-author Prof. Dr. Ingo Hoffmann for the many engaging discussions, the fruitful collaboration, the honest feedback and the overall trusting relationship.

During my time at the chair, I have had the opportunity to meet a number of colleagues who have made this a remarkable period of time, which I have greatly enjoyed and during which I have been able to grow personally. In particular, I would like to thank our last team, consisting of Anne-Marie Ossig, Julia Schedrina, Lars M. Kürzinger, Philipp Stangor and Jonas Krettek, for the many professional and personal conversations that helped to bring this to a successful conclusion. I owe a special thanks to the latter, who, as my office mate, was an unfailing support with a great sense of humor.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for always believing in me and supporting me in every way.

Düsseldorf in November 2024

# List of Figures

1	Chicago Board of Trade I by Gursky (1997)	1
2	Structure of the thesis	4
3	Original illustration of the behavioral finance research framework based on	
	Sharma and Kumar (2019)	6
4	Trade Potential	7
5	Sigmoid function	3
6	Curie Volatility	5
7	Mean Attitude	2
8	The herding measure $h_{mt}$ for the S&P 500 based on the state-space model	
	specified in Equations (61) and (62)	8
9	The price-dividend ratio $(PDR_t)$ with shaded areas indicating exuberant bub-	
	ble periods	1

## List of Tables

1	Correlation analysis between sentiment scores based on different dictionaries
	and market reactions ( <i>p</i> -values in parentheses)
2	Analyzed news and deduced key figures ( $k = 1$ USD)
3	Results for $\mu$ and $\alpha$ along with the range of variation from the estimation 41
4	Results of an (in-sample) one-step-ahead forecast using the 18 events from
	Table 2 with benchmark approaches and four error indicators.43
5	Correspondence of physical model parameters in an econometric context,
	substantiated with relevant literature
6	Critical Points for $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) = (+1, +1)$
7	Summary of the estimated parameters as well as details on the scattering in
	terms of the bandwidths and the standard deviation $\sigma$ . Results for $\mu$ and $\alpha_1$
	are taken from Börner et al. (2023b)
8	Descriptive statistics
9	Results of the state-space model
10	Results of the baseline regressions
11	Logistic regression results for sub-periods
12	Logistic regression results for longer horizons in the future
13	Logistic regression results for bubble persistence
14	General SIC code classifications based on first two digits
15	Logistic regression results by industry
16	Logistic regression results by company size
17	Results of the robustness analysis

## List of Abbreviations

ADF	Augmented Dickey-Fuller (test)
ARIMA	Autoregressive integrated moving average
AR(p)	Autoregressive model of order <i>p</i>
BIC	Bayesian information criterion
BIS	Bank for International Settlements
BNTX UW	Bloomberg code for company BioNTech SE
BSADF	Backward SADF
CAPM	Capital Asset Pricing Model
CCI	Consumer Confidence Index
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
cf.	confer
Chap.	Chapter
const.	constant
Cont.	Continued
Corp.	Corporation
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
Crit.	Criterion
CSAD	Cross-sectional absolute deviation of returns
Dev.	Deviation
DDM	Dividend Discount Model
DJIA	Dow Jones Industrial Average
econ.	economical
e.g.	exempli gratia
EMH	Efficiency Market Hypothesis
EPU	Economic policy uncertainty
Eq.	Equation
et al.	et alli/aliae/alia
etc.	et cetera
EU	European Union
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FED	Federal Reserve System
GDP	Gross domestic product
GFC	Global Financial Crisis
GSADF	Generalized SADF
HAC	Heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (standard errors)

HE	Helium
HT	High-tech
i.e.	id est
i.i.d	Independent and identically distributed
Inf.	Information
JB	Jarque-Bera (test)
LOCF	Last observation carry forward
L.P.	Limited Party
LSV	Designation of the method according to Lakonishok et al. (1992)
MA	Moving average
MAE	Mean absolute error
MAPE	Mean absolute percentage error
Max	Maximum
Min	Minimum
MSE	Mean squared error
NASDAQ	National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations
Obs.	Observations
OLS	Ordinary least squares
р.	page
PCM	Portfolio Change Measure
phys.	physical
PSY	Designation of the method according to Phillips et al. (2015)
PWY	Designation of the method according to Phillips et al. (2011)
resp.	respectively
RMSE	Root mean squared error
SADF	Sup ADF
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus type 2
Sec.	Section
Sep	September
SIC	Standard Industrial Classification
S&P	Standard and Poor's
Std	Standard deviation
TS	Time series
US	United States
USD	United States dollar
UTC	Coordinated Universal Time

UK	United Kingdom
VIX	Volatility index of S&P 500
Vol.	Volume
VOLQ	Volatility index of NASDAQ 100
WHO	World Health Organization
2SM	Two-state model
3SM	Three-state model

# List of Symbols

# Latin symbols

Α	Abbreviation for mathematical term (auxiliary function)
${\mathcal B}$	phys.: magnetic field, econ.: news sentiment
В	Strength of news field (absolute value of $\mathcal{B}$ )
$B_1$	Effective message environments due to (non-)conforming adjoin-
	ing agents
$B_2$	Effective message environments due to neutral adjoining agents
$B_t$	Bubble dummy at time <i>t</i>
$Binom(\cdot)$	Binomial distribution
$BSADF_t$	BSADF test statistic at time <i>t</i>
$CC_t$	Sub-period specific dummy indicating the COVID-19 pandemic at
	time t
$CSAD_t$	Cross-sectional absolute deviation of returns a time t
CB	phys.: (specific heat) capacity, econ.: overall system sensitivity
$\cosh(\cdot)$	Cosinus hyperbolicus
D	Region of parameter vector ( $\alpha_2, \alpha_3$ )
$DC_t$	Sub-period specific dummy indicating the dot-com bubble at time <i>t</i>
d	Index indicating daily data
Ε	Internal energy
$\mathbf{E}_{c}(\cdot)$	Cross-sectional expected value
$\mathbf{E}_t(\cdot)$	Expected value at time t
$\mathbf{E}_t^b(\cdot)$	Biased expected value at time t
$EPU_t$	Economic policy uncertainty at time <i>t</i>
$exp(\cdot)$	Exponential function
F	Free Energy
$F(\cdot)$	Cumulative density function
$FC_t$	Sub-period specific dummy indicating the house price boom and sub-
	sequent financial crisis at time t
$f(\cdot)$	Function
$G(\cdot)$	General function for Itos Lemma
$g(\cdot)$	General boundary condition of region D
$gCRGDP_t$	Growth of credit as a ratio to GDP at time <i>t</i>
$gGDP_t$	GDP growth at time <i>t</i>
$gIP_t$	Industrial production growth at time <i>t</i>
$gM2_t$	Growth of money supply M2 at time t

rameter at time t
me t
ents or assets
ents or assets
time t
ant, econ.: scale/unit parameter
of the bubble estimation method
con.: purchase/sale potential
xt of the Popoviciu (1935) equation
(non-)conforming
of the Popoviciu (1935) equation
in neutral position
ositions at critical point
ews message
les, econ .: number of agents and shares
orming
conforming
ng
f the agent system
month <i>t</i>
al
potential
ment score

PW	Positive words in sentiment score
$P_t$	Price at time <i>t</i>
$\hat{P}_t$	Estimated price at time <i>t</i>
$PDR_t$	Price-dividend ratio at time t
р	p-Value
$p_i$	Occupation probabilities
$p_t$	Price at time <i>t</i> in the detailed balanced condition
$Prob(\cdot)$	Probability
$pv_t$	Price volatility at time t
PS	Sentiment polarity score
q	Number of states in a Potts model
R	Real numbers
$R^2$	Coefficient of determination
R <sub>it</sub>	Return on asset <i>i</i> at time <i>t</i>
$R_{mt}$	Return on market index at time t
$r_0$	Minimum window size
<i>r</i> <sub>1</sub>	Start point of the rolling window
<i>r</i> <sub>2</sub>	End point of the rolling window
r <sub>e</sub>	(Fractional) starting points of a bubble
$r_f$	(Fractional) ending points of a bubble
$r_t$	Reference interest rate at time <i>t</i>
r <sub>w</sub>	Size of the rolling window
$\hat{r}_e$	Estimated (fractional) starting points of a bubble
$\hat{r}_{f}$	Estimated (fractional) ending points of a bubble
r <sub>it</sub>	Excess return on asset <i>i</i> at time <i>t</i>
<i>r<sub>mt</sub></i>	Excess return on the market at time <i>t</i>
r <sub>itd</sub>	Daily excess return on asset $i$ , month $t$
<i>r<sub>mt<sub>d</sub></sub></i>	Daily excess return on the market, month <i>t</i>
S	Entropy
$\bar{S}$	Average entropy
S	Positioning in relation to the message field
$S_i$	Positioning of agent <i>i</i> in relation to the message field
<i>S</i> <sub>i</sub>	Generalized state for agent <i>i</i>
$scv_{r_2}^{\beta_T}$	Critical value
$SENT_t$	Consumer sentiment at time <i>t</i>
$\operatorname{Std}_{c}(\cdot)$	Cross-sectional standard deviation

$\widehat{\operatorname{Std}_c(\cdot)}$	Estimated cross-sectional standard deviation
$\operatorname{sech}(\cdot)$	Secant hyperbolicus
$sign(\cdot)$	Signum function
$\sinh(\cdot)$	Sinus hyperbolicus
$\sup(\cdot)$	Supremum
T	Finite period
Т	phys.: temperature, econ.: volatility
	Total sample in the context of the bubble estimation method
$T_{15'}$	15-minutes volatility
$T_c$	phys.: critical/Curie temperature in Ising model, econ.: critical volatil-
	ity in 2SM
$ ilde{T}_c$	phys.: critical/Curie temperature in 3SM, econ.: critical volatil-
	ity in 3SM
t	Time
$tv_t$	Trade volume at time <i>t</i>
$tanh(\cdot)$	Hyperbolic tangent
U	Gross utility
Ū	Average gross utility
U	Utility
$ar{U}$	Average utility
$U_0$	Ground state utility
$V_t$	Market capitalization at time t
$v_{mt}$	Error term of the measurement equation of the state space model
$W_t$	Wiener process at time t
X	Vector of state variables
$X_t$	Logarithmic price of a stock at time t
x	Auxiliary variable
$Y_t$	Parameter vector at time <i>t</i>
<i>Y</i> t	Variable for rolling window regression at time t
Ζ	Canonical partition function
Z	phys.: coordination number, econ.: average number of adjoining agents

# Greek symbols

α	Regression constant in the context of the robustness test
$\alpha, \alpha_1$	Fraction of utility contribution of neutral position
$\alpha_2$	Contribution of adjacent neutral positions

$\alpha_3$	Contribution of adjacent (non-)confirming and neutral position
$lpha_4$	Contribution of field-field interaction
$\alpha_{r_1,r_2}$	Rolling window regression constant
$\alpha^b_{it}$	Market model regression constant for asset $i$ , month $t$
$\bar{\alpha}_2, \bar{\alpha}_3$	Boundary condition parameter values
β	phys.: inverse temperature, econ.: inverse volatility
$\beta_{imt}$	Systematic risk measure at time t
$\beta^b_{imt}$	Biased/observed systematic risk measure at time t
$\hat{eta}^b_{imt}$	Estimated observed systematic risk measure at time t
$\overline{\hat{eta}^b_{imt}}$	Mean estimated observed systematic risk measure at time t
$\beta_{r_1,r_2}$	Coefficient of the first lagged difference of the dependent variable
$\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3, \gamma_4$	Coefficients of the robustness test regression model
Δ	Change or difference operator
$\delta$	Small changes of a quantity
	Frequency dependent parameter in the context of the bubble estima-
	tion method
$\epsilon_i$	Individual change to the Hamiltonian by agent <i>i</i>
$\epsilon_t$	Error term of the robustness test regression model
$\epsilon_{it_d}$	Market model error term using daily data $d$ for month $t$
$\varepsilon_t$	Error term of the rolling window regression at time t
η	phys.: thermal magnetic loss coefficient, econ.: overall system sensi-
	tivity
$\eta_{mt}$	Error term of the state equation of the state space model
$\mu$	phys.: magnetic moment/energy contribution, econ.: utility contribu-
	tion, interpreted as: willingness to trade
$\hat{\mu}$	Estimated utility contribution
$\mu_i$	Individualized utility contribution
$\mu_M$	Expected value of M
$\mu_X$	Expected value of logarithmic returns
$\mu_m$	Drift term of the measurement equation of the state space model
ρ	Correlation
$ ho(\cdot)$	Distribution
$\sigma$	Standard deviation
	Volatility
$\sigma_M$	Standard deviation of M
$\sigma_X$	Standard deviation of logarithmic returns

$\sigma^2$	Variance
$\sigma_{mv}^2$	Variance of the error term of the measurement equation of the state
	space model
$\sigma_{m\eta}^2$	Variance of the error term of the state equation of the state space model
$\phi$	Autoregressive coefficient
$\phi_m$	Autoregressive coefficient of the state space model
X	phys.: magnetic susceptibility, econ.: overall system sensitivity
$\psi^i_{r_1,r_2}$	Coefficient of the <i>k</i> -th lagged difference of the dependent variable
Ω	Microcanonical partition function

# Other symbols

%	Per cent
Σ	Sum
$\infty$	Infinity
x	Proportional to
$\partial$	Partial derivative

## 1. Introduction

When thinking of a stock exchange in the traditional sense, numerous films and other works have shaped many people's associations. Traders are often depicted in large rooms, communicating with cryptic signs and papers flying around, in ecstatic or highly intense scenes. The high tension and intensity is created by the presence of individuals interacting with each other, potentially imitating one another, and collectively sparking the mood in the room. The photograph in Figure 1, entitled Chicago Board of Trade I by Andreas Gursky, is an example of this. It depicts the crowded trading floor of the Board of Trade in Chicago, with traders from various banks standing around monitors, and papers on the floor contributing to the overall impression of frenzy and intensity. It is not about the individual situations of the traders, but about the result created by the convergence of the traders, the space, and other elements (Tate, 2024).



**Figure 1:** *Chicago Board of Trade I* by Gursky (1997). © Andreas Gursky, 2024. All rights reserved. Creative Commons license terms for re-use do not apply to this picture and further permission may be required from the right holder.

Although this image of financial markets is no longer found on trading floors due to technological advances and the shift of significant parts of trading to digital exchanges, it still serves as a metaphorical approach to thinking about phenomena in capital markets. In such a hectic environment, emotions can spread quickly among traders, with euphoric or panicked sentiments influencing others and leading to collective behavior such as herding (Shiller, 2015). Moreover, the frenetic pace often limits information processing, leading investors to rely more on the actions of others (Barberis and Thaler, 2003). Herding behavior is a phenomenon, where investors imitate each other (Spyrou, 2013) and trade in the same direction (Nofsinger and Sias, 1999). Although much of the trading no longer takes place on trading floors as in Figure 1, trading rooms within banks or even the internet with platforms and social media provide mechanisms through which imitation can take place (Olsen, 2011). This behavior can potentially cause asset prices to diverge increasingly from their underlying fundamental values due to imitation-driven purchases. One resulting phenomenon is a speculative bubble in the stock market, which can lead to potentially significant economic damage and crises (Jordà et al., 2015). Understanding these backgrounds and mechanisms is therefore not only of academic interest, but also of practical importance for ensuring financial market and economic stability (Phillips et al., 2015).

For this reason, this dissertation is dedicated to the study of investor interactions in financial markets. The two distinct but related concepts of herd behavior and speculative bubbles are central and are considered both separately and in combination. One of the central research questions is how herding behavior can be modeled and how this modeling can be applied in finance. The literature already contains numerous different modeling approaches, as can be seen in the review articles by Spyrou (2013); Kallinterakis and Gregoriou (2017); Komalasari et al. (2022). However, this dissertation explores the intersection between physics and economics, specifically how models from statistical physics can be applied to describe collective behavior in financial markets. Over the last half century, modeling approaches from statistical physics based on the Ising model – originally introduced as a mathematical model of ferromagnetism in statistical mechanics (Brush, 1967) – have increasingly found their way into econometrics. These modeling approaches provide a framework for analyzing interactions between investors (Sornette, 2014). Another key aspect that follows modeling and can be seen as an intermediate step towards application is the question of the transferability of variables from the physical to the economic or financial context. The transfer is challenging as the systems are initially based on different principles (Sornette, 2014; Ausloos et al., 2016) and the mathematical relationships between the variables have to be preserved. Related to this is the calibration of the innovative modeling approach. As in applied physics, the question arises in applied econometrics: How can the model parameters be determined on the basis of data, e.g. from the capital market? Within the context of this modeling approach, another question that arises is its applicability in forecasting price developments or in risk assessment.

As mentioned above, herding behavior is often cited as a trigger or driver of speculative bubbles, see for example Scharfstein and Stein (1990); Lux (1995); Avery and Zemsky (1998); DeMarzo et al. (2008); Scherbina and Schlusche (2014). Empirical studies have already pointed to the potential link between herding behavior and returns (Nofsinger and Sias, 1999; Wermers, 1999; Sias, 2004; Dasgupta et al., 2011; Singh, 2013; Brown et al., 2014; Celiker et al., 2015). Therefore, this thesis also examines whether the theoretical link between herding behavior and speculative bubbles can be observed empirically.

Due to the partly high level of abstraction of these questions and the specific research gaps addressed by the studies, reference is made to the detailed explanations of the specific research contributions of the individual studies as well as of the entire dissertation in Section 1.2.

In brief, this dissertation investigates collective phenomena in the capital market using classical econometric methods from behavioral finance and econophysics, thus contributing to a better understanding of market anomalies. Before elaborating on the contribution of the thesis in detail, a theoretical background is provided to situate the studies. After discussing the efficiency of capital markets, the current state of the behavioral finance literature, which has emerged from the market efficiency debate, is presented. This framework will then be used to contextualize the contributions of this thesis. Finally, the overall contribution of the dissertation in the context of the market efficiency debate is described and the more detailed contributions of the individual studies are presented.

### 1.1. Market Efficiency and its Limitations

In his contribution to the discussion of market efficiency and the introduction of behavioral finance, Shleifer (2000) adopts an approach that will be followed here. Initially, the theoretical and empirical arguments in favor of the efficiency market hypothesis (EMH) are presented, followed by a juxtaposition of the theoretical and empirical challenges to the hypothesis. This approach provides a nuanced perspective on the market efficiency debate and thus allows for a better contextualization of the studies included in this dissertation.

### 1.1.1. Theoretical Base of EMH

The EMH is a central financial model that describes how financial markets work. It has been the subject of much theoretical and empirical research and is at the heart of a longstanding academic debate on market efficiency. Although the following discussion does not follow the chronology of these studies, this perspective is also instructive. For a chronological presentation, references such as Sewell (2011) and Ramiah et al. (2015) can be considered.

Fama (1970) defines an efficient financial market as one in which asset prices always fully reflect the available information. More specifically, his definition of an efficient market involves active competition among many profit-maximizing and rational agents, each attempting to predict the future market values of individual securities using almost freely available information. Investor rationality means that securities are valued on the basis of their fundamental value, i.e. according to the net present value of future cash flows, which are discounted on a risk-adjusted basis (Shleifer, 2000). Competition among the many participants means that the actual prices of individual securities at any given time already incorporate the effects of both past and anticipated events. Due to uncertainty, it is not possible to precisely determine the intrinsic value of a security. Consequently, market participants may have different expectations about the future performance of a security, potentially leading to discrepancies between the actual price and the intrinsic value. If these discrepancies are systematic, competition will eventually neutralize them. Therefore, in an efficient market, the current price serves as the best estimate of the intrinsic value of a security. Fama (1965a,b) further deduces that successive price adjustments occur independently of each other when (new) information is immediately incorporated into market participants' expectations of intrinsic value. This reasoning underpins the random walk hypothesis, which states that stock returns are unpredictable based on past returns, at least in the short run (Samuelson, 1965; Mandelbrot, 1966).

However, the EMH holds even without the strict assumption of investor rationality. In many scenarios, markets are efficient even if not all investors are fully rational. For example, if irrational investors trade randomly and their trading strategies are uncorrelated, they are likely to cancel each other out and prices remain close to their fundamental values. The assumption of uncorrelated strategies is, however, very restrictive (Shleifer, 2000). Yet, as Friedman (1953) and Fama (1965b) show, the EMH also holds against the trading strategies of irrational investors being correlated due to arbitrage, provided that the securities have close substitutes. Arbitrage is defined as "the simultaneous purchase and sale of the same, or essentially similar, security in two different markets at advantageously different prices" (Sharpe et al., 1999). Suppose an asset is overvalued in the market relative to its fundamental value due to correlated purchases by irrational investors. Arbitrageurs would then sell the asset, or even short-sell it, while simultaneously buying other 'essentially equivalent' assets to hedge their risk. If suitable substitutes, i.e., 'essentially equivalent' assets, are available and tradable, arbitrageurs can thus make risk-less profits. By selling the asset, the price approaches the fundamental value again. If arbitrage works quickly and effectively due to the availability of substitute assets and arbitrageurs compete with each other for profits, the price of an asset can never stray far from its fundamental value. The same applies to an undervalued asset. However, the prerequisite for both scenarios is the availability of suitable substitutes (Shleifer, 2000).

Moreover, irrational investors who purchase overpriced assets generate lower returns than passive investors and arbitrageurs. Therefore, Friedman (1953) points out that irrational traders will lose money and become less wealthy until they eventually disappear from the market. If arbitrage does not immediately neutralize the influence of irrational investors, their wealth diminishes due to market forces. Hence, market efficiency can persist due to arbitrage and competitive selection (Shleifer, 2000).

### 1.1.2. Empirical Base of EMH

The theoretical arguments in favor of the EMH were accompanied by empirical studies that sought to test the predictions of the EMH. Shleifer (2000) divides these empirical predictions into two broad categories. First, asset prices should react quickly and correctly when new information about the value of an asset becomes available (Ramiah et al., 2015). This implies that those who perceive the information late should not be able to benefit from it. Correctness means that price adjustments in response to the news should, on average, be appropriate, i.e. neither too large nor too small as a result of overreaction or underreaction. This excludes, e.g., that neither trends nor price reversals take place after a novelty has initially been reflected in the price. The second key prediction is that prices should not react in the absence of new information. Both imply that stale information has no value or is not useful for making money, as Fama (1970) points out.

However, the empirical verification of this statement requires a concretisation of what is meant by 'making money' and 'stale information'. In the financial context, making money means generating a superior return taking into account the risk incurred. Generating a positive cash flow on average exploiting 'stale information' is therefore not evidence for market inefficiency. Instead, risk must be taken in order to achieve a return and the profit realized could be fair market compensation for the corresponding risk-taking. However, the problem with answering the question of whether it is fair compensation is that measuring the risk of a particular investment (strategy) is difficult and a model of the relationship between risk and return is needed (Shleifer, 2000). Various models exist for this purpose, such as the dividend discount model (DDM) proposed by Gordon (1962), which measures the intrinsic value of a company based on its underlying dividends. The capital asset pricing model (CAPM) by Sharpe (1964), Lintner (1965) and Mossin (1966) is an equilibrium model that focuses on the company-specific risk (beta) and the market risk premium as an indicator of the expected return on an investment. The three-factor model proposed by Fama and French (1992, 1996a,b) supplements the systematic risk factor beta in the CAPM with the factors size and book-to-market ratio. The insight by Fama (1970), that most tests of market efficiency depend on a specific risk-return model, has significantly shaped the debate.

Defining what is meant by 'stale information' leads Fama (1970) to distinguish three types of 'stale information', and thus three degrees of market efficiency. The weak form of market efficiency exists when information consists of historical prices. Under the assumption of risk neutrality, this form of market efficiency corresponds to the random walk hypothesis. In the semi-strong form of EMH, information corresponds to all publicly available information. In the strong form of information efficiency, it is not even possible to achieve superior profits based on insider information, i.e., information that is not known to every market participant. Most of the empirical evidence has focused on the weak and semi-strong forms of efficiency, as the strong form of market efficiency may not be an accurate description of reality (Fama, 1970). Studies testing the weak form of efficiency largely draw on the random walk literature, indicating that stock prices can indeed be approximated by random walks (Fama, 1965a, 1970). The tests of semi-strong market efficiency aim to examine the adjustment of stock prices to specific news events, such as announcements of annual earnings (Ball and Brown, 1968), stock splits (Fama et al., 1969), discount rate changes (Waud, 1970), or takeover bids (Keown and Pinkerton, 1981). The results of these so-called event studies are consistent with the semi-strong form of market efficiency. Thus, the empirical evidence on weak and semi-strong market efficiency has been largely confirmatory. The same is true for the second prediction of the EMH that prices do not react in the absence of new information. Scholes (1972) employs the event study methodology to examine how stock prices react to the announcement of large investors selling a significant amount of a security. Arbitrage along efficient markets would imply that no significant price changes occur because an investor's sale does not affect the fundamental value of the underlying stock. The author argues that security prices are set relative to each other, as the expected returns of assets with the same risk profile are equal. This means that the supply of stocks does not influence the price, or only very briefly, as price differences due to block sales/purchases are swiftly arbitraged away. He refers to this mechanism, where mere changes in demand for a stock should have only a minimal effect on the price, as the substitution hypothesis. If arbitrage is necessary for market efficiency, then individual securities must have close substitutes for arbitrage to work. Scholes findings indicate relatively small price reactions to block sales, which are explained by the fact that a large sale itself constitutes implicit information. Thus, this finding is consistent with his substitutions hypothesis and, consequently, the second implication of the EMH, that prices do not react to non-information (Shleifer, 2000).

After numerous empirical studies provided evidence in favor of market efficiency and rejected opportunities for earning abnormal returns by attributing them to unaccounted risks, both theoretical and empirical arguments challenging the EMH began to accumulate. Al-

though these arguments were initially empirical in nature, similar to Shleifer (2000), for the sake of simplicity, the theoretical problems will be presented first.

### 1.1.3. Theoretical challenges to the EMH

First, investors are not fully rational. In the economic literature, this insight is associated with the concept of bounded rationality. This concept is used to describe human decision making characterized by cognitive and informational limitations (Simon, 1955; Conlisk, 1996). In relation to the financial market, Black (1986) explains that many investors react to irrelevant information that does not indicate changes in the actual value of an asset. He refers to this non-information, and the market movements that result from trading on it, as noise. In short, uninformed market participants too rarely follow passive investment strategies, which they would be expected to do according to the EMH, and instead invest actively in individual stocks, e.g., and are not sufficiently diversified (Shleifer, 2000).

Moreover, the deviations from rationality turn out to be widespread and systematic, as explained in numerous articles (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974; Kahneman and Riepe, 1998; Barberis and Thaler, 2003; Baker and Ricciardi, 2014). The following selection of behavioral biases is based on the classification of Barberis and Thaler (2003) of psychological insights into the human decision-making process that are particularly relevant to financial economics. The categorization considers biases that arise when investors form beliefs on the one hand and influence preferences on the other. In relation to belief formation, the following elements are briefly discussed: overconfidence, optimism and wishful thinking, representativeness, conservatism, belief perseverance, anchoring and availability biases. When forming their expectations, investors suffer from overconfidence and tend to overestimate their abilities and information (Ricciardi, 2008). From a practical point of view, this bias explains excessive trading and low returns, as well as the mistake of not diversifying sufficiently (Baker and Ricciardi, 2014). Another similar bias is that formed expectations tend to be optimistically skewed. For instance, optimists overestimate their talents, underestimate the probabilities of adverse events over which they have no control, and are prone to an illusion of control, where the influence of chance is underestimated. The combination of optimism and overconfidence leads people to underestimate risks, overestimate their knowledge, and overestimate their control over events (Kahneman and Riepe, 1998). Representativeness is a heuristic in which intuitive predictions are made based on the outcome that appears most representative or similar to known outcomes. Ricciardi (2008) defines heuristics as: "simple and general rules a person employs to solve a specific category of problems under conditions that involve a high degree of risk-taking behavior and uncertainty." This heuristic disrupts the logic of statistical prediction and leads to the neglect of relevant information in the decision-making process (Kahneman and Tversky, 1973; Tversky and Kahneman, 1974; Ricciardi, 2008). The conservatism bias refers to the tendency for beliefs to be updated in an orderly and proportional manner according to true updated figures based on Bayes' theorem, but not to a sufficient extent when new information becomes available. In the financial context, this leads to underreaction to corporate events, such as earnings announcements (Edwards, 1982; Hirshleifer, 2015). Belief perseverance refers to the persistence in maintaining a belief even when new, contradictory information becomes available. This occurs partly because individuals are inherently reluctant to seek out contradictory information and partly because they approach perceived contradictory information with considerable skepticism. A provocative example of belief perseverance in the financial market would be the maintenance of belief in the EMH even after evidence to the contrary has been presented. When this effect is even more pronounced, with contradictory information being misinterpreted to support false beliefs, it is referred to as confirmation bias (Lord et al., 1979; Barberis and Thaler, 2003). Anchoring, on the other hand, refers to the phenomenon whereby individuals' estimates are influenced by an initial reference point or anchor. When making estimates, individuals often start from an initial value, which they then adjust to arrive at a final estimate. However, different initial values lead to different estimates, indicating that the estimates are biased towards the initial values and are insufficiently adjusted (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974). The availability bias is a heuristic whereby events are evaluated based on immediate examples that come to mind and are readily available. This can lead to distortions, as not all memories are equally retrievable, and more recent events are perceived as more likely (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974; Barberis and Thaler, 2003).

The second psychological pillar concerns investor preferences, which are a crucial assumption in many economic and financial models. A typical assumption is that investors make decisions under uncertainty according to the expected utility framework. The theoretical motivation for this dates back to von Neumann (2007), which was first published in 1944. According to this framework, preferences are rational and can be represented by the expectation of a utility function if the axioms of completeness, transitivity, continuity, and independence are satisfied. However, experimental studies show that people systematically violate the expected utility theory in their decisions. A successful alternative explanatory approach that reflects these experimental findings is the 'Prospect Theory'. This approach is not a normative theory but rather aims to represent people's attitudes as simply as possible (Barberis and Thaler, 2003). According to this theory, investors evaluate outcomes relative to a reference point, which is often the status quo, and gains and losses are assessed relative to this point. Another characteristic is loss aversion, where losses are felt more intensely than gains of the same magnitude. In terms of probability weighting, people tend to weight probabilities non-linearly, resulting in the tendency to overestimate small probabilities and underestimate large ones. This results in an S-shaped value function, which is concave (diminishing marginal utility) for gains and convex (increasing marginal disutility) for losses (Kahneman and Tversky, 1979; Odean, 1998). As another example, ambiguity aversion refers to the inconsistency of preferences, where known risks are preferred to unknown risks (Ellsberg, 1961; Barberis and Thaler, 2003). There are many examples of investors behaving differently from what is expected by normative economic models. When decisions are based on heuristics rather than Bayesian rationality, this behavior is often referred to as 'investor sentiment', 'unsophisticated' or 'noise' (Black, 1986; Shleifer, 2000).

The list of behavioral biases clearly shows that deviations from the maxim of economic rationality are very likely to be systematic rather than random and therefore do not cancel each other out. This is exacerbated by the phenomenon of herding behavior, whereby investors, as social beings, tend to imitate each other and make similar buy or sell decisions as their peers (Nofsinger and Sias, 1999; Spyrou, 2013). This applies not only to retail investors, but also to professional investors. As human beings, they are themselves subject to these biases. Moreover, in the management of third-party funds, their role as agents and the associated delegation introduce further distortions that are likely to lead to deviations from rationality (Scharfstein and Stein, 1990; Lakonishok et al., 1992).

Given that investors are neither fully rational nor able to offset their irrational trading decisions due to the high systematic nature of human biases, the theoretical validity of the EMH depends on the effectiveness of arbitrage. However, one central argument of behavioral finance is that arbitrage is risky and thus limited. This is partly because 'essentially equivalent' assets, or close substitutes, are not always available. For derivative assets, this is typically not a problem. However, arbitrage does not work, for example, when the price levels of stocks or bonds are generally too high, as there are no substitute portfolios for these broad classes of securities. Regarding an overall overvaluation of stocks as a class, for instance, the arbitrageur could at most sell stocks or reduce exposure. However, this type of arbitrage is no longer risk-free due to the high positive average returns of stocks. If the arbitrageur is risk-averse, their interest in engaging in such arbitrage will be low (Shleifer, 2000). Even if individual securities have better substitutes, there is a deterrent fundamental risk because the substitutes are not necessarily perfect. For an arbitrageur, there is the risk that unexpectedly positive news will emerge about a security he has shorted, or conversely that unexpectedly negative news will emerge about a long position. Arbitrage with imperfect substitutes is therefore risky, which is why it is called 'risk arbitrage'. Even if a security has a perfect substitute, there is another significant source of risk. This arises from the possibility that irrational traders can drive prices further away from their fundamental value. Even if an arbitrageur identifies a mispricing and takes a position, the behavior of noise traders can exacerbate the mispricing and increase the arbitrageur's losses (de Long et al., 1990). If arbitrageurs are unable to maintain positions due to rising losses, arbitrage is also limited for this reason. In addition, the capital tied up in these positions, especially over longer periods, incurs opportunity costs. Consequently, the arbitrage-based theoretical argument for the EMH is also limited, even when close substitutes exist (Shleifer, 2000; Gromb and Vayanos, 2010).

By contrasting the theoretical arguments for market efficiency, it becomes clear that theory does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that markets are efficient. Empirical challenges are considered below to complete the picture.

#### 1.1.4. Empirical challenges to the EMH

An early important empirical challenge is the excess volatility puzzle, discovered by Shiller (1981, 1997) and LeRoy and Porter (1981). Puzzles refer to problems where empirical observations do not match theoretical predictions (Sornette, 2014). This puzzle, related to stock market volatility, basically concerns the fact that stock price volatility is too high to be explained solely by the arrival of new information about future dividends. The study is based on a simple model in which prices correspond to the expected net present value of future dividends. The result has been interpreted by some as indicating that price changes occur without any fundamental justification, but rather due to sunspots or mass psychology (Shiller, 2003). This led to much criticism, suggesting that the fundamental value was misspecified, for example due to a constant discount rate (Merton, 1987; Shiller, 2003). Nevertheless, this finding was a catalyst for further criticism of the EMH. The weak form of market efficiency was challenged by, among others, the work of De Bondt and Thaler (1985). They constructed portfolios of past winners and losers and showed that past losers had higher subsequent returns over the following 1-36 months, which could not be explained by higher risk. One possible explanation is that investors extrapolate good and bad news, leading to an over- or undervaluation of stocks. Since the portfolios were constructed solely based on stale information, this calls into question the weak form of the EMH. The tendency of securities to continue their past price movements in the short term is known as momentum and has also been identified as a significant predictor (Jegadeesh and Titman, 1993). Even Fama (1991) admits that stock returns are predictable based on past returns, contrary to the conclusions of earlier studies. Subsequently, other variables have been identified that predict future returns and challenge the semi-strong form of market efficiency, such as the marketto-book ratio. This variable measures the ratio of the market value of a company's equity to its book value, with high values attributed to highly valued growth companies and low values attributed to cheaply valued companies. High values could result from the extrapolation of past good news, i.e. overreactions. Consistent with this, De Bondt and Thaler (1987); Fama and French (1992); Lakonishok et al. (1994) find that portfolios with high book-to-market ratios have generated lower returns than portfolios with lower ratios. In addition, higher ratios are associated with higher market risk (Lakonishok et al., 1994). Fama and French (1993, 1996a), however, interpret both market capitalization, i.e. the size of a company, and the book-to-market ratio as measures of fundamental risk and include these two variables as factors in the so-called three-factor model. This model posits that stocks of smaller firms or those with low market-to-book ratios are inherently riskier, as reflected in their sensitivity to size and market-to-book factors, and should therefore offer higher average returns. On the other hand, larger stocks are considered safer and thus yield lower returns. Similarly, growth stocks with high market-to-book ratios provide lower average returns because they act as hedges against market-to-book risk. The higher returns of smaller firms and lower book-to-market ratios are interpreted by Fama and French as proxies for compensated 'distress risk'. However, this interpretation is sharply criticized by Shleifer (2000), primarily due to the lack of evidence supporting its validity.

Finally, there is also empirical evidence challenging the notion that prices do not react to non-information. These findings are largely consistent with the evidence on the excess volatility of stock returns. For example, Roll (1984) examined the impact of weather news on orange futures prices and found that while there was a correlation, the variance explained by weather was too small, despite his argument that weather was the main driver. In a second study, Roll (1988) extended this idea to individual stocks and found that the variance in returns explained by aggregate economic influences, returns of other companies in the same industry and firm-specific news events was very low. The conclusion of both studies is that shocks other than news appear to move stock prices. Another phenomenon mentioned by Shleifer (2000) is the inclusion of companies in the S&P 500 Index during recomposition, as these events trigger uninformed demand shifts in the affected stocks that are not neutralized by arbitrage.

Both Shleifer (2000) and Barberis and Thaler (2003) summarize that investor sentiment and limited arbitrage are the two pillars of behavioral finance. In his review of the research, Shiller (2003) points out that while the price movements of individual stocks can indeed be explained by fundamentals, the aggregate market is less easily accounted for. Thus, market efficiency should not be expected to be so fundamentally flawed that continuous profits can be made by exploiting inefficiencies. However, insisting on market efficiency can lead to misjudging events such as speculative bubbles. Therefore, the weaknesses of the EMH should always be taken into account, especially when conducting research. Theoretical models such as the EMH have their validity as descriptions of an ideal world, but they have limitations in accurately describing real markets in their pure form. Shiller (2003) therefore suggests an eclectic approach.

### 1.2. Contribution within a Framework of Behavioral Finance Research

After elucidating the fundamental theoretical and empirical concepts of behavioral finance, it is pertinent to examine the further development and differentiation of this research field. The following discussion will therefore focus on the recent contributions and trends in the behavioral finance literature, which have further deepened the understanding and application of these theories.

Following the publication of numerous studies on human biases and empirical findings on anomalies from the 1970s to the 1990s, as outlined above, the literature has become increasingly integrated and more widely accepted in subsequent years. This is due to the relevance of the scientific contributions and also to notable recognition, such as the Nobel Prizes awarded to Daniel Kahneman in 2002 (The Nobel Prize, 2002) and Richard H. Thaler in 2017 (The Nobel Prize, 2017). The insights from these studies have not only influenced financial market theories (Barberis and Thaler, 2003), but are also of significant relevance in several other fields such as public economics (Thaler and Sunstein, 2009), health economics (Frank, 2004; Rice, 2013), labor economics (Fehr and Falk, 2002), consumer economics (Thaler, 1980), environmental economics (Allcott, 2011), education (Bettinger and Slonim, 2007) and development economics (Banerjee and Duflo, 2011). This increasingly interdisciplinary orientation is also evident in the financial context, specifically through approaches in neuroscience (Lo and Repin, 2002), sociology (Shiller, 2015), and physics (Sornette, 2014). The integration and application of physical approaches to modeling economic relationships are referred to in the literature as econophysics (Chakraborti et al., 2011a,b). Three of the contributions in this dissertation fall within this area of research.

This cumulative thesis consists of four projects. The first three papers address an overarching project that focuses on modeling economic phenomena using approaches from statistical physics. Traditional economic theory posits that individual agents, such as investors, make rational and autonomous decisions in the capital market. However, as seen above, increasing recognition of agent imperfections has significantly influenced economic research, leading to analyses of behavioral economic factors like imitation effects (Bouchaud, 2013). Herding behavior, a related phenomenon, can arise from imitation or more broadly from interactions between different agents, and may instigate or accompany major risk events (Bekiros et al., 2017). Within this context, the field of econophysics has gained prominence by applying models from statistical physics to socioeconomic phenomena, as these models are particularly adept at capturing interaction effects among system agents (Sornette, 2014). The Ising model (Ising, 1925) is a standard model in this context, particularly due to its simplicity in representing the interaction between disorder-enhancing private information and order-enhancing social imitation (Sornette, 2014). The core objective of this overarching project is the application of an improved version of the Ising model to the capital market, where the physical model parameters and variables need to be appropriately matched to corresponding capital market metrics. In addition, the model is empirically calibrated using econometric methods and ultimately used for forecasting. The aim is to make both a theoretical and, more importantly, a practical contribution. As the physical model is essentially composed of two components, the endeavor is divided into the first two research projects to ensure a thorough treatment of each component.

The first study focuses on the model component where agents or investors react to new information independently, i.e., without interacting with each other. Since the overarching goal of the study is calibration, that is, the empirical identification of parameters with capital market data, a special situation in the capital market must be identified, through which the corresponding parameters can be measured using measurement equations. This approach is similar to the methodology of physical experiments, where special experimental setups are designed to measure the relationships of interest. Unlike in physics, it is not possible to construct experiments in the context of capital markets. Instead, specific time periods that embody the desired effects must be analyzed. These cut-out experiments then allow the parameters in question to be measured. The so-called cut-out experiment in this study models the impact of sudden risk events or price jumps resulting from fundamental news. Additionally, the underlying Ising model is extended to include a third state, allowing investors to buy, sell, and hold stocks, thus better replicating the decision-making situation of real investors. The central contribution is to show how the top-down model is empirically calibrated and how this calibration is implemented. Moreover, its practical utility is demonstrated with a forecast. While not calibrating a bottom-up model (classic agent-based models), the study might contribute to the literature on model calibration, as the identified parameters might be transferred to bottom-up approaches.

The second study focuses on the model dynamics arising from interactions between agents, or investors in the capital market context. The three-state model is also used here, and it is shown how the remaining model parameters can be calibrated on an empirical basis. The empirical calibration is implemented using econometric methods. With the fully calibrated model, it can be demonstrated how short-term herding behavior can emerge during phase transitions of external state variables such as price volatility in the capital market. The model phenomenology is shown and discussed in detail through simulations. This analysis provides the insight that applying binary models to situations with three decision alternatives can result in biased predictions.

The third project differs from the methodological contributions of the first two projects, but is linked to the context of econophysical modeling and provides a theoretical contribution in terms of the transfer of variables from statistical physics to economics and financial markets. The identified analogy between the state variable temperature in spin systems and volatility in the capital market is often assumed to be proportional or is subject to ambiguity. However, a common understanding of the meaning and possible measurability of the variables is important, otherwise the practical applicability of the model is at risk. In the context of the first two papers, this third project, which can also be classified as basic theoretical research, thus ensures the interpretation and measurability of a central state variable, so that the parameterisation of the overall model gains in validity. In this project, this proportionality is derived theoretically and algebraically. The result is a derived measurement equation that can be used for empirical applications. In short, papers one to three can be seen as basic theoretical research focusing on the calibration and parameter identification of models describing reactions to news (agent-field) and individual imitation (agent-agent) in the capital market context.

The fourth study thematically builds upon the first three projects by investigating herding behavior as a driver for speculative bubbles. Anomalies such as speculative bubbles have the potential to cause significant economic damage, making it crucial to understand the factors leading to such phenomena from both a theoretical and practical perspective. Building on the few existing empirical studies investigating the driving factors of bubbles, the fourth study focuses on herding behavior as a potential driving factor, which is hypothesized by theory. However, this contribution methodologically distinguishes itself from the previous studies as it exclusively employs economic and econometric methods and features methodological objectivity in the empirical analysis by combining two established methods for calculating the input variables in different regression specifications.



Figure 2: Structure of the thesis.

Contrary to the theoretical expectation that herding behavior contributes to the formation of bubbles, the results indicate the opposite: the probability of bubbles occurring decreases when herding behavior occurs in the market. However, when overreactions occur in subsets of the overall market, the probability of bubbles increases. This insight has important implications for market surveillance in the context of potential market crashes and crises following bubbles.

Figure 2 presents the structure of the thesis. The studies of the dissertation can be methodologically classified using a framework for systematizing current behavioral finance research. This framework, and the categorization of the individual contributions within it, also makes the overall contribution of the thesis more tangible. The framework developed by Sharma and Kumar (2019), shown in Figure 3, is based on two main areas: human psychological studies, which examine how psychological biases affect investors, and empirical studies, which focus on the role of investor behavior in market phenomena. Specifically, the empirical studies emphasize market anomalies, excessive and asymmetric volatility, the role of sentiment, the limits of arbitrage, and studies that integrate sentiment into a behavioral asset pricing model. Furthermore, as a future direction for the literature, the integration of these two categories is proposed, where primary and secondary data are combined.

Within this framework, all four papers in this dissertation can be classified as empirical studies that focus on the influence of investor behaviour on the capital market at different levels of abstraction. While investor biases are implicitly considered in this analysis, they are not explicitly addressed or foregrounded. Instead, what is of interest here are the patterns that emerge in the aggregate, allowing for possible inferences and explanations of market anomalies. The investor sentiment expressed therein (e.g. in the form of herd behavior) is a potential driver of price distortions, as introduced in Section 1.1. Addressing price distortions also entails studying the consequences of limited arbitrage, without explicitly foregrounding it. Thus, the two core elements of behavioral finance are implicitly addressed within the scope of this dissertation.

In terms of the contribution of the studies to the discussion of market efficiency, the econophysics studies clearly focus on modeling interactions and possibly subsequent herding behavior. Although herding behavior can be rational, in the sense of imitating better informed market participants, it is still classified as a potentially irrational phenomenon (Avery and Zemsky, 1998; Litimi et al., 2016). Thus, this modeling approach addresses the softened assumption of rationality among market participants, one pillar of behavioral finance (see above). Moreover, herding behavior is a theoretically possible driver of capital market prices can deviate from their intrinsic values due to successive trading decisions by different investors, e.g. due to groupthink reinforced by the increasing interconnectedness of the internet

(Olsen, 2011), or due to direct imitation of the same trading decisions (see later chapters). The three econophysics studies do not directly address this form of anomaly but demonstrate at a micro-level how herding behavior can emerge and be modeled in the market. The issue of speculative bubbles as an anomaly and potential consequence of herding behavior is explored in the fourth paper. The central analysis focuses on the theoretically assumed connection that herding behavior drives bubbles. Thus, in an abstract sense, the dissertation addresses market (in)efficiency at the level of anomalies and attempts to find explanations for them (cf. Figure 3).



**Figure 3:** Original illustration of the behavioral finance research framework based on Sharma and Kumar (2019).

## 2. Ideal Agent System with Triplet States: Model Parameter Identification of Agent-Field Interaction

### 2.1. Abstract

On the capital market, price movements of stock corporations can be observed independent of overall market developments as a result of company-specific news, which suggests the occurrence of a sudden risk event. In recent years, numerous concepts from statistical physics have been transferred to econometrics to model these effects and other issues, e.g., in socioeconomics. Like other studies, we extend the approaches based on the "buy" and "sell" positions of agents (investors' stance) with a third "hold" position. We develop the corresponding theory within the framework of the microcanonical and canonical ensembles for an ideal agent system and apply it to a capital market example. We thereby design a procedure to estimate the required model parameters from time series on the capital market. The aim is the appropriate modeling and the one-step-ahead assessment of the effect of a sudden risk event. From a one-step-ahead performance comparison with selected benchmark approaches, we infer that the model is well-specified and the model parameters are well determined.

**Keywords:** Agent System, Canonical Ensemble, Entropy, Partition Function, Risk Assessment, Utility Function

JEL Classification: C10, C46, C51

### 2.2. Introduction

Investors in individual stocks are sometimes confronted with sudden risk events that can occur due to individual company information. In addition to leaked company-internal information or (ad hoc) mandatory stock market announcements, the price-moving news can also appear in the form of unanticipated scientific publications. A current example of the latter is the shares of the pharmaceutical company BioNTech SE (ISIN US09075V1026). Political decisions, scientific studies on the vaccine produced, news about novel SARS-CoV-2 variants, and ad hoc statements from management make the price suddenly rise or fall, depending on the intensity and content of the new information.

In the phase after the information has been disseminated, the prices of the securities concerned show a dynamic that is largely decoupled from the overall market. The question arises whether such dynamics can be modeled appropriately and whether the risk event, which is a strong price movement or price jump (Föllmer, 1974; Cont and Tankov, 2004), can be assessed one step ahead. From a practical perspective, these assessments allow statements to be made about the price development depending on news that might occur. In this way, risk events can be hedged ex ante.

The main focus of this study is on the empirical calibration of a top-down Ising-based model for sudden risk events using the BioNTech SE share as an example. On the other hand, there are bottom-up agent-based model approaches that also face the unsolved problem of appropriate empirical parameter calibration (Sornette, 2014). When these models are applied and tested on real data, empirical calibration, and validation is an issue that is widely discussed in the literature on agent-based models (Werker and Brenner, 2004; LeBaron, 2006; Windrum et al., 2007; Fagiolo et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2012; Iori and Porter, 2012; Fagiolo et al., 2019). In particular, there is a need to explore how the models can be used in capital market applications, given the difficulty of empirically calibrating the models or properly choosing values for the parameters (Sornette, 2014). Although we cannot solve the problem in a generalized way, we contribute by showing how to empirically measure the model parameters of a top-down three-state model so that it can be used in practical applications. We show not only that it is possible to parameterize such a model, but also how to do so, and that it has practical utility in the application of forecasting. Thereby, we might help build the bridge between both approaches because some of the identified parameter values could possibly be used in bottom-up approaches. In addition, we develop the basic design for a forecasting procedure and compare its performance to selected benchmark approaches.

The approaches from the field of statistical physics, which in recent years have increasingly found their way into research in econometrics, appear to be a suitable framework for modeling such problems of abrupt price movements and the corresponding risk. These observations in econometrics are reminiscent of phase transitions in dynamical systems due to changing external variables. In physics, similar processes have been studied extensively and successfully in theory and practice since the early 19th century (Isihara, 1971; Landau and Lifšic, 1980; Greiner et al., 1995; Kardar, 2007), e.g., spontaneous magnetization of matter. The statistical description of agent systems in econometrics as an image of a many-body system considered in statistical physics has experienced a significant boom in recent years and emerged as a separate strand of literature that can be traced back to the "Sociodynamics" research by (Weidlich, 1971) and somewhat later to the "Sociophysics" framework of (Galam et al., 1982), among other contributions. For an overview of the econophysics literature, see, e.g., Chakraborti et al. (2011a,b); Bouchaud (2013); Sornette (2014); Schinckus (2016, 2018); Kutner et al. (2019).

The further developed methods in econometrics have been applied to a wide range of problems and particularly targeted the effects of human interaction: decision-making, voting behavior, capital market developments, etc. See, for example Kaizoji (2000), who modeled the tendency of investors to be influenced by the investment attitude of other traders, which led to regimes of bubbles and crashes. Michard and Bouchaud (2005) found imitations in three different data sources: birth rates, sales of cell phones, and the decline of applause in concert halls. Sornette and Zhou (2006) study a model in which interaction terms are reassessed continuously in time as investors are able to learn from past experiences. Borghesi and Bouchaud (2007) proposed a generic model for multiple-choice situations in the presence of herding and compared it with data from a music market experiment. Oh and Jeon (2007) studied membership dynamics in the open source software community with a spin model. Vikram and Sinha (2011) studied a model in which interaction dynamics are mediated by asset prices as a global variable accessible to every agent. Krause and Bornholdt (2012) studied the process of investors' opinion formation, and (Bouchaud, 2013) reviewed recent studies on decision models. Zhang et al. (2015) studied the volatility of financial time series with an Ising system, and Crescimanna and Di Persio (2016) proposed a variation of the Ising model to study the characteristics of stock markets. Fernandez et al. (2016) studied a three-state model and attempted to understand how social processes such as cooperation or organization happen (this list is not intended to be complete). Furthermore, in Appendix 2.6, the correspondence table (Table 5) can be used to trace in detail which sources guided us in transferring the variables from physics to econometrics.

Depending on the application in physics, various thermodynamic potentials are defined in statistical physics on the basis of partition functions, and all thermodynamic relations are derived from the latter. The different thermodynamic potentials are linked to one another via Legendre transformations, and the value of all partition functions are determined by eigenvalues of a defined functional  $\mathcal{H}$  (*phys.*: Hamiltonian), i.e., the microscopic structure of the system under consideration. Hence, the various alternatives for the description of the state of the system under consideration are linked to one another. Statements that are derived in one model frame must be consistently reflected in the other frames.

In econometrics, the canonical partition function Z and the free energy F – as the associated thermodynamic potential - are usually considered for agent systems with binary decisions: "buy" or "sell"; "follow" or "not follow"; and "elect" or "not elect" (phys.: Two-State Spin-Systems) cf. Foley (1999); Marsili (1999); Bouchaud (2013) and the vast literature cited therein. Applied to the stock market, this model approach describes the macroscopic behavior of a system of N agents (investors) who, through their binary decisions to "sell" or "buy" a stock, influence the price of the stock, accounting for the overall market and a flow of information. If instead a particular share and the acting agents are viewed as an isolated, closed system, decoupled from the overall market, then the microcanonical partition function  $\Omega$  has to be evaluated, and the associated thermodynamic potential is the entropy S of the system. In what follows, we add the latter consideration to the existing stream of literature in econometrics. In addition, we tie in with existing approaches that extend the two states "buy" and "sell" with a third state "hold", such as Iori (1999); Cont and Bouchaud (2000); Takaishi (2005); Sato (2007); Vikram and Sinha (2011); Takaishi (2013) among others. The analysis of the microcanonical partition function then better reflects reality and allows for a deeper insight into the underlying dynamics, the derivation of further parameters for the description and classification of risks, and a suitable interpretation of the functional  $\mathcal{H}$ .

It is often discussed that  $\mathcal{H}$  is related to the utility function U known in economics (Marsili, 1999; Foley, 1999; Bouchaud, 2013). However, the following question arises: which utility for whom? One possible interpretation is to understand the utility from the perspective of a market observer (market analyst, researcher, investor) and to measure it in monetary units. The task of the market observer is then to describe the state of the market and to assess the effects of new information: for example, with the aim of determining the parameters of a predictive model and assessing the potential risk.

We specifically consider the ideal case in which new information reaches all agents simultaneously and instantly in a very short time, and, thus, possible risk events suddenly occur. Interactions between the agents play a subordinate role, and the system is therefore regarded as an ideal agent system. This approach allows the basic model parameters to be determined through empirical analysis. If the empirical setup is appropriate, the model parameters are determined largely free of other disruptive influences. The calculated, basic model parameters remain the same in all extended model concepts within statistical physics such that they can serve as a starting point for further, more complex models; see, e.g., Foley (1999); Marsili (1999); Anderson et al. (2001); Bouchaud (2009, 2013) for an overview.
The most important extension in such models is the additional consideration of coupled investor behaviors. Such dynamics components superpose on the ideal agent system studied here and complicate the simultaneous determination of all model parameters. The essential approach to determine the parameters appropriately is to choose special market phases in which one part of the dynamics dominates. In this paper, we focus on the part of the dynamics describing investor behavior depending on the news environment. Thus, appropriate market phases are sought to determine the model parameters of this part of the dynamics.

The examination of the procedure, and how one obtains the parameters, especially in the case of financial market problems, is not yet widespread in the literature. Experimental physicists design an experiment, conceive the experimental setup, and measure the temporal behavior of quantities of interest to determine the parameters of a theoretical model and investigate physical properties. This is more difficult to realize in econometrics. In capital market models, partial event sets can be split off from a large number of past events, described by, e.g., price developments and general conditions, which can be assigned to the phenomenon to be examined.

Therefore, in our contribution, on the one hand, we adhere to the extension of proven models by introducing the "hold" position, i.e., investors' stance to do nothing or not to change an existing equity exposure, and on the other hand, we focus on the design of the method for determining the model parameters, define the experimental setup and illustrate the method using empirical examples. For the case of an ideal agent system, we propose a way to identify this partial event set and how to determine the model parameters based on it. In addition, we show how the estimated parameters can be used to set up a one-step-ahead forecast model to assess abrupt risk events. The news field flows into the model as an external state variable and shares both technical and economic proximity to sentiment in finance literature. Sentiment is used in behavioral finance to predict asset prices (Sun et al., 2016; Gao and Yang, 2017; Renault, 2017; Pan, 2020). Therefore, with our approach, we also show an innovative method to use the sentiment scores generated from text analysis for prediction. We apply the forecast and show its performance compared to selected benchmark approaches and deduce that the model is well-specified and the model parameters well-determined. Furthermore, the ideal agent system is included as a basic model in all known model extensions. Thus, the model parameters play a fundamental role in all extensions. In this respect, our contribution in the economic context can be viewed as fundamental research on which further analysis can be built.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows: Section 2.3 outlines the theoretical model and defines risk indicators to describe immanent risks. In Section 2.4, we describe the capital market data required to determine the external state variables. Using the external state

variables, we can then estimate the model parameters. The model and key risk indicators can then be used to assess sudden risk events. We formulate the idea of a one-step-ahead forecast model and show the performance of the three-state model compared to basic benchmark approaches and a two-state model. The last Section 2.5 summarizes our findings, discusses the limitations of the concept, and presents some ideas on how to extend both the model and the method for further research topics.

#### 2.3. Method

We focus on the appropriate experimental design for the empirical determination of the parameters of the thermodynamic model for describing sudden risk events in the stock market. To this end, we consider the idealized, interaction-free theoretical model in which investors react independently of one another to new information. The parameters determined in this way are fundamental and, in accordance with the internal consistency of the thermodynamic approach, remain the same even in more complex models, for example with interactions.

In the following, we use the usual notations for describing model access; cf., e.g., Bouchaud (2009, 2013). Typically, investors are referred to as agents in generalized models. We consider a system of N stocks that can be traded by a collection of agents. The model parameters are determined in Section 2.4 for a single financial asset on the basis of selected realizations in the capital market that come closest to the ideal case elaborated here. This idealization is similar to the case considered in Foley (1999, Section 6.1). Similarly, normalization also takes place here, assuming that one asset is traded by one agent. In practice, each investor will generally trade more than one stock per order. Thus, for the number of shares per trade per agent,  $M \ge 1$  holds. The normalization above is an approximation and justified if the number of all stocks, typically  $N \approx 10^8$  and higher (e.g., BioNTech:  $N \approx 2.5 \times 10^8$ ), is much larger than the individual traded position  $M \approx 10^2$ ; see also the similar discussion of Weiss domains in statistical physics (Weiss, 1907; Greiner et al., 1995).

In our transaction-based approach, each share can be bought, held, or sold. With the "hold" position, we thus expand the alternative courses of action and, overall, expand the existing model framework to include problems in the financial market. The three options "buy", "hold", and "sell" are typically called states of an agent and refer to an investor's attitude towards a stock, i.e., how he positions himself towards it, and not to the existing positions (past transactions) in his portfolio. This has the advantage that all reactions to a new piece of information are modeled, and, thus, an instantaneous trading potential can be derived for the next time step, cf. Section 2.4.4.

The three states are distinguished by the discrete variable  $s_i = (-1, 0, +1)$  for each stock i = 1, ..., N. A new message  $\mathcal{B}$  with a basic sentiment sign( $\mathcal{B}$ ) = (-1, 0, +1) – indicating "bad", "indifferent" and "good" news – and a strength  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$  affects the agents and thus

the shares and ultimately the events in the capital market. We concentrate on the effects that sudden new information  $\mathcal{B}$  triggers, which ideally is available simultaneously to all market participants, e.g., via Bloomberg L.P., Thomson Reuters Corp. or other competitors aggregating financial and legal news. The processes by which the agents interact with one another and diffusion processes, including trends and delays (Bouchaud, 2013) for the information, are not considered here and are reserved for subsequent research on model extensions.

In the model framework considered here, each agent can be assigned a parameter  $\mu_i$  that evaluates the individual change  $\epsilon_i$  of  $\mathcal{H}$  depending on the action  $s_i$  in the external information field  $\mathcal{B}$ . Depending on the application,  $\mu_i$  has different names in the literature: willingness to adopt, willingness to pay, or idiosyncratic judgment (Sornette and Zhou, 2006; Bouchaud, 2009, 2013; Crescimanna and Di Persio, 2016). In many studies,  $\mu$  is chosen to be the same for all agents. Distributions  $\rho(\mu)$  of the parameter or individual settings  $\mu_i$  are considered in special extensions and applications, e.g., in sociophysics (Foley, 1999; Marsili, 1999; Anderson et al., 2001; Castellano et al., 2009). In the ideal case considered here, we initially set the parameter  $\mu$  to be the same for all agents and thus follow the main stream of the literature. The focus of our empirical analysis of time series from the financial market in Section 2.4 is on the appropriate definition of the experimental setup and the determination of parameter  $\mu$ .

As Bouchaud (2013) notes, the decision of the individual agent depends on personal preferences, risk aversion, and framework conditions and is made given an individual utility function. In these investigations, the parameter  $\mu$  models the tendency of the binary decision for or against an investment.

For a market analyst who does not know the individual circumstances of each agent and studies the level of the overall market, another interpretation of  $\mu$  comes to mind. For the analyst, the parameter evaluates the change in utility that is inherent in a decision that conforms to the message. Consider a simple descriptive model: If the company news is bad and the agent decides to sell the stock, he or she behaves in accordance with the news, and the utility of the analyst increases if  $\mu > 0$ . The utility can thus be formulated from the perspective of the market analyst and, due to the conformity of the observation, could be interpreted as a cost reduction in the preparation of forecasts. How much the utility changes is then ascertained with the absolute value of  $\mu$ . In this interpretation,  $\mu$  can be understood as a parameter that evaluates the conversion of new information into utility for the market analyst.

If all agents are considered, the change in the overall utility U is calculated depending on a functional  $\mathcal{H}$ . This functional is pivotal in thermodynamics, where its minimum is considered for special thermodynamic systems. Therefore, when considering a maximum utility in econometrics, a change of sign must still be accounted for:  $U = -\mathcal{H}$  (Marsili, 1999). The functional  $\mathcal{H}$  can be formulated based on the individual change  $\epsilon_i$  triggered by an agent *i*:

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \epsilon_i.$$
<sup>(1)</sup>

For the individual change  $\epsilon_i$ , a new discrete variable  $S_i$  is introduced, which maps the fact that the individual agent behaves in conformity with the basic sentiment on company news, S = +1, or does not, S = -1. In the present case, we consider a triplet state system, and the position "hold" is also accounted for with S = 0, so that an indifferent investor attitude is included. The position "hold" causes a fraction  $0 < \alpha < 1$  of the individual changes of the other two positions and is always rated positively regardless of the basic sentiment of the news  $\mathcal{B}$ . For the individual changes, we set

$$\epsilon_i = -\mu B S_i + \alpha \mu B (1 - S_i^2) \tag{2}$$

with  $\mu > 0$  and  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$ . For  $S_i = +1$ , the agent conforms to the new message, e.g., "sell" in the case of "bad" company news, and  $\epsilon_i$  is negative and decreases  $\mathcal{H}$ , i.e., increases the overall utility for the analyst or similar entity trying to understand or explain the market. A nonconforming decision ("sell" on "positive" news) increases  $\mathcal{H}$  and decreases utility because the position requires explanation and involves utility-decreasing effort. The hold position consistently increases  $\mathcal{H}$ , since deviation from conformity creates tension that requires explanation. However, because the situation is not as difficult to explain as the non-conforming decision, the reduction in utility may be proportionately smaller. Therefore, we expect the value range for  $\alpha$  to be restricted between 0 and 1. The functional  $\mathcal{H}$  depends on the set  $(S_1, \ldots, S_N)$  and is simply

$$\mathcal{H}(S_1, \dots, S_N) = -\mu B \Big( \sum_{i=1}^N S_i - \alpha (1 - S_i^2) \Big)$$
$$= \mu B \Big( N_- + \alpha N_0 - N_+ \Big). \tag{3}$$

Here,  $N_+$  and  $N_-$  are the number of agents who conform and do not conform to the company messages, respectively, and  $N_0$  is the number of agents in the "hold" position. The following applies to the occupation numbers of each state  $0 \le N_-$ ,  $N_0$ ,  $N_+ \le N$  and  $N = N_- + N_0 + N_+$ .

The basic idea is to use the methods of statistical physics to derive a statistical model for the configuration  $(N_-, N_0, N_+)$  that accounts for other macroscopic variables in addition to a particular company news item and allows inferences to be made about the number of potential buyers or sellers. The latter can then be used to estimate the impact on the price *P* of a share.

#### 2.3.1. Canonical Ensemble

In the canonical ensemble, a subsystem is considered in thermal contact with an overall system. The exchange quantity in physics is the temperature *T*. In this case, one has to calculate the canonical partition function *Z*. In finance, this means that a stock and its investors are viewed as a subsystem embedded in an overall market. One strand of the literature (Crescimanna and Di Persio, 2016) assumes that in econometrics, the role of temperature can be assigned to volatility  $\sigma$ . Thus, the volatility represents the exchange quantity in finance, i.e.,  $T = \sigma$ . We share this perspective and develop this approach further in Section 2.3.2. It is customary to employ the inverse volatility (*phys.*: inverse temperature)  $\beta = \frac{1}{kT}$  in the equations with a suitably defined constant *k* (Kaizoji, 2000; Oh and Jeon, 2007; Krause and Bornholdt, 2012; Bouchaud, 2013). In Section 2.3.2, we present a suitable interpretation of *k* in finance (*phys.*: Boltzmann constant).

In statistical physics, the canonical partition function is defined as the sum over all sets  $(S_1, \ldots, S_N)$ :

$$Z(T, B, N) = \sum_{(S_1, \dots, S_N)} \exp\left(-\beta \mathcal{H}(S_1, \dots, S_N)\right).$$
(4)

In Equation (4), we have a sum over so-called Boltzmann factors to evaluate the partition function. In statistical physics, this approach leads to the Boltzmann–Gibbs distribution specifying the probabilities of discrete states (Greiner et al., 1995; Kaizoji, 2000). There is a broad discussion in choice theory about the use of this approach in finance or generally in sociophysics or econophysics (Marsili, 1999; Kaizoji, 2000; Anderson et al., 2001). The discussion in choice theory starts from the very mathematically convenient logit rule. This rule is equivalent to the abovementioned Boltzmann–Gibbs distribution, so the well-known results of statistical physics can be used (Bouchaud, 2013).

In the simple case of noninteracting agents with Hamiltonian Equation (3), in a first step Equation (4) leads to:

$$Z(T, B, N) = [Z(T, B, 1)]^{N}.$$
(5)

Thus the canonical partition function is simply connected to the partition function for one agent. The latter follows immediately for an agent that can be in three possible states given a certain company news item:

$$Z(T, B, 1) = \exp(-\beta\mu B) + \exp(-\beta\alpha\mu B) + \exp(+\beta\mu B).$$
(6)

Let  $x = \beta \mu B$ . Then, with the partition function Equation (5), the probabilities for each state

S = (-1, 0, +1) of the agent are:

$$p_{1} = \operatorname{Prob}(S = -1) = \frac{\exp(-x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)}$$

$$p_{2} = \operatorname{Prob}(S = -0) = \frac{\exp(-\alpha x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)}$$

$$p_{3} = \operatorname{Prob}(S = +1) = \frac{\exp(+x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)}$$
(7)

If we consider N stocks, Equation (7) leads to the configuration:

$$N_{-} = \frac{\exp(-x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)} N$$

$$N_{0} = \frac{\exp(-\alpha x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)} N$$

$$N_{+} = \frac{\exp(+x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)} N$$
(8)

#### 2.3.1.1 Trade Potential

With Equation (8), the average trade potential follows immediately:

$$\bar{N}_{\text{pot}} = \text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) \frac{1}{N} (N_{+} - N_{-})$$
  
= sign(\mathcal{B})  $\frac{\exp(+x) - \exp(-x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)}$  (9)

The trade potential is the balance of buyers and sellers at the respective point in time and represents the variable influencing the price. Note that if all agents sell on bad news  $\bar{N}_{pot} = -1$ , and if all agents buy on good news,  $\bar{N}_{pot} = +1$  holds. If  $\mathcal{B} = 0$  or volatility becomes infinite, the trading potential is  $\bar{N}_{pot} = 0$ . This describes the case in which the overall system has no clear direction in terms of selling or buying.

At this point, the theoretical question arises, under which conditions does the three-state system change into a two-state system? Specifically, what is the relationship between the two models? If  $x < \infty$  and it is assumed that  $\alpha \to \infty$ , then Equation (9) reduces to the well-known relation for a two-state system:  $|\bar{N}_{pot}| \propto \tanh(x)$ , cf., e.g., Greiner et al. (1995); Bouchaud (2013). This describes the case, which is not considered further here, in which the position "hold" would cause an infinitely large, negative effect related to utility. In this case, the position "hold" would not be taken. The value of  $\alpha$  is expected to be between zero and one, so this case will not occur.

Since x = 1, i.e.,  $kT = \mu B$ , marks a special point, we approximate the trade potential Equation (9) in an asymptotic expansion for large  $(T \rightarrow 0 \text{ resp. } B \rightarrow \infty)$  and a Taylor series

for small  $(T \rightarrow \infty \text{ resp. } B \rightarrow 0)$  values of *x*:

$$\bar{N}_{\text{pot}}(x) = \text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) \begin{cases} \frac{2}{3}x + \frac{2}{9}\alpha x^2 - \frac{1}{27}(\alpha^2 + 3)x^3 + O(x^4) & x \to 0\\ 1 - 2\left(\exp(-2x) - \exp(-4x) + \dots\right) & x \to \infty \end{cases}$$
(10)

If we consider the leading order in the first line, the dependence of the trade potential corresponds to the well-known law noted in Bouchaud (2013), albeit with an extra factor of  $^{2}/_{3}$  that could have been guessed, because only 2 of 3 states are important for the trade potential. The extra factor was formally derived from theory and is important when estimating the true parameter  $\mu$ . This is because if the estimation  $\hat{\mu}$  of the parameter is based only on a two-state system ("buy" and "sell"), the result is likely to be a significant underestimation of the true parameter. Figure 4 shows the exact course of the trade potential, Equation (9), and its approximations, Equation (10).



**Figure 4:** The average trade potential depending on *x*. The figure shows the exact function Equation (9) and the approximations Equation (10) for large and small *x*. Furthermore, the variation due to  $\alpha$  is shown. The noted results ( $\mu$ ,  $\alpha$ ) correspond to the model parameters determined in Table 3 for the example under consideration.

### 2.3.1.2 Utility

In a similar way, we can express the average utility in terms of  $x = \mu B/kT$ . Substituting Equation (8) into Equation (3) leads to:

$$\bar{U} = -\mu B \frac{\exp(-x) + \alpha \exp(-\alpha x) - \exp(+x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(-\alpha x) + \exp(+x)}.$$
(11)

The Taylor expansion for small *x* leads to the expression:

$$\bar{U} = -\mu B \left( \frac{\alpha}{3} - \frac{2}{9} (\alpha^2 + 3)x + \frac{1}{27} \alpha (\alpha^2 - 9)x^2 + O(x^3) \right).$$
(12)

For x = 0, a basic negative average utility  $\overline{U} = -\mu B^{\alpha/3}$  can be observed, which results from the fact that with high volatility and low message strength, the possible states are occupied equally by the agents and the utility of conforming and not conforming to the news offset one another.

#### 2.3.1.3 Risk Measures

For  $x \ll 1$ , i.e., the strength of the news  $B \approx 0$  and a (constant) finite volatility, we can describe the behavior of the trade potential with small changes in the strength of the company message:

$$\Delta \bar{N}_{\text{pot}} = \chi \Delta B \quad \text{with} \quad \chi(T, B) = \frac{\partial \bar{N}_{\text{pot}}}{\partial B} = \text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) \frac{2}{3} \frac{\mu}{k} \frac{1}{T}.$$
(13)

The latter equation is the well-known Curie law  $\chi \propto 1/r$  noted in (Bouchaud, 2013, *phys.*: magnetic susceptibility) but with the extra factor 2/3.

Similar to Equation (13), it is also possible to approximate the change in the trade potential for small changes in volatility (*phys.*: thermal magnetic loss coefficient):

$$\Delta \bar{N}_{\text{pot}} = \eta \Delta T \quad \text{with} \quad \eta(T, B) = \frac{\partial \bar{N}_{\text{pot}}}{\partial T} = -\text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) \frac{2}{3} \frac{\mu}{k} \frac{B}{T^2} = -\frac{2}{3} \frac{\mu}{k} \frac{\mathcal{B}}{T^2}.$$
 (14)

In the same way, for  $x \ll 1$ , we can express changes in utility with a small change in volatility. Considering Equation (12) up to order O(x) and B = const., the change can be described as follows:

$$\Delta \bar{U} = c_B \Delta T \text{ with } c_B(T, B) = \frac{\partial \bar{U}}{\partial T} = -k \frac{2}{9} (\alpha^2 + 3) \left(\frac{\mu B}{kT}\right)^2.$$
(15)

The coefficient  $c_B$  is a kind of capacity (*phys.*: specific heat capacity). It describes the ability of the agent system to react to changes in volatility in the form of changes in utility. Since

 $c_B$  is always negative, every increase in volatility leads to a loss of utility. With increasing volatility, however, the effect decreases, and the absolute change in utility becomes smaller. In the high volatility limit,  $T \rightarrow \infty$ , no change in utility can be determined.

Similar to the concept of duration, the coefficients  $\chi$ ,  $\eta$  and  $c_B$  can be understood as risk parameters if there are sudden minor changes in the news situation or in the volatility: For small changes, they can be used to estimate the effect on the considered quantity (trade potential or utility).

#### 2.3.2. Microcanonical Ensemble

The calculation and evaluation of the microcanonical partition function  $\Omega$  leads to the entropy of the whole agent system (Greiner et al., 1995; Kaizoji, 2000):

$$S = k \ln \Omega. \tag{16}$$

Its similarity to Shannon's term for information (Shannon, 1948) suggests that entropy should be interpreted as the information deficit of the market analyst about the microstate, i.e., the state of a single agent, associated with knowing the macroscopic variables, e.g.,  $\mathcal{B}$  and T. The greater the entropy, the less the market analyst knows about the microscopic state and the less information he or she knows about the entire agent system. Shannon himself introduced k as a positive constant and assigned it the property of a unit of measurement (Shannon, 1948, p. 11). Considering the microcanonical partition function  $\Omega$  in detail, we want to pursue this idea further to gain a suitable interpretation of the constant k in the finance field.

In finance, the partition function  $\Omega$  counts the number of sets  $(S_1, \ldots, S_N)$  that lead to the same, pre-given utility U. For the calculation, a small interval  $[U - \delta U, U]$  is defined, so that only some configurations  $(N_-, N_0, N_+)$  according to Equation (3) lead to a utility within the interval. If the maximum entropy principle (Jaynes, 1957; Foley, 1999) is employed, all that remains is a single configuration that meets the utility specification. Then, the number  $\Omega$ of possible sets that create the configuration is counted. In the present case, with  $\delta U < \alpha \mu B$ , the number of sets is determined by the multinomial coefficient:

$$\Omega = \frac{N!}{N_{-}!N_{0}!N_{+}!}.$$
(17)

Using Stirling's formula,  $\ln n! = n \ln n - n$ , and norming with a factor  $1/\ln 3$ , the average entropy is

$$\bar{\mathcal{S}} = -k \sum_{i=1}^{3} p_i \log_3 p_i \tag{18}$$

with the probabilities  $p_i$  defined in Equation (7). If k = 1, then  $\overline{S}$  is the entropy in a ternary numeral system with minimum  $\overline{S} = 0$  and maximum  $\overline{S} = 1$ . If  $p_i = 1/3$ , then the agents are evenly distributed over all possible positions ("sell", "hold", and "buy"). Then, the entropy is at its maximum, and a market analyst needs one trit (trinary digit, cf. Brusentsov and Alvarez (2011)) of information to determine the exact setting of an individual agent. A similar discussion is held for the two-state systems ("buy" and "sell") with bits in Nadal et al. (1998). An obvious interpretation would be to regard k as the cost of obtaining the information. The unit of measurement of k would then be monetary units. If  $p_i = 1$  for some i, then the entropy is zero, i.e., all agents are in the same state i, every microstate is thus the same, the market analyst does not need any further information to make statements about the position of an individual agent, and there are no costs for further information.

In this interpretation of k, the entropy of the entire agent system would sum up the cost of the uncertainty, i.e., the information deficit measured in trits. The constant k is, therefore, not a model parameter but defines the unit of measurement.

#### State Quantity T

In statistical physics, the temperature T is a state quantity that is independent of the amount of matter considered in a thermodynamic system. Analyzing the microcanonical ensemble, one finds a determining equation for the temperature. A similar approach was proposed by Marsili (1999) to define the state quantity T in agent systems. We will briefly retrace the course.

According to its calculation, entropy S, Equation (16), is a function of utility U for a fixed number of agents N and given news strength B. If a Taylor expansion is implemented with respect to U and second- and higher-order terms are neglected, then Marsili (1999) finds the following relationship in analogy to statistical physics:

$$\frac{1}{T} = -\frac{\partial S}{\partial U}\Big|_{U}$$
(19)

Since Marsili (1999) neglects k in the entropy, he comes to the interpretation that in economics, the state quantity T can be considered as the price of (negative) entropy. Furthermore, he interprets that the parameter T plays the role of an *internal* temperature of an agent, and it measures its deviation from rational behavior, which is recovered as  $T \rightarrow 0$ . This can include, for example, not behaving in conformity with the company news  $\mathcal{B}$ , i.e., buy on bad news, or changing positions quickly without any new information. For a stock price, this leads to an observable volatility. Furthermore, based on the observation that in many capital market-related applications, a proportionality between temperature and volatility is assumed  $T \propto \sigma$ 

(de Mattos Neto et al., 2011; Bouchaud, 2013), it was recently shown for an Ising-based two-state model that there is a fundamental relationship between temperature and trading volatility (Börner et al., 2023c). Thus, in this interpretation, the volatility observable on the capital market is the measurand for determining the internal temperature, and in the simplest case, the measuring equation is  $T = \sigma$ . In the sense of the microcanonical view, a closed stock/agent system *has* a volatility. If the system is considered embedded in the overall market (canonical ensemble, Section 2.3.1), then the exchange quantity is the volatility, and the individual system *is* influenced by the volatility of the overall market.

The main qualitative effects of a changing temperature can also be observed in terms of volatility. If the volatility tends toward zero, decisions become easier even with weak new news and are primarily based on the direction of the new news. The agent system overall conforms to the company message (*phys.*: crystallization). If the volatility becomes very high, decisions with the same information become more difficult; the direction fluctuates and is not necessarily based on the new message. As in the physics of spin systems, the increasing disorder can be observed in the agent system, and no direction dominates. Galam et al. (1982) conducted a similar discussion in sociology when interpreting his model of a strike, which is based on two states ("work state" and "strike state").

If we continue to assume that the entropy and utility itself can be measured in monetary units, then T becomes a unitless quantity that mediates between small changes in entropy and changes in utility in the following way:  $\Delta U \propto -T\Delta S$ , i.e., an increase in entropy interpreted as costs for further information from the perspective of a market analyst decreases his or her utility, and the greater the volatility is, the stronger the effect.

There can be the unlikely situation that if the news is bad, the agents are predominantly in the "buy" position, or if the news is good, they are predominantly in the "sell" position. In both cases,  $N_+ - N_- < 0$ . For the trade potential, Equation (9),  $\bar{N}_{pot} > 0$  (buyer surplus) is calculated for bad news and  $\bar{N}_{pot} < 0$  (seller surplus) for good news. In any case, the entire agent system does not behave in accordance with the news situation.

Such an inversion is known in statistical physics and leads to a negative temperature being assigned to the inverse state. In general, these states are not stable, and the system relaxes within a short time (Greiner et al., 1995).

The same is assumed for the agent system considered here. An inverse state, triggered, for example, by two successive company messages with rapidly changing signs, should relax within a short time. The transition from the "inverse" to the "normal" state generally takes place via a sequence of nonequilibrium states, and methods from nonequilibrium thermodynamics are to be used for modeling, cf., e.g., the propagation of partition functions depicted in Isihara (1971). The just-described transition can only be modeled with the (suitably extended)

methods described in this section if it is a sequence of quasi-steady state changes in the system.

In what follows, we are interested in a procedure to estimate the model parameters  $\mu$ ,  $\alpha$  and examine the "normal" case, where the entire agent system behaves in accordance with the news situation. This means that we will not further consider the above-described case of an inversion of the agent system in the following.

#### 2.4. Application

#### 2.4.1. Procedure for Determining the Model Parameters – Experimental Setup

The model parameters  $0 < \mu$  and  $0 < \alpha < 1$  are to be determined on the basis of capital market data. The idealized model presented in Section 2.3 focuses on mapping special risk events for single financial assets. By construction, the model is not designed for the entire dynamic but only for special components of the dynamic in which the parameters  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$  essentially determine the dynamic. If there are temporary events in the capital market that correspond to the idealized specifications, the model parameters can be determined in this cut-out experiment. The following procedure is used to determine the parameters and takes the idealized conditions into account.

- 1. Periods of low, constant volatility T with sideways price movement are sought for the single asset to be examined. Quantile specifications are used to search for such time segments. In the ideal case, the time segments found correspond to dynamic equilibria.
- 2. The news situation is then examined for all the time segments found, and those time segments are selected for further analysis in which a single central message  $\mathcal{B}$  dominates the following period. The strength  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$  and direction sign( $\mathcal{B}$ ) of the message are determined.
- 3. We set the value of k to one monetary unit, compare Section 2.3.2, and calculate  ${}^{B}/kT$ . This means that  $\mu$  remains in  $x = {}^{\mu B}/kT$  as a variable that has yet to be determined.
- 4. Next, the seller or buyer surplus  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  is determined from the shares traded. There are several ways to estimate  $\bar{N}_{pot}$ ; we discuss three different approaches and suggest one for further use. A pair of measured values  $({}^{B}/{}_{kT}, \bar{N}_{pot})$  is thus calculated for each examined time segment.
- 5. All pairs of measured values  $({}^{B}/kT, \bar{N}_{pot})$  are used to fit the curve shown in Figure 4 with Equation (9) and determine the model parameters  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$ .



**Figure 5:** Sampled closing prices for BioNTech are in the upper panel. Trade potential and volatility are in the lower panel. Time scale: UTC+2.

#### 2.4.2. Data

As an example, the shares of the pharmaceutical company BioNTech are examined in detail. Bloomberg trading data for this company is available from the American Stock Exchange NASDAQ for the period from 1 August 2021 to 31 January 2022 with a sample rate of 1 min (Bloomberg code: BNTX UW). The dataset is analyzed for the market session and the pre- and after-market sessions. The opening, closing, high, and low prices are available for each minute. In addition, the sales volume, sales value, and number of ticks are attached to the price data. An excerpt in Figure 5 (upper panel) shows the closing prices of the various sessions divided into bid, ask and trade for 13 September 2021.

#### 2.4.2.1 Volatility T – Temperature

For the statistical model in Section 2.3, the external state variable *T* is required and must be extracted from the capital market data. The state variable *T* was interpreted as instantaneous volatility, which is the volatility that market participants observe for the share at the moment prior to becoming aware of the news  $\mathcal{B}$ . This means that the volatility must be determined over a period that is as short as possible to be measured as closely as possible to the event and to include as few other effects as possible. The goal of volatility measured as close to an event as possible is thwarted by a lower limit of data points used. The limit is given by the fact that the statistical error is becoming more dominant. We successively examined shorter measurement periods of 120, 60, 30, 15, 10, and 5 min and found that below 15 min, the statistical errors dominate in determining the volatility. For the following analyses, the volatility, and, hence, the state variable *T*, are determined based on logarithmic returns over the shortest reasonable time window of 15 min. Thus, the volatility at each time *t* is determined continuously as the standard deviation over 15 logarithmic returns ( $t, t_{-1}, \ldots, t_{-14}$ ) in a rolling window.

## 2.4.2.2 Trade Potential $\bar{N}_{pot}$ – Magnetization

Another key variable required is the effective trading potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$ , which is calculated from the buyer surplus or seller surplus excluding hold positions, cf. Equation (9). Different approaches were examined to extract the trade potential from the market data. The attempt to estimate trading potential based on the bid-ask difference in turnover volume failed because the bid and ask volumes also include some older stop-loss orders, stop-buy limit orders or other types of orders that are not necessarily related to the current event. A similar problem prevents the direct use of trading volume as a proxy for the trade potential a step back in time. In the case of a price jump, older limit specifications can be processed. As a result, the trade potential attributable to the actual event may be inaccurate. If only one stock exchange is examined, it is also unclear how N is to be set in Equation (9). Thus, with the data and especially the sales volume available to us, the trade potential cannot be determined with sufficient accuracy. Therefore, we use an indirect method to estimate the trade potential. Thereby, the concatenation factors  $K_t = \frac{P_{t+1}}{P_t}$  of the instant price movement at a certain point in time *t* are calculated. Then, the trade potential is estimated following Vikram and Sinha (2011):

$$\hat{N}_{\text{pot}}(t) = \frac{K_t - 1}{K_t + 1}$$
(20)

With the limit  $P_{t+1} \rightarrow \infty$ , the trade potential tends to +1 (all agents buy on good news), and with  $P_{t+1} \rightarrow 0$  the trade potential tends to -1 (all agents sell on bad news), given finite price  $P_t > 0$ . With Equation (20), the following equation is determined for the estimated price at time t + 1 given the price at time t and the trade potential defined in Equation (9):

$$\hat{P}_{t+1} = \frac{1 + \bar{N}_{\text{pot}}}{1 - \bar{N}_{\text{pot}}} P_t \quad \text{with} \quad \bar{N}_{\text{pot}} = \text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) \ \frac{N_+ - N_-}{N}.$$
(21)

An excerpt in Figure 5 (lower panel) shows the estimated trade potential and the volatility for 13 September 2021.

Vikram and Sinha (2011) offer the left part of Equation (21) as an approximated price function and find that the exact form is not critical to their results. One way to derive this equation is to find a price p of the asset in the time interval [t, t + 1], from which the price  $p_{t+1} = \exp(\bar{N}_{pot})p \approx (1 + \bar{N}_{pot})p$  is calculated in the forward direction and the price  $p_t = \exp(-\bar{N}_{pot})p \approx (1 - \bar{N}_{pot})p$  in the backward direction.

The relation  $p' = \exp(\bar{N}_{pot})p$  is obtained for the expected path of the stochastic process described in ((Börner et al., 2023a), Equation (5)) when  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  is constant for the time interval under consideration. If  $|\bar{N}_{pot}| \ll 1$ , then  $p' = (1+\bar{N}_{pot})p$  holds approximately. If the evolution from  $p_t$  to  $p_{t+1}$  is performed over the intermediate price p, the equation proposed by (Vikram and Sinha, 2011) is calculated. This equation has the property of shape invariance under time reversal and is suitable to describe reversible processes, i.e.,  $\bar{N}_{pot} \rightarrow -\bar{N}_{pot}$ , in the context of quasi-stationary state changes (Greiner et al., 1995).

#### 2.4.2.3 News Sentiment $\mathcal{B}$ – The Magnetic Field

As described above, qualified messages must first be identified. These are characterized by the fact that the price development of the company share associated with them is caused exclusively and instantly by the news itself and is, therefore, largely independent of overall market developments. If this is the case, we are closest to the case of the ideal agent system under consideration.

A Bloomberg terminal is used to analyze the news situation. This allows us to view all news at specific points in time. To ensure that the events are not distorted by another influencing variable, such as a macroeconomic shock or similar factor, we check the volatility of the BioNTech share itself and the volatilities of two indices representative of the market (S&P 500 and NASDAQ-100) in the 15 min before the events.

The idea is that the financial market "system" must be in a tranquil state, representing a dynamic equilibrium, in each case before an event happens. In our view, the stock itself and the indices are each in dynamic equilibrium or in a state of tranquility if the range of volatility in the 15 min before the event is smaller than the 95% quantile of volatility in our overall time period (August 2021 to January 2022) and does not change In experimental physics, one would measure the following: The temperature of a spin-system is low and constant, and the entire system is in dynamic equilibrium with the thermal bath (Isihara, 1971; Greiner et al., 1995). In other words, the market is in dynamic equilibrium if it is not subject to large fluctuations (negative delimitation).

Out of 24 potential events, there thus remains a sample of 18 carefully identified events, where each event is enriched by some splitter messages that make the same statement as the so-called lead headline, which is representative of the respective news package for an isolated event at a specific point in time. Once the qualified events are identified, the empirical challenge in determining  $\mathcal{B}$  is to convert the qualitative information of a message into a quantitative measure. In doing so, the strength  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$  on the one hand and the direction of the information sign( $\mathcal{B}$ ) on the other hand must be determined.

We resort to a textual analysis based on a linguistic approach to evaluate text fragments and calculate sentiment scores. The approaches in the field of text analysis are manifold, and the different methods offer their individual advantages, cf., e.g., Kearney and Liu (2014); Loughran and McDonald (2016, 2020). In particular, two-dimensional approaches with "positive" and "negative" sentiments are effective at capturing different contexts (such as the economic context of business-related messages) or at dealing with linguistic peculiarities (Stangor and Kuerzinger, 2021).

However, before the messages can be evaluated, a common problem in text analysis must be considered by preprocessing the data. Since inflected words can deviate from their root word, a matching algorithm might fail to correctly assign these variations to the root word. Therefore, the words in the message must first be transformed. Linguists have proposed several approaches to address this problem (Feinerer et al., 2008). Stemming, for example, traces a word to its root by identifying and eliminating suffixes. Lemmatization, on the other hand, groups inflected words into a single group. We first transform our data using the lemmatization list (41,531 words) created by Mechura (2016), which can be accessed via the R package "textstem" by Rinker (2018). In selecting a suitable linguistic approach, we included several well-known dictionaries that are embeddable via the R package "SentimentAnalysis" of Feuerriegel and Proellochs (2021). These include Henry's Financial Dictionary (Henry, 2008), the Harvard-IV dictionary, the Loughran–McDonald Financial Dictionary (Loughran and McDonald, 2011), and the QDAP dictionary from the R package "qdapDictionaries" by Rinker (2013). The algorithm additionally performs preprocessing operations such as removing stopwords and stemming. With each dictionary, lists of positive and negative words are used, and the occurrences in the messages are counted. The sentiment scores are the netted occurrences of positive, *PW*, and negative, *NW*, words, divided by the respective number of words *MW* in a news package to control for messages of different lengths:  $\mathcal{B} = \frac{PW-NW}{MW}$ . According to this definition, news sentiment  $\mathcal{B}$  is measured in fractions of unit one and takes values between -1 and +1.

A major drawback of the scoring algorithm is that it does not account for negations (i.e., words such as "not"), resulting in potentially misidentified scores and sentiments. For example, the algorithm would count the phrase "not successful" as +1 instead of -1. For this reason, we manually edit our data by multiplying the determined sentiment score of the words that are negated by -1. We refrain from further text transformation at this point, such as smiley recognition, since this level of sophistication is sufficient to analyze the mostly standardized text messages in finance.

The sensitivity of the sentiment analysis can be further increased if the dictionaries are supplemented with a few additional keywords appropriate to the problem. We motivate this measure with the conclusion and result of Kearney and Liu (2014); Renault (2017) that more field-specific dictionaries are needed. The addition of a few but salient keywords with high relevance in the pharmaceutical (and financial) context shows that this measure is already very effective, and there is no need to define a complete dictionary in the first approach. The supplement of suitable keywords to dictionaries through human intervention is an established procedure in machine translation. Human intervention can be found in the context of machine translation when editing results and when creating or adapting dictionaries. In practice, human intervention is used to increase the performance of machine translation (Kawasaki, 1993). The latter is driven by the fact that basic dictionaries may not be able to handle specific - industry standard - terminologies. Kawasaki (1993) deduces an "add-and-delete" strategy since, on the one hand, important words should be added to the dictionary, and on the other hand, superfluous words that do not fit the context at hand should be removed to avoid creating erroneous ambiguities. In our context of the BioNTech stock, we keep, e.g., the basic financial context of the Loughran–McDonald dictionary but add (a few strictly selected) words from the pharmaceutical (and financial) context (if they are not already included in the respective dictionary): "approval", "authorize", "complete", "gain", "protect", and "target" as positive words and "tank" and "sink" as negative words. We proceeded in the same way with the other dictionaries.

The basis of our selection of a suitable lexicon for the textual analysis is a correlation analysis between the sentiment scores based on the different dictionaries and the market reactions of the respective news packages, as shown in Table 1. High correlations are desirable, as they then suggest that the external information field is well proxied.

Even though some dictionaries are designed to cover a specific context, such as a financial context, it is still necessary to work with fundamentally insufficient recognizability of context by natural language processing (e.g., Loughran and McDonald (2016); Renault (2017)). Consequently, a single message can be evaluated with a certain score, although the message is to be understood in an opposite context, depending on the perspective to be adopted. This leads to single news items being evaluated with sentiment scores that are contrary to the direction of the market reaction. For this reason, we neutralize the signs for the correlation analysis, cf. the second row of Table 1. Since the correlation between the (news package) values neutralized by the signs and the market reactions is high, at least in two cases, we conclude that the strength  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$  of a message can be well represented by a text analysis algorithm. The second row in Table 1 complements the first row in that it provides better insight into the extent to which  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$  can truly be represented by the sentiment score because the correlation is not "distorted" by matching signs.

To validate our method, we draw on proven concepts in the industry. In the context of annotations by humans, an acceleration of machine learning has been achieved, which is called human-in-the-loop (Wu et al., 2021). Similarly, we validate the automated estimation of the text analysis approach by an expert survey and adjust the "wrongly" detected signs at individual news item level for consistency. The improved consistency of the data increases the correlation at the news package level for all the dictionaries, cf. the third row of Table 1. To calculate the parameters  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$ , however, it is critical that the signs are correct, i.e., that they match the actual direction of the message. Therefore, the validation or adjustment of the signs is performed, and the correlation is increased in all cases.

	Loughran- McDonald	Henry	Harvard-IV	QDAP
sign unmodified	+0.31 $(2.14 \times 10^{-1})$	+0.52 $(2.64 \times 10^{-2})$	+0.26 $(2.93 \times 10^{-1})$	+0.10 $(6.93 \times 10^{-1})$
sign neutralized	+0.58 $(1.10 \times 10^{-2})$	-0.07 (7.97 × 10 <sup>-1</sup> )	-0.07 (7.88 × 10 <sup>-1</sup> )	+0.44 $(6.82 \times 10^{-2})$
sign adjusted	+0.87 (2.36 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> )	+0.67 $(2.17 \times 10^{-3})$	+0.68 $(1.85 \times 10^{-3})$	+0.80 $(7.73 \times 10^{-5})$

**Table 1:** Correlation analysis between sentiment scores based on different dictionaries and market reactions (*p*-values in parentheses).

The financial dictionary of Loughran and McDonald (2011) is particularly suitable for our purposes from the wide range of methods, as shown by the comparatively high correlation in Table 1, regardless of whether the signs were neutralized or adjusted. The dictionary is specially designed for the analysis of financial text and is broadly used in economic research (Chen et al., 2014; Da et al., 2015; Löffler et al., 2021; Stangor and Kuerzinger, 2021).

To assess how unambiguous a message is in each case, we use a sentiment polarity score, *PS*, as proposed by Zhang and Skiena (2010) and used similarly by Li et al. (2014). Table 2 contains the measure of *PS* that ranges from -1 to +1 and is given by  $PS = \frac{PW-NW}{PW+NW}$ . The closer the score is to -1 or +1, the clearer the message is.

Date	Core M	essage						
Analysis	News		Capital	Market	Risk-M	easures		
	${\mathcal B}$	PS	$T_{15'}$	$\bar{N}_{ m pot}$	X	$\eta$	CB	B/kT
Units	$10^{-2}$	$10^{-1}$	$10^{-4}$	$10^{-3}$	$10^{-2}$	$10^{-1}$	$10^{-5}$	$10^{0}$
							USD	
3 August 2021	F.D.A. A	ims to Giv	e Final App	roval to Pf	fizer Vaccin	e by Early l	Next Month	
	+ 6	+ 7	+ 10	+11	+26	-161	- 46	+ 62
6 August 2021	FDA exp	pects to hav	ve COVID v	accine boo	oster strateg	y early nex	t month	
	0	NA	+ 11	+22	0	0	0	0
20 August 2021	FDA Ap	proves Pfiz	er-Biontech	COVID-1	9 Vaccine			
	+14	+10	+ 13	+31	+20	-225	-149	+111
10 September 2021	Biontech	n to Seek Va	accine Appr	oval for 5-	-11 year old	ds		
	+ 8	+ 6	+ 9	+11	+28	-235	- 86	+ 84
13 September 2021	Covid E	vidence do	esn't suppo	rt broad N	eed for Boo	sters		
	- 3	-10	+ 12	- 8	-22	+ 51	- 7	- 24
16 September 2021	FDA Ad	visers Back	x a Narrowe	er Authoriz	ation for Pj	fizer Booste	r	
	-10	- 6	+ 13	- 9	-20	+157	- 73	- 77
23 September 2021	FDA Au	thorizes Bo	oster Dose	of Pfizer-E	BioNTech C	OVID-19 V	accine for	
	Certain	Population	S					
	+ 8	+10	+ 10	+ 8	+25	-194	- 73	+ 78
30 September 2021	Pfizer/B	ioNTech Va	ccine Antil	odies Disc	appear			
	- 3	- 3	+ 14	-42	-18	+ 43	- 7	- 24
18 October 2021	Pfizer A	nd AstraZe	neca Vaccii	nes Were E	ffective As	Prior Infect	ion,	
	U.K. Stu	dy Finds						
	+12	+10	+ 8	+23	+34	-510	-273	+150

**Table 2:** Analyzed news and deduced key figures (k = 1 USD).

20 October 2021	CDC: P	CDC: Pfizer COVID-19 Vaccine Highly Protective in 12–18 Age Group						
	+ 6	+ 5	+ 7	+14	+40	-390	-117	+ 98
4 November 2021	U.K. Re	U.K. Regulator Is First to Approve Merck's COVID-19 Pill						
	-13	-10	+ 9	-26	-29	+407	-247	-143
5 November 2021	Update 2	2: Pfizer so	ays antiviral	pill cuts	risk of sever	e COVID-1	9 by 89%	
	-18	-10	+ 13	-63	-21	+293	-240	-141
26 November 2021	Vaccine	Stocks Jun	ıp Premark	et Amid No	ew Variant I	Fears, EU B	Backing	
	+19	+10	+ 12	+56	+21	-324	-282	+152
6 December 2021	Vaccine	Stocks Slip	o as Street W	Veighs Om	icron Varia	nt Uncertai	nty	
	-14	-10	+ 12	-38	-21	+243	-162	-115
10 December 2021	Research	hers in Sou	th Africa ha	ive also fo	und a drop-	off in the le	vel of antib	ody
	protectio	on from the	it vaccine ve	ersus the n	ew strain			
	- 8	- 5	+ 17	-35	-16	+ 76	- 28	- 48
31 December 2021	Pfizer Va	accine Cau	ses Myocar	ditis				
	- 8	-10	+ 12	- 4	-22	+138	- 49	- 64
10 January 2022	Pfizer CEO: Developing Omicron Targeted Vaccine							
	+ 9	+10	+105	+ 3	+ 2	- 2	- 1	+ 9
21 January 2022	Less-Th	reatening (	Omicron Lov	vers Covid	d Vaccine Sa	ales Estimat	te	
	-10	-10	+ 20	-13	-13	+ 62	- 28	- 48

#### 2.4.3. Results

Table 2 shows our sample of 18 events used to calculate  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$ . As mentioned above, six other events were identified, but these could not be considered further for the calculation because either trading in the BioNTech shares was not in dynamic equilibrium (strong changes in volatility indicated a transitional phase) or the overall market was not in dynamic equilibrium. The latter was determined in the same way as described above based on the volatilities of the leading indices (S&P 500, NASDAQ-100). To recap, the news headlines listed in the table are representative of the news packages as so-called lead headlines, which subsume other splitter news with the same statement. The entire database with 24 events, including all headlines and splitter news, is available upon request.

In Table 2, noteworthy findings include that the measured message strengths are very small, i.e.,  $|\mathcal{B}| \ll 1$ , and the sometimes high value of the sentiment polarity score,  $|PS| \leq 1$ , indicating unique messages. The 15-minutes volatilities  $T_{15'}$  of BioNTech shares measured shortly before the event are of  $O(10^{-3})$  and are within the 5% quantile of all volatilities measured in the observation period. The average trading potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  determined from the market reaction using Equation (21) correlates highly ( $\rho = 0.87$ ) with message  $\mathcal{B}$ . The latter

must be the requirement for a suitable experimental setting for evaluating Equation (10) in linear approximation. For k = 1 USD,  $T = T_{15'}$  and  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$  the quotient  ${}^{B}/kT$  is calculated in the last column. The calculated risk measures  $\chi, \eta, c_B$  are suitable for describing the reaction of certain output variables to small changes in input variables in a linear approximation; see Equations (13)–(15). Assume, for example, a given volatility T and news situation  $\mathcal{B}$ . The calculated susceptibility  $\chi$  can then be used to estimate the market reaction if the news situation becomes slightly worse (better). In a financial report on a specific market situation, further assessments of the sensitivity of market participants could, therefore, be possible. This aspect is not pursued further here. In the analyzed events, we observe a wide range of market situations, measured by the level of sensitivity ( $\chi, \eta$  and  $c_B$ ) to external conditions, which are worth investigating in a separate line of research.

All pairs of measured values  $({}^{B}/kT, \bar{N}_{pot})$  in Table 2 are used to fit the curve shown in Figure 4 with Equation (9) and determine the model parameters  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$ .

Since one data point was always omitted for the calculation (jackknife resampling), 17 different estimates could be produced. The final result is the mean value over these estimates (jackknife estimators of the parameters) and is displayed in Table 3 along with the range. We refrain from calculating the variances here, as they would obscure the results, and instead present the ranges as error indicators. The parameter  $\mu$  can be determined with sufficient accuracy. The parameter  $\alpha$ , however, is difficult to estimate due to the small number of data points and a missing entry with high trading potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  and is therefore subject to high estimation errors. This high sensitivity is reflected in the broad bandwidth. However, a very high trading potential in the capital market can only be expected if a very strong information field  $\mathcal{B}$ , i.e., strong news, occurs or if the volatility T is very low.

Considering Equations (13)–(15), it can be concluded that the risk measures  $\chi$  and  $\eta$  can be determined with better accuracy than  $c_B$ . The risk measure  $c_B$  can be determined less precisely because of the direct dependency on the heavily errored variable  $\alpha$  and the error superimposition of  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$ .

Parameter	Value	Range	
$\frac{\mu}{\alpha}  (10^{-4} \text{ USD})$	3.92 0.75	(3.51–4.21) (0.00–1.00)	

**Table 3:** Results for  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$  along with the range of variation from the estimation.

#### 2.4.4. Concept for a One-Step-Ahead-Forecast

The method presented thus far focuses on modeling the dynamics that are to be expected as a result of a new message. Thus, only sudden risk events are modeled, and the full dynamics of a share/agent system are not mapped. As a result, the following prediction concept can only make statements about the short-term price development of security that is to be expected as a result of isolated news within the framework of the statistical models.

The central equations for the prediction are Equation (21) in conjunction with Equation (9). If the parameters  $\mu$  and  $\alpha$  have been determined – or are permanently determined and updated as part of machine learning – the volatility *T* of the security must be determined continuously at the same time. A constant volatility over a period of time indicates that the share/agent system under consideration is in dynamic equilibrium. While determining the volatility, the news flow must be tracked using suitable information sources. From this, the share-specific messages are to be filtered and converted to a value  $\mathcal{B}$  according to the method described above (Section 2.4.2.3). Then,  $x = \frac{\mu|\mathcal{B}|}{kT}$  is calculated and from this the trade potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  according to Equation (9). Equation (21) then supplies a prediction of a new price  $\hat{P}_{t+1}$  based on the current price  $P_t$ .

The result is a predictor for the price one-step-ahead, and this predictor is itself subject to uncertainty and obeys a probability distribution. Therefore, the predictor  $\hat{P}$  serves as an indication for the price movement in the next time step. The forecast is not exact because of the underlying distribution of the predictor. Hence, risk-free excess profits cannot be achieved.

We select several benchmark approaches to evaluate the prediction results of our threestate model (3SM) in Table 4. In addition to regular prediction benchmark approaches, which have the inherent disadvantage of not being able to process the news  $\mathcal{B}$  as information in the prediction, we also compare it with the two-state model (2SM). The regular benchmark approaches include a naive approach that uses the last value before a message as the prediction value (last observation carry forward, LOCF) and the moving average (MA) with five observations smoothing. In addition, we use an ARIMA model that is well suited for estimating the next step (Siami-Namini et al., 2019). To incorporate a comparative model utilizing sentiment as information in prediction, we additionally estimate a regression model with ARIMA errors to account for the time series structure of the data (TS Regression). We employ the VOLQ, the volatility index of the NASDAQ 100, as an exogenous sentiment variable. Similar to the VIX, the volatility index of the S&P 500, is utilized as a sentiment measure and even for predicting short-term returns (Feldman, 2010; Ding et al., 2021). We leverage the VOLQ for the more narrowly focused NASDAQ 100, wherein BioNTech is included. Besides the fact that the NASDAQ 100 volatility index is better suited to predict volatility than the VIX (Corrado and Miller, 2005), the advantage is that the VOLQ is available at the same frequency

as the BioNTech data, i.e., minute-by-minute, thus allowing for better comparability than, for example, with the monthly Consumer Confidence Index. Each model is fitted with all observations up to a news item and then used to predict the next value. The error indicators used for comparability are standard and include the mean absolute error (MAE), mean squared error (MSE), mean absolute percentage error (MAPE), and root mean squared error (RMSE). Based on the prediction results, we conclude that our model is well-specified and the model parameters are well-determined, as it performs better than all benchmark methods. The Shapiro–Wilk test could not be rejected (p-value = 0.9265), so a normally distributed forecast error (MAPE) can be assumed with  $\mathcal{N}(0.026, 0.032^2)$ . Thus, the forecast neither overestimates nor underestimates systematically. In addition to theoretical arguments for the use of a trinary agent system in Section 2.3.1.1, the comparison of the prediction performance of the two-state and three-state models provides a nuanced indication that the three-state model is marginally superior. However, despite the very similar performance of the 2SM and 3SM, the result confirms that our model calibration procedure works well. Fundamentally, it can be argued that the approaches from statistical physics have a strong advantage over regular prediction approaches in this application due to the processing of the news  $\mathcal{B}$ .

	MAE	MSE	MAPE	RMSE	
3SM	7.707	86.987	0.026	9.327	
2SM	7.707	87.009	0.026	9.328	
LOCF MA ARIMA TS Regression	11.079 11.688 11.064 11.103	217.087 221.481 216.700 218.361	0.036 0.038 0.036 0.036	14.734 14.882 14.721 14.777	

**Table 4:** Results of an (in-sample) one-step-ahead forecast using the 18 events from Table 2 with benchmark approaches and four error indicators.

Depending on the new price, investor-internal reports can then be written and/or micro hedges initiated. In the case of a machine learning implementation with a continuous learning algorithm and a suitable loss function (Goodfellow et al., 2016), the process could be improved, fully automated, and operate in subminute time ranges.

#### 2.5. Conclusions

In recent decades, increasing numbers of models have been used in econometrics that have been adopted from statistical physics. The development is well advanced, and complex theoretical models are the subject of many simulative and numerical investigations. With all models, there is always the question of how to determine the model parameters. In the case of models applied to securities, in particular, the concern is how the parameters can be estimated on the basis of capital market data. We investigated this question and examined the basic model of an ideal agent system in greater detail, and developed a procedure for parameter estimation. The more complex models mentioned above, which incorporate social interactions between agents, are based on this basic model, so the methods developed for parameter estimation are also useable in advanced model approaches. In our analysis, we adhered to the extension of the commonly used binary agent system to include the hold position to a trinary agent system and derived corresponding equations to describe the dynamics, which serve as a starting point for parameter estimation. In physics, special experiments are designed to determine model parameters and to research phenomena of interest. In the field of finance, it will be difficult to construct an experiment under laboratory conditions to implement a similar approach. Here one is dependent on the abundance and correct use of data from the capital market. The art of the financial experimenter is to find the data that most closely resemble the phenomenon under study and then perform the modeling based on those data. Cut-out experiments must, therefore, be defined in which the specific research question can be analyzed. For the case of the ideal agent system with the three states "sell", "hold", and "buy", we have shown a modeling approach and paid special attention to the suitable selection of the central message for an event influencing the price of a share. In addition, we have derived and reported key risk indicators that characterize the sensitivity of the system at a specific operating point. We also examined the question of a possible forecast concept and found a way to describe the price movement triggered by a message as part of a short-term forecast. The performance comparison with selected benchmark approaches shows that our calibrated three-state model provides better predictions than regular benchmark approaches. In addition, we found nuanced advantages of the three-state model over the two-state model, which we used as another benchmark approach. Therefore, it can be concluded in principle that approaches from statistical physics have a strong advantage over regular prediction approaches due to the processing of sudden news. The use of algorithms from the field of machine learning could map the presented method and thus generate warnings or risk reports in less than a minute in the event of a risk or suggest microhedge strategies and cope with the shock of the sudden event. In connection with this, the approach chosen here must be evaluated critically since various manual interventions had to be accepted for the sake of more consistent results. Thus, our application mainly identifies limitations in the analysis of the news situation and can be further improved in this direction. These improvements depend, for example, on further developments in the field of linguistic text analysis, in particular to more precisely and reliably recognize contexts and valences. However, the results indicate that our calibration procedure works well and that the model was correctly specified, and the model parameters were well determined. In a research project

based on the results presented here, the question of a suitable calibration of generalized agent systems with coupled dynamic components can be addressed and a procedure can be designed how, on the basis of capital market data from special market phases, the required coupling parameter can be estimated. Then, the complete set of model parameters of the generalized agent system is available.

# 2.6. Appendix – Table of Correspondence

Mo	del Pa	arameters	Econometrics	Literature
leters	$\mathcal{B}$	Magnetic Field	News Sentiment	Public Information that Affects all Agents; Investment Environment; Preference Parameter: Bouchaud (2013); Michard and Bouchaud (2005); Sornette and Zhou (2006); Borghesi and Bouchaud (2007); Kaizoji (2000); Weidlich (1971)
External Paran	Т	Temperature	Volatility	Noise; Irrationality; Degree of Randomness in Agents' Decisions; Collective Climate Parameter or Volatility: Bouchaud (2013); Crescimanna and Di Persio (2016); Kaizoji (2000); Oh and Jeon (2007); Krause and Bornholdt (2012); Weidlich (1971); de Mattos Neto et al. (2011); Börner et al. (2023c)
	Ν	Number of Particles	Number of Shares	Number of Traders in buying/selling Positions: Zhang et al. (2015)
del Parameters	μ	Magnetic Moment	Willingness to Trade	<i>Willingness to adopt/buy; Idiosyncratic Judgment:</i> Bouchaud (2013); Michard and Bouchaud (2005); Sornette and Zhou (2006); Borghesi and Bouchaud (2007); Cresci- manna and Di Persio (2016)
	k	Boltzmann Constant	Scale/Unit Parameter	Unspecified in Literature (model endogenous) – mediates between Entropy and Energy.
Mo	α	Energy of State $n_0$	Energy Share of "hold"-Position	
	Ε	Energy	Investors' "Utility"	Utility Function: Bouchaud (2013)
	S	Entropy	Entropy	Measure of Uncertainty: Shannon (1948); Marsili (1999)
ters	М	Magnetization	Purchase/Sale Potential	<i>Aggregate Demand; Average Opinion; Net-Demand:</i> Bouchaud (2013); Michard and Bouchaud (2005); Vikram and Sinha (2011); Zhang et al. (2015)
arame	N <sub>pot</sub>	. –	Trade Potential	Active Agents: Fernandez et al. (2016)
Target F	Χ	Susceptibility	Overall System Sensitivity	Depth parameter of the market which measures sensitiv- ity of price fluctuation in response to changes in excess demand: Zhang et al. (2015)
	η	Thermal loss Coefficient	Overall System Sensitivity	Unspecified in Literature. Parameter which measures sen- sitivity of trade potential in response to changes in volatility
	CB	Capacity	Overall System Sensitivity	Unspecified in Literature. Parameter which measures sen- sitivity of utility in response to changes in volatility

**Table 5:** Correspondence of physical model parameters in an econometric context, substantiated with relevant literature.

# 2.7. Declaration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments

Title:	Ideal Agent System with Triplet States: Model Parameter Identification of
	Agent-Field Interaction
Author(s):	Christoph J. Börner (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)
	Ingo Hoffmann (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)
	John H. Stiebel (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)
Conferences:	Participation and presentation at 'Forschungskolloquium Finanzmärkte',
	June 1, 2022, Düsseldorf, Germany
Publications:	Published on SSRN and in a special issue of <i>Entropy</i> 2023, 25(12), 1666, a
	single-blind peer-reviewed journal. Current status: Published.
	doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/e25121666.

## Share of contributions:

Contributions	Christoph J. Börner	Ingo Hoffmann	John H. Stiebel
Research design	10%	45%	45%
Development of research question	10%	45%	45%
Method development and specification	10%	45%	45%
Research performance & analysis	0%	35%	65%
Literature review and framework development	0%	30%	70%
Data collection, preparation and analysis	0%	10%	90%
Analysis and discussion of results	0%	50%	50%
Derivation of implications and conclusions	0%	50%	50%
Manuscript preparation	20%	40%	40%
Final draft	20%	40%	40%
Finalization	20%	40%	40%
Overall contribution	10%	40%	50%

Date, Cristoph J. Börner

Date, Ingo Hoffmann

Date, John H. Stiebel

# **3.** Generalized Agent System with Triplet States: Model Parameter Identification of Agent-Agent Interaction

#### 3.1. Abstract

Interactions between different agents of a system, such as social interactions between investors in the capital market, have been studied for several years in econophysics research. Researchers in this area are concerned with the appropriate description of couplings between investors and the resulting macroscopic effects, such as herd behavior. We derive a model from econometric considerations that is similar to the model of Blume et al. (1971), which is well known in physics. We address the difficulty of empirically calibrating the parameters and take a direct approach in contrast to indirect simulation-based calibration approaches in agent-based models. A method is given that may be sufficient to determine some essential parameters of bottom-up models as well, thereby eventually helping to bridge the micro-macro problem. The model contains five parameters for which determination methods, e.g., by means of measurement equations, are presented and discussed. Empirical calibration of the model by using the capital market allows us to examine the model phenomenology in simulations as well as implications for practitioners. In addition to one-step-ahead statements, our study provides the insight that applying binary models to situations with three decision alternatives can lead to biased predictions.

**Keywords:** Agent System, Canonical Ensemble, Herding, Partition Function, Risk Assessment, Utility Function

JEL Classification: C10, C46, C51

#### 3.2. Introduction

Traditional economic theory assumes that individual agents, as investors, make rational and independent decisions in the capital market. However, knowledge about the imperfection of agents has increasingly influenced economic research, so behavioral economic aspects such as imitation effects has been analyzed (Bouchaud, 2013). Herd behavior is a related phenomenon that can be triggered by imitations or, more generally, by couplings between different agents and may initiate or accompany significant risk events, see, e.g., Bekiros et al. (2017). In this context, one strand of literature – *Econophysics* – stands out in particular, in which models from statistical physics are applied to socioeconomic phenomena, as they are particularly suitable for modeling interaction effects between agents of a system (Sornette, 2014). The applicability of the models is versatile, and the specific design depends on the contextual use. The empirical calibration of many of these models is a complicated and unsolved problem (Sornette, 2014). Although we cannot resolve the methodological problems in the calibration of (bottom-up) agent-based models, we contribute to this research by showing how to estimate the model parameters of a three-state model based on the Ising model so that it can be used in practical applications.

We apply a model in which agents can adopt three states with respect to their decision on capital market concerns and show how the model parameters can be determined empirically. Purely from econometric considerations and not by analogy to existing models in physics, a model with rich dynamics is introduced that is suitable to model both essential characteristics of investors and observations on the overall market. Our main findings are measurement equations for the central model parameters, which are applied to capital market data of the company BioNTech SE. Based on our measurements, we deduce ranges and distribution parameters for the key parameters that might be used in other models as well. In addition, we demonstrate the short-term herd behavior included in the model phenomenology, which is equivalent to the abrupt alignment of the overall system at a critical point of an external state variable. This critical point is reached at lower values of the external state variable than a binary system may predict; this difference is due to the third state. The implication is therefore that when binary models are applied to situations with three possible states, the derived predictions are biased. Furthermore, we show how to set up a predictive model based on the empirical estimates to assess the intensity of price shocks.

Ising's model (1925), currently a well-studied standard model, has often been applied in this context, particularly because of its simplicity in representing the interacting influences of disorder enhancing private information and order enhancing social imitation (Sornette, 2014). Its use to describe social interactions dates back to Weidlich (1971) and Galam et al. (1982) and has since been applied in a wide variety of ways to socioeconomic issues, for example,

in the field of tax evasion (Zaklan et al., 2008, 2009; Bazart et al., 2016; Giraldo-Barreto and Restrepo, 2021) and particularly in finance (Chowdhury and Stauffer, 1999; Kaizoji, 2000; Bornholdt, 2001; Sornette and Zhou, 2006; Zhou and Sornette, 2007; Bouchaud, 2013; Crescimanna and Di Persio, 2016). A variety of review articles provide an overview of the econophysics literature strand in general and/or highlight primarily economic issues, e.g., Chakraborti et al. (2011a,b); Bouchaud (2013); Sornette (2014); Schinckus (2016); Kutner et al. (2019); Zha et al. (2021).

We contribute to this strand of literature by adhering to the extension of the standard Ising model to include a third state. Starting from econometric considerations of the utility contribution of investor decisions, a model for a general agent system is constructed that is similar to the physical model for the He<sup>3</sup>-He<sup>4</sup> phase transition of Blume et al. (1971). However, since multiple varieties of investors or multiple investment alternatives are not considered in the present case, the model studied here does not include, for example, a chemical potential that models the effect of particle number change in the Blume et al. (1971) model. In the model considered here, agents can decide between three different states, where the labeling of the states depends on the setting chosen. Within the scope of the paper, we show the application to the financial market, where the focus is on the empirical determination of the model parameter. Empirical analysis allows conclusions to be drawn not only about the value of a single parameter but also about its range. The latter leads via inequalities to an indicative determination of the variance. Thus, conclusions about a distribution for individual model parameters are possible. Furthermore, we demonstrate the rich model phenomenology (firstand second-order transitions) and thereby show how short-term herding behavior emerges and how the basic construction of a one-step-ahead forecast can be implemented.

Three-state models have already been applied to the capital market, but we distinguish ourselves from the literature because we do not use a bottom-up agent-based model but instead estimate the model parameters empirically in the market and consider all possible interactions between investors with different terms. The approaches that also use empirical data either rely on indirect calibration methods or use data to compare the properties of their models with those of real data.

In this context, a brief overview of related research directions is given below. The contents of selected, central contributions are considered, and the contribution of the present paper to the literature strand is described. Iori (1999) proposes an Ising-like model with heterogeneous interacting agents that can take three discrete values to explain several stylized facts of the financial markets. The trading activity of each agent is constrained by an initial capitalization and depends on thresholds in a probabilistic manner. The price is a function of the ratio of supply and demand, as well as the available quantity of securities. The outcomes of the model

are numerically simulated with various parameter values. The model by Cont and Bouchaud (2000), which is based on percolation phenomena, shows how herd behavior can reproduce fat tails through communication between agents. Neighboring nodes form clusters based on probability and make collective investment decisions, whereby the price is influenced by excess demand. Chowdhury and Stauffer (1999) reformulate the model by Cont and Bouchaud (2000) in a way that spin values are a measure for the number of investors represented by a portfolio manager of an investment agency. The tendency of portfolio managers to influence each other is thus modeled so that bubbles and the occurrence of fat tails can be explained. Takaishi (2005, 2013) formulates a three-state model based on the Potts (1952) model, which is a generalization of the standard Ising model with q possible states. The agent-based model extends the Bornholdt (2001) model and involves updating schemes for the agent states, thereby showing the main stylized facts of financial markets. In the agent-based model of Sato (2007), heterogeneous investors trade multiple currency pairs and can again choose among three trading activities based on threshold specifications. The model allows inferences about the empirical properties of the tick frequencies of currencies. Sieczka and Holyst (2008) propose a model of interacting market participants based on a generalized Ising spin model and define a price evolution as a function of the system magnetization. The model is also based on a threshold specification, according to which investors are motivated to act only when a certain magnetization in the system is overcome. Stylized facts such as the fat-tailed distribution of returns, volatility clustering, and decay of autocorrelation of returns are replicated. Murota and Inoue (2014) also extend the Ising model to a third state to explain economic crises from a microscopic perspective. In addition to the interactions and exogenous information as terms, an additional term for chemical potential is introduced, which controls how many investors actually act. The result is an update model for central, so-called dynamic hyperparameters, whose evolution is compared based on simulations and empirical data. Zubillaga et al. (2022) propose a generalized form of an opinion formation model based on Vilela et al. (2019) with three possible states in which heterogeneous agents, namely, noise traders and noise contrarians (fundamental analysis-oriented investors), interact. Capital market data are used here to test the goodness of the produced stylized properties of financial markets. Three-state models such as the Blume et al. (1971) model are also implemented in sociophysical research to study opinion formation in social networks with different characteristics (Yang, 2010; Ferri et al., 2022).

Many of the above approaches start with modeling the agents in systems, thus attributing certain properties to them and creating heterogeneous objective functions at the agent level. This is referred to in the literature as bottom-up agent-based modeling. Agents then interact with each other in simulations, and ex ante unknown macro patterns are studied as market equilibria (Schinckus, 2016). As a result of increasingly differentiated agent-based specifications, the models become very complex, and it is no longer possible to determine which dynamics are caused by which model components. This difficulty of not knowing how microlevel elements affect macrolevel equilibrium is referred to in the literature as the micromacro problem. Furthermore, when these models are applied and tested against real data, empirical calibration and validation is an issue that is broadly discussed in the agent-based model literature (Werker and Brenner, 2004; LeBaron, 2006; Windrum et al., 2007; Fagiolo et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2012; Iori and Porter, 2012; Fagiolo et al., 2019). In particular, research is needed on how to use the models in capital market applications, as the empirical calibration of the models or the correct choice of values for the parameters is complicated (Sornette, 2014). The difficulties in determining the parameters of a bottom-up constructed model cannot be fully mitigated here. However, a way is shown that may be sufficient to be able to determine some essential parameters of bottom-up models. In the present paper, a top-down approach is taken, leading to a model from purely econometric considerations. Some components of this model can also be found in the bottom-up models described above, for example, the coupling term known from the standard Ising model. We thus address the research gap of measuring the coupling parameter empirically raised by e.g., Chang (2014) in a similar modeling exercise. If special market situations are considered, the approach examined here can be used to infer the value of the parameters largely in isolation from other influences. We show how such cut-out experiments can be designed and parameters determined.

Other three-state and agent-based models use an updating mechanism to mimic or replicate a data-generating process (Axtell and Farmer, 2022). Our model, and this is how the baseline model is intended from thermodynamics, is not a phase transition model, but an equilibrium model that describes each "frame" – or each moment – of the market as a separate state. These single "frames" of a system can be used to derive quantities that are similar to thermodynamic potentials, which are well known in physics (Isihara, 1971; Greiner et al., 1995; Bouchaud, 2013). These quantities can then be applied to the capital market as a use case. Since we use cut-out experiments to find quantities matching the thermodynamic potentials in real capital market data, we can estimate the model parameters directly from the data (Sato, 2007) and do not have to rely on indirect simulation-based approaches such as those proposed in the agent-based models literature cited above. Once the parameters are determined, they can be incorporated into a predictive model, for example, for the price of a stock. This dynamization then corresponds to the updating mechanisms in agent-based approaches.

The model to be studied in this paper follows a top-down model from econometric considerations. The approach is based on the considerations of Börner et al. (2023b), who introduced an observer and formulated the utility of a certain constellation from the observers'

point of view. Thus, we operationalize our model with a utility function in which a market observer (market analyst, researcher, investor) derives utility from certain constellations of investors or investor groups, for example, regarding the need to explain a certain configuration. Basically, discrepancies between the trading decisions of neighboring investors require more explanatory effort for the market observer, which reduces the utility. Thus, the explanatory effort is equivalent to taking in information at a certain cost. Similarly, trading decisions in the same direction increase utility since no difference needs to be explained. The utility or disutility is expressed in monetary units. The result is a model that takes into account the various interaction possibilities between the agents in an additive way so that the utility is increased or decreased depending on the individual configurations. The state that the market observer assesses already represents the decisions of all investors and thus implicitly incorporates that neighboring agents have interacted with each other. An important model component that evaluates these configurations in terms of utility is already included in the standard Ising model and scales with the constant J. In this context, J does not measure the strength of the influence from one agent on a neighboring agent but rather what influence the decisions of neighboring agents have for the utility calculus of the market observer. Thus, Jis not an evaluation metric for couplings but an evaluation metric for the configurations of neighboring agents in utility calculus. The parameter is therefore important for evaluating an individual configuration of investors and for describing the overall system. We show how Jand the other model parameters can be determined by using capital market data as part of the empirical application in Section 3.4. We focus on the correct transfer and interpretation of the parameters of the general model to the financial market, and since we follow up on Börner et al. (2023b) here and entirely determine the model parameters, we can show the extensive model dynamics by using simulations.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows: Section 3.3 outlines the general model as well as its limits and extensions. In Section 3.4, the model is applied to the capital market. We thereby complete, on the one hand, the empirical analysis in which we empirically measure the coupling parameter J, and, on the other hand, we show the rich phenomenology of the model with numerical analyses. The last Section 3.5 summarizes our findings, and we present some ideas on how to extend both the model and the method for further research topics.

#### 3.3. Method

In the following, the model of a generalized agent system is developed. In this consideration, the individual agents can adopt an inner attitude toward three different actions. When using the example of a stock investor as an agent, these three actions are "buy", "hold" and "sell". Therefore, a generalized agent system with a triple state is developed and investigated. The developed model is then used for the statistical description of the agent system with and without interaction effects.

The basic idea for such approaches in econometrics goes back to the early works of Weidlich (1971) and Galam et al. (1982) and has its origin in physics in the description of Ising systems (Ising, 1925; Isihara, 1971; Greiner et al., 1995). The transfer of the modeling approach from two state Ising systems to econometrics by analogy is currently standard and well-studied, e.g., Kaizoji (2000); Oh and Jeon (2007); Krause and Bornholdt (2012); Bouchaud (2013) and the extensive literature cited therein. The model approach selected here incorporates a third – neutral – state. The following model approach extends and encompasses the existing models. Recently, the model of an ideal agent system – i.e., without interaction of the agents – with three states was analyzed by Börner et al. (2023b). This model approach is used as a starting point and extended by considering interactions between the agents. As an additional model extension, the interaction of two adjoined investors resulting from the unequal states of the agents is also considered. For a better comparison and to clarify the expansion, we adopt the notation used in Börner et al. (2023b).

In physics, three state models are known and well-studied, e.g., Costabile et al. (2014); Butera and Pernici (2018), and are based on the initial, fundamental works of Blume (1966); Capel (1966) and Blume et al. (1971). A further extension of the Ising models in physics is represented by the Potts model class for *q*-states per node in a lattice (Potts, 1952). Here, the interaction of two adjoined nodes in the lattice only counts if they have the same state. To the best of our knowledge, the three-state econometric model needed here has no direct equivalent in physics, and a simple transfer by analogy cannot be made. The model is therefore to be developed from econometric considerations. The following construction of the econometric model follows rules such as those used in quantum field theory when defining the Lagrangian density, see, e.g., Peskin and Schroeder (1995) or in the definition of a Hamiltonian in statistical physics for spin lattices (Isihara, 1971; Amit, 1978; Landau and Lifšic, 1980; Greiner et al., 1995). This systematic conception leads to a model similar to the Blume et al. (1971) model. An essential difference, however, is that no formalism similar to the chemical potential in physics is considered, since here initially the number of investors or the number of shares and, more generally, the number of agents does not change (*phys.*: constant number of particles).

#### 3.3.1. Utility Function

The basis of the model is the definition of a suitable utility function U. When transferring approaches from physics to econometrics, the utility function is usually interpreted as the negative of the Hamiltonian known from physics:  $U = -\mathcal{H}$  (Marsili, 1999; Bazart et al., 2016). Since no Hamiltonian comparable to the econometric problem at hand was found in physics, the appropriate utility function must be constructed. The starting point for this is

the idea of formulating the utility function from the point of view of an observer (market observer, market analyst, researcher, investor) as done by Börner et al. (2023b), who has, e.g., the goal of describing the market and deriving a model of action for a personal investment decision as an investor (agent) in the generalized agent system. Positive utility thus results from being able to capture the market situation with little effort. Accordingly, one possible view is that the utility for the investor lies in how much or little effort in monetary units that agent has to acquire information to describe a certain state. Thus, the approach is based on the interpretation that a certain setting of the other agents (configuration) can mean an increase or a reduction in utility.

We follow Börner et al. (2023b) and define a news environment  $\mathcal{B}$  (*phys.:* field). For example, the news environment for a stock investor could consist of company news on a specific issue. A message environment  $\mathcal{B} = \text{sign}(\mathcal{B})B$  has a basic sentiment  $\text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) = (-1, 0, +1) - \text{indicating}$ , e.g., "bad", "indifferent" and "good" news – and a strength  $B = |\mathcal{B}|$  affecting the agents. Furthermore, for each agent i = 1, ..., N, a discrete variable  $S_i$  is introduced, which maps the fact that the individual agent behaves in conformity with basic sentiment, S = +1, or not in conformity, S = -1. In the present case, we consider a triplet state system and a neutral position – e.g., "hold" – is also taken into account with S = 0, so that, e.g., an indifferent investor attitude is included.

The construction of the utility function now includes all interactions that can affect utility. On the one hand, there are interactions of the agents with the message environment (phys.: particle-field interaction), and on the other hand, there are interactions of the agents among themselves (*phys.*: particle-particle interaction). Depending on the respective configuration, an increase or a reduction in utility must be considered. We stick to the interpretation from Börner et al. (2023b) that an observer can be an investor and thus part of the overall system. For example, if the message field for a stock is positive and investor j buys the stock ( $S_j = +1$ , in conformity), the observer might be satisfied with the first reason as an explanation: Agent j buys the stock because  $\mathcal{B}$  is positive. If investor *j* sells the stock ( $S_j = -1$ , not in conformity), further information must be obtained using resources to explain the observation. In the first case, an increase in utility and, in the second case, a reduction in utility must be considered. Regardless of the message environment, the utility increases when two neighboring agents *i* and *j* behave in the same way and decreases when they behave differently. In the first case, the observer might be satisfied with the first reason for explanation: Investor *i* buys the stock because investor *j* buys the stock (and vice versa). In case of a discrepancy, the investor needs further information for the explanation, and the investor's utility decreases due to the observed configuration.

Accordingly, we can write down the following expression for the utility function:

<i>U</i> =	= +	$\mu B$	$\sum_{i} S_{i}$	Term 1	
	_	$\alpha_1 \mu B$	$\sum_{i} (1 - S_i^2)$	Term 2	
	+	J	$\sum_{\langle ij angle} S_i S_j$	Term 3	(22)
	+	$\alpha_2 J$	$\sum_{\langle ij  angle} (1 - S_i^2)(1 - S_j^2)$	Term 4	
	—	$\alpha_3 J$	$\sum_{\langle ij  angle} (1 - S_i^2) S_j^2$	Term 5	

The sums in Equation (22) can be further evaluated. In doing so, the individual terms (1 to 5) merge. For a better back-interpretation, especially of the parameters, the terms are not further summarized here, and Equation (22) is used as a starting point. Hence, the notation  $\langle ij \rangle$  denotes the summation over adjoining agents  $j = 1, \dots, z$  of an agent  $i = 1, \dots, N$ in the agent system, with  $z \leq N$ , where  $0 < \mu$  measures the contribution of the status "in conformity" or "not in conformity" to the utility in a given message environment. Depending on the research area,  $\mu$  has different names in the literature: willingness to adopt, willingness to pay or idiosyncratic judgment (Sornette and Zhou, 2006; Bouchaud, 2009, 2013; Crescimanna and Di Persio, 2016). In Term 2 in Equation (22), the neutral position – e.g., "hold" in a stock investment process - is considered. In a given message environment, the neutral position causes a fraction  $0 \le \alpha_1 \le 1$  of the effect of the other two positions and is always rated negatively regardless of the basic sentiment,  $sign(\mathcal{B})$ , of the news. Börner et al. (2023b) describe a method of how parameters  $\mu$  and  $\alpha_1$  can be determined in the case of a stock investment by using capital market data. They analyze the example of an investment in stocks of the company BioNTech SE (ISIN US09075V1026) and find the values  $\mu$  and  $\alpha_1$  with ranges shown in Table 7. The parameter 0 < J measures the contribution of a configuration with the same agent behavior to the utility, see, e.g., Bazart et al. (2016). A different valuation can be considered for the neutral position (Term 4) with  $0 \le \alpha_2$ . The configuration of a neutral state to the other states is always considered with a negative contribution (Term 5), and the contribution is also related to J and scaled with  $0 \le \alpha_3$ .

In econometric and sociological applications, the parameters  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  should be very close to +1. Since symmetrical configurations in a system should deliver the same increase in utility,  $\alpha_2$  should be approximately +1. The same applies to asymmetrical configurations. Each of these should cause about the same decrease in utility, and thus,  $\alpha_3$  should be approximately +1. In our further considerations, we concentrate on exactly this case  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) \approx (+1, +1)$  and study the system in the vicinity of these parameter values but also
provide an outlook on the dependency of the system description in the case of values that deviate greatly from +1; see Section 3.3.6. The analysis of market data must provide information on how far  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  deviate from +1 in practice; see Section 3.4.4.

Considering scaling with  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ , the central parameter *J* describes the contribution of the various interactions to the utility. Parameter *J* has different labels depending on the research area, e.g., *degree of willingness to adopt an attitude* (Weidlich, 1971); *willingness of agents to align their actions* (Cont and Bouchaud, 2000); *social pressure or imitation effects* (Michard and Bouchaud, 2005; Borghesi and Bouchaud, 2007; Bouchaud, 2013); *imitation term* (Sornette and Zhou, 2006; Crescimanna and Di Persio, 2016). In statistical physics, *J* is the value of the so-called exchange integral, also known as the Ising constant or coupling constant in some literature (Isihara, 1971; Greiner et al., 1995). Landau and Lifšic (1980, §141 on p. 447) state that *J* determines the energy of interaction of a pair of adjoining dipoles in a lattice. This definition, transferred to econometrics, suggests the above interpretation of measuring the contribution of a certain configuration to utility.

By adding the neutral state, Equation (22) expands the existing and well-studied model framework in econometrics. With Terms 1 and 2, the ideal agent system from Börner et al. (2023b) is taken into account, and Terms 1 and 3 include the standard Ising system with two possible states, see, e.g., Bornholdt (2001); Sornette and Zhou (2006); Harras et al. (2012); Bouchaud (2013); Vincenzo et al. (2014); Takaishi (2015); Bazart et al. (2016); Giraldo-Barreto and Restrepo (2021). Existing approaches with three state models, e.g., Iori (1999) or Murota and Inoue (2014), are also extended. In both cases, e.g., the interaction term between the neutral position and the active positions is neglected but considered in our approach. Moreover, our measured data in Sec. 3.4.2 do not suggest that we have a structure-variable system, in the sense that the coupling parameter varies discretely, as in Murota and Inoue (2014).

# Limits and Extensions

Many extensions of the previously defined utility function Equation (22) are conceivable and at the same time show the limitations of what is considered here.

In the present case, the mainstream literature is followed, and the parameter  $\mu$  is set the same for all agents. Distributions  $\rho(\mu)$  of the parameter or individual settings  $\mu_i$  are considered in special extensions and applications, e.g., in sociophysics (Foley, 1999; Marsili, 1999; Anderson et al., 2001; Castellano et al., 2009). We focus here on the basic dynamics of the generalized agent system and consider such extensions in later research.

The same applies to the parameter *J*. Again, we follow the mainstream and assume *J* to be equal for all agents (Weidlich, 1971; Nadal et al., 2003; Laciana and Rovere, 2011; Bazart et al., 2016). Distributions of the parameter or individual settings  $J_{ij}$  (Durlauf, 1996;

Crescimanna and Di Persio, 2016), e.g., for modeling asymmetric utility changes (*phys.:* anisotropy) depending on which agent is in a certain configuration, can be considered in later research.

We focus on a square lattice or, more generally, on hypercube structures to model the system of agents, and the different configurations are set in single and binary form, e.g.,  $U \sim S_i$  (Term 1) or  $U \sim S_i S_j$  (Term 3). Hence, we follow the majority of the literature (Iori, 1999; Bornholdt, 2001; Takaishi, 2005; Sornette and Zhou, 2006; Sieczka and Holyst, 2008; Crescimanna and Di Persio, 2016; Zubillaga et al., 2022). Higher-order model extensions, e.g.,  $U \sim S_i S_j S_k$ for hexagonal lattice structures or more complex lattice structures  $U \sim S_{i_1} S_{i_2} S_{i_3} \dots S_{i_n}$ , are not considered here. Thus, the evaluation of such structures and configurations remains for further research.

Finally, a sixth term  $U \sim \alpha_4 B^2$  with a positive  $\alpha_4$  could be considered (*phys.:* field-field interaction). This extra term models the fact that a news environment already contributes utility and that the utility increases the stronger the news is. Thus, when considering the susceptibility (Bouchaud, 2013; Zhang and Li, 2015; Börner et al., 2023b), additional terms  $\chi \sim \alpha_4 B$  should appear, and  $\alpha_4$  should have to be estimated by using market data.

In addition, a constant utility  $U_0$  cand be added (*phys.:* ground state energy) that evaluates a specific reference state of the system of agents. In Section 3.3.3, we use Equation (28) to consider Boltzmann-Gibbs distributions (Greiner et al., 1995; Marsili, 1999; Kaizoji, 2000; Anderson et al., 2001; Bouchaud, 2013; Börner et al., 2023b) that can be interpreted as logit rule (Bouchaud, 2013). For a given message environment, i.e.,  $\mathcal{B} = \text{const.}$ , the additional sixth term  $U \sim \alpha_4 B^2$ , such as  $U_0$ , should be constant and should continue to cancel; therefore, it is not considered further here. Research that focuses directly on utility function analysis might consider such additional terms.

#### 3.3.2. Mean-Field Approximation

The utility function Equation (22) cannot be evaluated in general for arbitrary underlying network structures of agents (*phys.:* spin-lattice) with respect to macroscopic variables, e.g., the surplus of buyers in a stock investment (*phys.:* magnetization). Special solutions of similar problems for one-dimensional (Ising, 1925) and two-dimensional (Onsager, 1944) lattice structures are known from physics. As in physics, in econometrics, solutions to higher-dimensional problems are usually determined by approximating a mean field around an agent (Weidlich, 1971; Galam et al., 1982; Brock and Durlauf, 2001; Gordon et al., 2005; Nadal et al., 2005; Michard and Bouchaud, 2005; Gordon et al., 2009; Bouchaud, 2013). The idea goes back to Weiss (1907, *phys.:* molecular field approximation) and is now part of the standard repertoire in physics (Isihara, 1971; Amit, 1978; Landau and Lifšic, 1980; Greiner et al., 1995) and econometrics, see, e.g., the research papers just cited above. The main idea

of the mean-field approximation is that the state of an agent is influenced by the mean field of the states of its adjoining agents.

We follow Weiss (1907) in his original approach and apply the mean-field approximation to Terms 3, 4 and 5 of the utility function Equation (22). Therefore, the mean field of the states of the adjoining agents is approximated by the mean field of the whole agent system. This results in surcharges or deductions for Terms 1 and 2, which we specify and interpret.

At the beginning, similar to Blume et al. (1971), with  $\langle x \rangle = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} x_i$ , the following mean values are introduced. In the system of agents, the mean attitude ("in conformity" or "not in conformity") of the agents is  $m = \langle S \rangle$ , with  $-1 \le m \le +1$ , and the mean neutral position is  $m_0 = 1 - \langle S^2 \rangle$ , with  $0 \le m_0 \le +1$ . If z denotes the average number of adjoining agents, then the utility function Equation (22) can be written in mean-field approximation:

$$U = +\mu B_1 \sum_i S_i - \alpha_1 \mu B_2 \sum_i (1 - S_i^2)$$
(23)

With the following effective message environments (*phys.*: effective fields):

$$B_1 = B + \frac{1}{2} \frac{J}{\mu} z \ m \tag{24}$$

$$B_2 = B - \frac{1}{2} \frac{J}{\mu} z \left( \frac{\alpha_2 + \alpha_3}{\alpha_1} m_0 - \frac{\alpha_3}{\alpha_1} \right)$$
(25)

If it is considered that all parameters  $(\mu, J, z, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$  are positive, then according to Equations (24) and (25), the following interpretation suggests itself.

A surplus of agents in the state "in conformity" (m > 0) acts as an additional message, reinforcing the message environment for agents who are not in the neutral position. Depending on the empirically determined fractions  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ , the average of the agents in the neutral position  $m_0$  has a strengthening or weakening effect on the message environment for agents who are in the neutral position.

# Limits and Extensions

The number z of adjoining agents (*phys.*: coordination number) turns out to be a significant variable. Behind this, for example, when making an investment decision is the question of how many other investors are consulted on average to secure or substantiate one's own opinion. In practice, this number should have a wide range  $0 \le z < O(10^2)$ .

The question of how investor networks or, more generally, information networks are structured has increasingly become the focus of economic research (Emmert-Streib et al., 2017). Some studies model the transmission of information between investors by means of direct communication (Stein, 2008; Han and Yang, 2013; Andrei and Cujean, 2017). However, an empirical approach to the question is more complicated, as direct communication between investors is rarely documented. Instead, indirect proxies, such as correlated transactions (Ozsoylev et al., 2014; Baltakys et al., 2021), are used to make statements about the characteristics of investor networks in the context of network theory (Ahern, 2017). Both small values for zwith six contacts on a three-dimensional square lattice (Guimaraes and Lima, 2021), e.g., in the team of a smaller investment company, and numbers of contacts in the order of  $O(10^2)$ via social media are realistic due to the high level of interconnectedness on the internet. Thus, z is not only an individually varying quantity but can also be modeled well by means of distributions. The Empirical Investor Network based on 2005 data from the Istanbul Stock Exchange corresponds to the order of  $O(10^2)$  with a median number of 159 links (Ozsoylev et al., 2014). Studies on social networks that examine the average number of links arrive at similar figures (Ugander et al., 2011; Hampton et al., 2011). Guimaraes and Lima (2021) studied a three-dimensional Ising system in the context of the financial market and found that modeling with multiple dimensions or a higher number of neighboring investors better corresponds to the properties of empirical data. Investors with multiple connections are therefore more representative. Nevertheless, to the best of our knowledge, precise investigations on the magnitude of z have not yet been carried out in econometrics. Thus, in the following, we use our own estimate of z = 12 to investigate the basic dynamics of the generalized agent system. This estimate is based on the rarely found, nonrepresentative references to the size of investment committees. In Section 3.3.6, we see that the dynamics are essentially determined by the product Jz. The latter can be determined empirically, i.e., the previously made assumption does not affect the dynamics but rather the estimate of J, provided z is large enough, as the following suggests.

As a further extension, it is conceivable that the mean field of the states of the adjoining agents effective per agent *i* shows fluctuations and does not correspond to the mean field of the entire agent system. Consequently, these fluctuations could be considered in the form  $m_i = m + \delta m_i$ . It is known from physics that as the number *z* increases, the mean-field approximation rapidly improves and is already a very good approximation for  $z \ge 12$  (Greiner et al., 1995). The influence of fluctuations diminishes in the limit  $z \to \infty$  and can ultimately be ignored (Amit, 1978). However, if very small values of *z* are to be taken into account, discrepancies between theory and practice are likely to appear.

#### 3.3.3. Canonical Partition Function and Probability of Occupancy of the States

The canonical partition function Z is to be applied and calculated if a system of agents is not to be viewed in isolation but in interaction with an environment (Isihara, 1971; Huang, 1987; Greiner et al., 1995). This is the case, for example, with investors in stocks of a company. The stocks themselves are part of an overall market, and their development is influenced

by this. The interaction described above is generally described by an exchange variable *T* (*phys.:* temperature). In other strands of literature, *T* is also referred to as *amount of noise*, *irrationality, degree of randomness in agents' decisions*, or *collective climate parameter*; see, e.g., Weidlich (1971); Kaizoji (2000); Oh and Jeon (2007); Krause and Bornholdt (2012); Bouchaud (2013); Crescimanna and Di Persio (2016). In the example of a stock, as part of an overall market, most of the literature assumes that the volatility in the financial sector is this exchange variable:  $T = \sigma$  (Marsili, 1999). In the following, volatility is used as a generic term for *T*.

The introduction of the quantity  $\beta = 1/kT$  (*phys.:* inverse temperature) with a suitable constant *k* (*phys.:* Boltzmann constant) simplifies the representation of the partition function *Z* and scales the quantities in desired units (Kaizoji, 2000; Oh and Jeon, 2007; Krause and Bornholdt, 2012; Bouchaud, 2013). The constant *k* is not a model parameter but defines the unit of measurement (Shannon, 1948) and is fixed as in Börner et al. (2023b) with k = 1 USD for the following analyses.

The canonical partition function is defined as the sum over all configurations  $(S_1, \ldots, S_N)$ :

$$Z(T, B, N) = \sum_{(S_1, ..., S_N)} \exp(\beta U(S_1, ..., S_N)).$$
(26)

In Equation (26), the Boltzmann factors that depend on the utility function are summed. The utility function U in turn depends on the configuration  $(S_1, \ldots, S_N)$ . The configurations are functions of macroscopic variables, e.g., volatility T, so that the canonical partition function connects macroscopic quantities with microscopic states (Isihara, 1971). This approach leads to the so-called Boltzmann-Gibbs distribution specifying the probabilities of discrete configurations (Greiner et al., 1995; Marsili, 1999; Kaizoji, 2000; Anderson et al., 2001). In econometrics, this distribution corresponds to the well-known logit rule (Bouchaud, 2013).

The mean-field approximation from Section 3.3.2 led to a system of N noninteracting agents, which are influenced by effective message environments  $B_1$  and  $B_2$ . In the case of noninteracting agents, the overall system can be viewed as an ideal agent system, and the relationship  $Z(T, B, N) = [Z(T, B, 1)]^N$  can be used to determine the canonical partition function (Börner et al., 2023b). Considering that each agent can be in three different states, it follows that:

$$Z(T, B, 1) = \underbrace{\exp(-\beta\mu B_1)}_{\substack{S=-1\\\text{non-conform\\to \mathcal{B}}}} + \underbrace{\exp(-\beta\alpha_1\mu B_2)}_{\substack{S=0\\\text{neutral}}} + \underbrace{\exp(+\beta\mu B_1)}_{\substack{S=+1\\\text{conform\\to \mathcal{B}}}}.$$
(27)

The occupation probabilities (*phys.*: Boltzmann-Gibbs distribution) for the three states S =

(-1, 0, +1) follow immediately from this:

$$p_{-} = \frac{\exp(-\beta\mu B_{1})}{\exp(-\beta\mu B_{1}) + \exp(-\beta\alpha_{1}\mu B_{2}) + \exp(+\beta\mu B_{1})}$$

$$p_{0} = \frac{\exp(-\beta\alpha_{1}\mu B_{2})}{\exp(-\beta\mu B_{1}) + \exp(-\beta\alpha_{1}\mu B_{2}) + \exp(+\beta\mu B_{1})}$$

$$p_{+} = \frac{\exp(+\beta\mu B_{1})}{\exp(-\beta\mu B_{1}) + \exp(-\beta\alpha_{1}\mu B_{2}) + \exp(+\beta\mu B_{1})}$$
(28)

Hence, the occupation numbers are:

$$(N_{-} \ N_{0} \ N_{+}) = (p_{-} \ p_{0} \ p_{+}) \times N$$
(29)

with  $N_{-}$  resp.  $N_{+}$  being the number of agents nonconforming resp. conforming to the message environment  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $N_{0}$  being the number of agents in the neutral position.

## 3.3.4. Model of the generalized agent system

In Section 3.3.2, the mean attitude  $m = \langle S \rangle$  and the mean neutral position  $m_0 = 1 - \langle S^2 \rangle$  of the system of agents were introduced. With Equation (29), the macroscopic state variables  $(m, m_0)$  can be expressed by the occupation numbers, Equation (29), and then, by the occupation probabilities, Equation (28). For the mean attitude, this results in:

$$m = \frac{N_{+}}{N} - \frac{N_{-}}{N}$$

$$= p_{+} - p_{-}$$

$$= \frac{\exp(+\beta\mu B_{1}) - \exp(-\beta\mu B_{1})}{\exp(-\beta\mu B_{1}) + \exp(-\beta\alpha_{1}\mu B_{2}) + \exp(+\beta\mu B_{1})}$$

$$= \frac{2\sinh(+\beta\mu B_{1})}{2\cosh(+\beta\mu B_{1}) + \exp(-\beta\alpha_{1}\mu B_{2})}.$$
(30)

Similarly, for the neutral position with  $m_0 = N_0/N = p_0$ :

$$m_0 = \frac{\exp(-\beta\alpha_1\mu B_2)}{2\cosh(+\beta\mu B_1) + \exp(-\beta\alpha_1\mu B_2)}.$$
(31)

With the effective message environments  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  defined in Equations (24) and (25).

# Findings, Limits and Extensions

In mean-field approximation, the model of the generalized agent system with three possible states for each agent consists of the coupled, implicit system of Equations (30) and (31). If

the model parameters  $\mu$ , J,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  in Equation (22) are known, the external variables  $\mathcal{B}$  and T are specified, and the system of equations supplies the possible macroscopic state variables m and  $m_0$  as solutions. The model parameters are to be estimated for a concrete problem based on a series of measurements. For the example of a stock investor, it was recently shown by Börner et al. (2023b) how  $\alpha_1$  and  $\mu$  can be determined from capital market data. In Section 3.4, by using the same example of a stock investment, it is shown how the remaining parameter can also be determined from capital market data. With the restriction that only the principle can be explained for  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  due to the small database.

In contrast to the standard Ising system with two possible states (Foley, 1999; Marsili, 1999; Bouchaud, 2013) and one implicit equation, an additional implicit equation must be taken into account for three states. This raises the question, under what external conditions does the solution presented here provide the solutions of the standard Ising system? This is the case when Equation (31) returns the value  $m_0 = 0$  as a solution. The latter can be achieved when  $\mathcal{B}$  or  $\beta$  or both tend to infinity. In the case of a stock investment, this means an infinitely strong news environment or the volatility of the stock becomes zero. Both are extreme cases that are hardly observable in practice, so we can generally assume  $m_0 > 0$  if a third state is possible for the agent.

For  $0 < m_0 \le 1$  Equation (31) can be rearranged, and the following relationship is calculated:

$$\exp(-\beta \alpha_1 \mu B_2) = 2 \frac{m_0}{1 - m_0} \cosh(+\beta \mu B_1).$$
(32)

Equation (32) inserted into Equation (30) results in:

$$m = (1 - m_0) \tanh(+\beta \mu B_1).$$
 (33)

where  $B_1$  is the effective message environment defined in Equation (24). Except for the factor  $(1 - m_0)$ , this equation is identical to the equation of the standard Ising system, see, e.g., Greiner et al. (1995, §18, Eq. (18.24)). This also shows that in the limit case  $m_0 \rightarrow 0$  described above, the solutions of the standard Ising system with two possible states for the agents are described with the model presented here. For a three-state system modeled with a two-state model, this has the dramatic consequence that predictions may be inaccurate or wrong. In Section 3.3.6, we identify and investigate a discrepancy as such an inaccuracy. Therefore, if, in practice, a third, neutral state – an investor's "hold" position – is possible for the agents, then the two-state model is presumably not suitable for description in general.

This conclusion was obtained by using the econometric model in the mean-field approximation. As an extension, it remains to be checked whether this conclusion also applies to investigations that do not take approximations into account or whether there are further consequences that are not recognizable in the context of the mean-field approximation.

#### 3.3.5. Realizable Macroscopic States

Depending on constant external variables  $\mathcal{B}$  and T, the coupled, implicit system of Equations (30) and (31) in some cases provide a sheaf of solutions for the macroscopic variables m and  $m_0$ . This raises the question of which solutions are realized and observable in practice.

A standard procedure in physics for evaluating possible solutions is the analysis of the free energy F = E - TS. Here, E can be calculated with the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  for a specific configuration and reflects the (internal) energy of the physical system under consideration. Furthermore, the free energy depends on the temperature T and entropy S of the system. In a very simplified way, the following can be summarized: In a physical system left to itself, internal processes take place under constant external conditions and in exchange with a heat bath until the free energy is minimal. More directly: The system simultaneously tries to minimize its energy and maximize its entropy. For a more precise specification in physics, see Landau and Lifšic (1980); Huang (1987); Greiner et al. (1995), for example.

In econometrics, the negative utility function corresponds to energy and the volatility to temperature in physics (Marsili, 1999; Bazart et al., 2016). In the present case, the entropy of the generalized agent system is simply

$$\bar{\mathcal{S}} = -k \sum_{i=1}^{3} p_i \log_3 p_i \tag{34}$$

with the probabilities defined in Equation (28), see, e.g., Börner et al. (2023b) and the unit of measurement k (Shannon, 1948). Here, entropy measures, on average, the uncertainty about an agent's state in trit (**tr**inary dig**it**, cf. Brusentsov and Alvarez (2011)) as units of information needed to specify the agent's state.

In this way, a quantity equivalent to the free energy in physics, the gross utility per agent  $\overline{\mathcal{U}} = \overline{\mathcal{U}} + T\overline{S}$ , can be analyzed in econometrics, where  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$  corresponds to the average (net) utility per agent:  $U = N\overline{U}$ . Conjecturally, an econometric system tends toward a state with maximum gross utility. In Section 3.4.4, we examine and evaluate the solutions of the coupled, implicit system of Equations (30) and (31). Therefore, we also consider the gross utility. The results suggest that in practice, under constant external conditions, those macroscopic states can be observed where maximum utility and maximum entropy can be determined. Hence, a maximum of  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ .

#### 3.3.6. Measurement Equations for Parameter J.

Börner et al. (2023b) uses the example of an investment in stocks of a company to show how the parameters  $\mu$  and  $\alpha_1$  can be determined by using time series of price developments. In this section, equations are derived for the empirical determination of the remaining model parameters:  $J, \alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ . This means that the interaction Terms 3, 4 and 5 in Equation (22) must be examined more closely. For this purpose, the limiting case is considered where the news environment tends toward zero from positive values:  $\mathcal{B} \to 0^+$ . Thus, the strength of the message environment becomes immeasurably small,  $|\mathcal{B}| = B \approx 0$ , and the only information that remains is the direction, here positive:  $\operatorname{sign}(\mathcal{B}) = +1$ . In this consideration, the three states of the agents ("conform", "neutral" and "nonconform") can still be distinguished. Let us note that the consideration defined thus far can be carried out in the same way for the limit  $\mathcal{B} \to 0^-$ .

To simplify the equations, a volatility  $T_c = \frac{Jz}{2k}$  (*phys.*: Curie temperature) is introduced for convenience, and with B = 0,  $m_0 > 0$  and  $x = \frac{T_c}{T}m$ , it follows from Equation (33):

$$\frac{1}{1-m_0}\frac{T}{T_c}x = \tanh(x). \tag{35}$$

As long as the prefactor  $\frac{1}{1-m_0} \frac{T}{T_c}$  is greater than 1, x = 0 is determined as the solution of Equation (35), i.e., m = 0. If the prefactor is less than 1, several solutions are determined depending on the volatility T and the proportion of neutral positions  $m_0$ . If the volatility  $T \gg T_c$  is successively reduced, a critical point (*phys.*: Curie point) is exceeded, and the prefactor becomes 1, at which the macroscopic state variable m of the agent system changes spontaneously (*phys.*: spontaneous magnetization). This critical point is described by a critical volatility  $\tilde{T_c}$ . At the critical point, a transition from m = 0 to  $m \neq 0$  takes place (*phys.*: phase transition). Depending on  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ , a defined proportion of neutral positions  $m_0^c$  is observable at this critical point. From the condition that the prefactor in Equation (35) is equal to 1, the following relationship can then be established:

$$\tilde{T}_c = (1 - m_0^c) T_c.$$
(36)

With  $m_0^c > 0$ , the critical point is shifted to lower volatilities  $\tilde{T}_c$  compared to those of the standard Ising system. In the latter, the critical point is described by  $T_c$  and not by  $\tilde{T}_c$ . This means that in a system with the neutral position as a possible third state for the agents, the phase transition from m = 0 to  $m \neq 0$  should in practice only be observable with smaller volatilities. This suggests that the agents in the neutral position have a braking effect on the overall system with respect to the occurrence of the phase transition (*phys.*: supercooling). If

the model of a two-state system is incorrectly used for a three-state system, this effect cannot be observed, and the dynamics can be misinterpreted.

With Equation (36), similar to the equations for the standard Ising system in physics (Greiner et al., 1995; Kittel and McEuen, 1996), the measurement equation for J or the product Jz in econometrics can be defined:

$$J = \frac{2k\tilde{T}_c}{z(1 - m_0^c)}.$$
(37)

The proportion of neutral positions  $m_0^c$  is specified shortly. If this proportion is known, the parameter *J* can be determined by measuring the critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  with *z* known or guessed. Section 2.4 shows an example of how this can be done.

In the case considered here with B = 0, the condition m = 0 applies at the critical point with  $T = \tilde{T}_c$ . According to Equation (24), it follows that  $B_1 = 0$  and thus  $\cosh(0) = 1$  in Equation (31). Finally, with Equation (36) inserted in Equation (31) and after some algebraic transformations, the implicit equation for  $m_0^c$  follows:

$$m_0^c = \frac{1}{1 + 2\exp\left(A(m_0^c, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)\right)}.$$
(38)

With the abbreviation:

$$A(m_0^c, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) = \frac{\alpha_3 - (\alpha_2 + \alpha_3)m_0^c}{1 - m_0^c}.$$
(39)

If the parameters  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  are known, e.g., from fundamental considerations of the utility function Equation (22), then the proportion of neutral positions  $m_0^c$  at the critical point  $T = \tilde{T}_c$  is determined as the solution to the implicit Equation (38).

Depending on  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ , the implicit Equation (38) has up to three solutions. This points to the possibility of three phase transitions of the generalized agent system under consideration. Knowing  $m_0^c$ , Equation (36) can then be used to calculate the volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  at the critical point.

It is easy to see that for  $\alpha_2 \ge 0$ , Equation (38) always has at least the solution  $m_0^c = 1$  with this the critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c = 0$  follows. For  $\alpha_2 = 0$ , there is a second solution depending on  $\alpha_3$ , i.e.,  $m_0^c = (1 + 2 \exp(\alpha_3))^{-1}$ . Specifically, for  $\alpha_3 = 0$ , this leads to  $m_0^c = \frac{1}{3}$  and  $\tilde{T}_c = \frac{1}{3}T_c$ .

A variation of the parameters in the region  $D = [0.00, 2.00]^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  shows that – apart from  $m_0^c = 1$  – further solutions for  $m_0^c$  do not exist for all parameter combinations  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) \in D$ . However, the analyses also reveal that in subset  $D' = [0.00, 1.35] \times [0.65, 2.00] \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  around  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) = (+1, +1)$ , three solutions  $m_0^c$  can always be found. For the special case  $\alpha_2 = 1$ , considered in Section 3.4, even down to the lower limit  $\bar{\alpha}_3 = 1 - \ln(2) = 0.3068528...$ , with  $m_0^c = 0.5$  (multiplicity two) and  $\tilde{T}_c = \frac{1}{2}T_c$ . Let us note that the general boundary condition  $\bar{\alpha}_3 = g(\bar{\alpha}_2)$  for domain D' is nonlinear and leads to different values of  $\frac{1}{3} < m_0^c < \frac{3}{5}$  with multiplicity two as solutions.

For choice  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) = (+1, +1)$  as the anchor point for further studies, Table 6 summarizes all solutions  $m_0^c$  of Equation (38) and gives the corresponding factors for Equation (36) to determine the critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$ .

Number	$m_0^c$	$1 - m_0^c$
1	1.0	0.0
2	0.7281387	0.2718612
3	0.1882859	0.8117141

**Table 6:** Critical Points for  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) = (+1, +1)$ .

An example with the phase transitions noted in Table 6 is considered in Section 3.4.4. Figure 7 shows phase transition numbers 2 and 3 as a pitchfork bifurcation at the various critical volatilities in the upper image. Phase transition number 1 is at T = 0 and cannot be resolved graphically any further.

A potential decision criterion as to which phase transition can be observed in practice may be the gross utility  $\bar{\mathcal{U}}$  introduced in Section 3.3.5. In Section 3.4.4, this is discussed in more detail.

In Section 3.3.7, the phase transitions for  $m_0^c \neq 1$  are analyzed in more detail, and the question of how the parameters  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  can in principle be estimated from measured data is also addressed.

#### Findings, Limits and Extensions

In general,  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  are intrinsic parameters of the generalized agent system and reflect the relative evaluation of configurations, one of which is the neutral position, versus configurations consisting only of active positions, compare Equation (22). Thus, the parameters depend on the specific application and must be examined more closely in their context.

For investigations in other fields of application, the assumption  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) \approx (+1, +1)$  can serve as a starting point, and the behavior described in the following sections can be observed. However, if the parameters deviate significantly from +1, the system behaves completely differently. As an example, the cases  $\alpha_2 = 1$  and  $\alpha_3 \rightarrow 0$  were examined in more detail in preliminary studies. As  $\alpha_3$  approaches the limit  $\bar{\alpha}_3 = 0.3068528$ , the distance between the pitchfork bifurcations shown in Figure 7 decreases, and they push together. For  $\alpha_3 = 0.50 \pm 0.01$ , the curvature behavior of the right bifurcation changes significantly and is inverted. If  $\alpha_3 = \bar{\alpha}_3$ , both bifurcations lie indistinguishably on top of each other

and form a vertex. If  $\alpha_3$  is further reduced, the vertex dissolves, and the system can show a sudden noncontinuous increase in the macroscopic state variable *m*, indicating a phase transition of order one. Whether this behavior can actually be observed in practice must be clarified in individual cases by means of comprehensive, systematic investigations. For the first indication, the gross utility can also be examined here.

The identification of states that can be realized in practice and the deeper meaning of the parameters  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3)$  is revealed from the context of the application and cannot be specified here for all conceivable cases. This and a comprehensive analysis of what the previously found limits mean in each individual case is not examined further here and is reserved for subsequent studies.

# 3.3.7. Phase Transition and Critical Index

As before,  $\mathcal{B} \to 0^+$  is assumed below, and the phase transition at the critical point  $T = \tilde{T}_c$ for  $m_0^c \neq 1$  and  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) \approx (+1, +1)$  is examined in more detail. To do this, Equation (36) is substituted into Equation (35):

$$\frac{1 - m_0^c}{1 - m_0} \frac{T}{\tilde{T}_c} x = \tanh(x).$$
(40)

At the critical point,  $m \approx 0$  holds. The right-hand side of Equation (40) can thus be expanded in the vicinity of  $x \approx 0$  (Greiner et al., 1995):  $\tanh(x) = x - \frac{1}{3}x^3 + \frac{2}{15}x^5 + \dots$  After rearranging and factoring out the Taylor series up to the cubic order, the following expression is calculated:

$$0 = x \underbrace{\left(1 - \frac{1 - m_0^c}{1 - m_0} \frac{T}{\tilde{T}_c} - \frac{1}{3} x^2\right)}_{\stackrel{!}{=}0}$$
(41)

If  $m_0 \approx m_o^c$ , the following Taylor series can be determined:

$$\frac{1 - m_0^c}{1 - m_0} = 1 + \frac{m_0 - m_0^c}{1 - m_0^c} + \frac{(m_0 - m_0^c)^2}{(1 - m_0^c)^2} + \dots$$
(42)

At the critical point,  $\Delta m_0 = m_0 - m_0^c$  is very small, and the 0th order Taylor expansion can be used in the brackets of Equation (41). If  $x = \frac{T_c}{T}m$  is back-substituted, the behavior of *m* for  $T \to \tilde{T}_c^-$  is described by the approximate equation

$$|m| = (1 - m_0^c) \sqrt{3} \frac{T}{\tilde{T}_c} \left| 1 - \frac{T}{\tilde{T}_c} \right|^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(43)

From data collected near the critical point reflecting the behavior m(T), both  $\tilde{T}_c$  and  $m_0^c$  can be estimated by using Equation (43). Apart from the prefactor  $(1 - m_0^c)$ , Equation (43) describing the behavior near the critical point is identical to the corresponding equation of the standard Ising system, see, e.g., Greiner et al. (1995, §18, Equation (18.28)). The critical index can be read from Equation (43) and is equal to  $\frac{1}{2}$ , which is also equal to the corresponding index of the standard Ising system (Isihara, 1971). Since the macroscopic variable *m* is continuously changing at  $T = \tilde{T}_c$ , the phase transition is of order 2, similar to the standard Ising system (Greiner et al., 1995). Let us note that Equation (43) applies to both phase transitions specified with numbers 2 and 3 in Table 6.

# Limits and Extensions

If Equation (43) is used to estimate  $\tilde{T}_c$  and  $m_0^c$  from the data and one parameter  $\alpha_2$  or  $\alpha_3$  is known, then the implicit Equation (38) can be used to calculate the other parameter, which also compares the discussions given in Section 3.3.6 and Section 3.4.4.

One way to determine both parameters  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  at the same time is to consider the curvatures of m(T) near the critical point in more detail and compare Figures 6 and 7 for  $\mathcal{B} = 0$  as an illustration of the curvature near the critical point. For this purpose, the 1st order is also considered in Equation (42) in the Taylor series. Then, from the implicit Equation (31) for  $\mathcal{B} = 0$ , an approximation equation for  $\Delta m_0$  depending on the volatility T is determined. Both can be used in Equation (41). After transformation, an additional factor (not shown here) is calculated in Equation (43), which explicitly depends on  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ . Thus, the values  $\tilde{T}_c, m_0^c, \alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  can then be estimated from data  $(T_i, m_i)$  with  $i = 1, \ldots, M$  collected near the critical point.

How well the two model parameters  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  can be determined from data with this outlined procedure is not investigated further and is the subject of subsequent research. The empirical investigation in Section 3.4 shows that despite a large dataset, with  $M \sim O(10^5)$ , only a few data points indicate a spontaneous transition  $m \neq 0$ ; see Figure 6. Furthermore, the curvature behavior cannot be reliably determined and evaluated due to scattering. Thus, in practice, the curvature behavior in the vicinity of the critical point can probably be modeled only with significantly larger datasets.

With very large amounts of data, which reflect the curvature behavior near the critical point in great detail, Equation (43) can also be used to detect possible deviations from the critical index  $\frac{1}{2}$  if this is considered a free fitting parameter. Such investigations correspond to analyses in physics that, e.g., focus on the detection of model inaccuracies due to the mean-field approximation, compare, e.g., Amit (1978); Greiner et al. (1995).

A further limit to the applicability of Equation (43) can be seen in the following. If the parameters  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  deviate significantly from +1, the curvature near the critical point may

not be correctly modeled by Equation (43). For example, for  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) = (+1, +0.3068528)$ , the right pitchfork bifurcation in Figure 7 inverts and is not described by Equation (43) due to the constraint  $T \rightarrow \tilde{T}_c^-$ . Thus, in this individual case, e.g., an extended analysis based on the overall model Equation (30) and (31) is required to describe the phase transition more precisely.

# 3.4. Application

The theoretical model from Section 3.3 is applicable to empirical examples in which a large number of involved agents can each individually choose among three alternatives. As an application, in this section, we consider the example of the financial market where Nshares of a single firm can be traded by a collection of agents or investors. As in Börner et al. (2023b), we normalize that investors trade one share per transaction. Each investor has the opportunity to choose among three trading options: to buy a share, to sell it or to hold it. The different states of the investors as well as the configurations of neighboring investors each influence the utility calculus of the market observer, who derives positive utility from explaining the market without additional cost or effort (cf. Section 3.3.1). As described in Section 3.3.1, the market observer can also be the investor, which is assumed for the sake of simplicity in the following. In this application, the utility is measured in USD for investors as a nonincurred cost for more information explaining a specific configuration. The unitless numbers of different configurations are included in the utility function Equation (22), so that the prefactors  $\mu$  and J in the utility function have the unit USD. The application of a general model to a concrete example requires the correct transfer of all model variables. Since a procedure is used in the following to estimate the model parameters empirically, the transfer is not merely abstract but shows how the variables are to be determined using capital market data. At the same time, this example provides possible guidance on how to determine model parameters in other applications. With the results and findings of Börner et al. (2023b), the experimental setup presented here to determine the parameter J is the completion of the empirical application of the overall model to the capital market.

In Börner et al. (2023b), the model parameters  $\alpha_1$  and  $\mu$  are identified by using a design in which the couplings between agents do not operate. If the coupling parameter *J* contained in Terms 3, 4 and 5 is to be measured, Terms 1 and 2 from Equation (22) must be "switched off" as the idiosyncratic part of the model.

After the coupling parameter *J* is determined, the phenomenology of the model is presented by using simulations. In addition, the practical applicability of the model is discussed, showing how risk assessments can be performed with the model, for example, by estimating one-step-ahead price losses.

#### 3.4.1. Determining the Model Parameter J – Experimental Set-up

Before the empirical setup and the data are presented in detail in the following, the empirical strategy is briefly outlined. If market situations are found where no unique message exists, i.e.,  $\mathcal{B} \approx 0$ , then Terms 1 and 2 of Equation (22) become zero. Furthermore, if the capital market is still in dynamic equilibrium, i.e., volatility  $T \approx \text{const.}$ , for a time period, then conditions are found that allow an empirical determination of J. With these market conditions, the volatility T, critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  and trade potential m must be measured so that the measurement Equation (37) can be used to determine the parameter J.

The critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  must be determined under idealized specifications by using capital market data. With the following procedure, these conditions are considered and implemented:

- 1. Periods of constant volatility *T*, when the market is in dynamic equilibrium, are identified by specifications regarding the rate of change of volatility. The assumption is that in dynamic equilibrium, no fundamental information leads to sharp price movements, so that  $\mathcal{B} \approx 0^+$ .
- 2. Next, the mean attitude *m* from Equation (33) is introduced as the trading potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$ , with the message field  $\mathcal{B}$  indicating whether it is a buy or sell potential. Since  $\mathcal{B} \approx 0^+$  is assumed,  $\bar{N}_{pot} = m$  (buyer surplus). The empirical trading potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  is calculated as in Vikram and Sinha (2011).
- 3. Given the market conditions just described, *T* and *m* are determined. The goal is to find the bifurcation point in Figure 6, evaluate it, and perform the parameterization of the model from Section 3.3.
- 4. A recursive procedure with rolling windows is used to extract the optimal section of data points around the bifurcation point that contains the maximum bandwidth of trade potential *m* and at the same time has the smallest window width. The average of the volatility contained in this window is identified as the critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  (*phys.*: Curie temperature).
- 5. The critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  is used to calculate the parameter *J* according to the measurement Equation (37).

# 3.4.2. Data and Transfer of the Model Parameters

To complete the empirical research, the same example is studied as in Börner et al. (2023b). Thus, we also use the stock of the pharmaceutical company BioNTech SE as an example, accessing minute data from the American Stock Exchange NASDAQ via a Bloomberg terminal for the period from 2021-08-01 to 2022-09-30 (Bloomberg code: BNTX UW). In addition, we use minute data on the S&P 500 and NASDAQ 100 stock indices, also via the Bloomberg

terminal and for the same period, to control for overall market trends. This results in a total of 91848 data points for each security.

## News Sentiment $\mathcal{B}$

As described in Section 3.3.1, there is an external message field, or news sentiment  $\mathcal{B}$ , to which investors' decisions or states S are aligned. This news sentiment can be companyrelated news that has price-influencing potential. In principle, it is possible for  $\mathcal{B}$  to take values between -1 and +1 (Börner et al., 2023b), but in this section, we focus on a special case and assume that no unique message exists; therefore, the strength of the message field is positive but immeasurably small and very close to 0, i.e.,  $|\mathcal{B}| = B \approx 0$  and sign $(\mathcal{B}) = +1$ . For example, observing a persistent, tiny positive trend in a stock might be viewed as minimally positive news. This means that the three states of an agent, "nonconform" or "conform" to the message environment and the "neutral" position, remain distinguishable. In this setting, e.g., the agent's "conform" state means that the investor is potentially buying the stock. Thus, in our example with  $\mathcal{B} \approx 0^+$ , the conforming state S = +1 corresponds to buying the stock. Similarly, S = -1 corresponds to selling and S = 0 to holding the stock. The consequence of this assumption is that Terms 1 and 2 of Equation (22) become zero, leaving Terms 3, 4, and 5 with the coupling parameter J and the scaling factors  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ . This already outlines how the cut-out experiment (Börner et al., 2023b) is to be designed so that the remaining model parameters J,  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  can be determined.

In general, the strength and direction of the news environment  $\mathcal{B}$  can be determined by using lexical text analysis when applying the model for a generalized agent system to the example of a stock investment, see, e.g., Börner et al. (2023b). The lexical analysis of the news by using the approach of Loughran and McDonald (2011) has proven to be advantageous (Börner et al., 2023b), which provides the normalized strength of the news environment between -1 and +1 for a stock investment. In Section 3.4.4, the evaluation of the model is based on this lexical analysis concept but is focused on the solution sets for  $\mathcal{B} \ge 0$ . For  $\mathcal{B} < 0$ , the solution sets are determined analogously.

# Scaling Factors $\alpha_2$ and $\alpha_3$

Furthermore, Section 3.3.7 explains how  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  in Equation (22) can be measured. The  $\alpha$ -factors scale the contribution of a given configuration of neighboring agents to the market observer's utility calculus, provided an investor with a holding position is involved. The prerequisite for the measurement is that there are enough data points at the critical point  $\tilde{T}_c$  to measure the curvature of the bifurcation. Since, as seen in Figure 6, this is not the case even for the large datasets under consideration here, a fundamental derivation for the size of the alphas must suffice at this point. Based on the model operationalization when using the utility of a market observer, it is necessary to consider how the configurations of Terms 4 and 5 in Equation (22) contribute to the utility, scaled by  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ , respectively. Term 4 describes the situation where two adjacent investors are both in the hold position. Apart from the fact that both hold positions in themselves reduce the benefit, if  $\mathcal{B} \neq 0$ , there is no discrepancy between the two investors' positions that requires explanation. In this respect, it is appropriate that the utility is increased by two equal adjacent positions. From the observer's point of view, it should make no difference which same positions are involved in a configuration. Thus,  $\alpha_2 = 1$  should be implied in the capital market so that the configurations in Terms 3 and 4 contribute equally to utility.

The same reasoning is applicable to Term 5. If one of two neighboring investors in Term 3 is in the buy position and the other in the sell position, this discrepancy, which is inherent in the configuration, reduces the utility by *J*. If Term 5, which exclusively maps configurations with discrepancies, namely, between a hold position and a buy or sell position, then it is consistent to assume that the contributions to utility are equal to those measured with Term 3. Thus,  $\alpha_3 = 1$  also holds.

The fundamental considerations above suggest that for the factors,  $(\alpha_2, \alpha_3) \approx (+1, +1)$ holds in practice. With a much larger amount of data, more precise measurements of the curvature behavior near the bifurcation point can be made (cf. Section 3.3.7) and thus provide information about the actual values of the  $\alpha$ -factors implicit in the capital market.

#### Volatility T

A key external state variable in physics is the temperature T, as introduced in Section 3.3.3, which in the financial context can be interpreted as instantaneous volatility and is observed by investors in the market, see, e.g., Börner et al. (2023b,c). Before explaining how the variable is empirically identified, intuition is needed to understand how volatility affects investors' decisions. For a given message field, volatility acts as a disturbance variable under which unambiguous decision-making becomes more difficult for investors. If volatility increases, fewer investors align themselves according to the news field. Conversely, when volatility is low or decreases, an investor's decision is subject to less uncertainty (Bouchaud, 2013; Sornette, 2014). In the situation described above with a minimal but positive news field, investors then may find it difficult to decide on a direction when volatility is high because uncertainty is high in addition to the weak news situation, and with a small group of investors, a pronounced distribution across all three possible decisions should already be observable. However, if volatility in this situation successively decreases and reaches a critical value  $\tilde{T}_c$ , significant price movements may occur, as investors interpret even the smallest positive news elements as a buy signal. With the observation that an adjoining investor also buys, the effect intensifies,

and at this microscopic level, a coupling of the attitudes of the investors takes place. The resulting phenomenon at the macroscopic level is a spontaneous, market-effective coupling of a larger number of investors' attitudes in one direction (*phys.*: spontaneous magnetization, cf. Section 3.3.6), which can be interpreted as (short-term) herd behavior in the financial market.

To calculate the parameter J, the critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  must be identified empirically. As in Börner et al. (2023b), we measure the state variable T by using log returns over a 15-minute time window. To isolate the terms containing the parameter J in the overall model Equation (22), the experimental setup must be designed in such a way that the front idiosyncratic part of the model containing the ideal agent system is "switched off". This condition is reached when  $\mathcal{B} \approx 0^+$  for the information field holds. Furthermore, for the empirical approach, market phases in which the market is in dynamic equilibrium must be identified (*phys.:* thermodynamic equilibrium). This is the case when no major price changes have occurred over a certain period of time and volatility remains relatively constant. Thus, it can be assumed that no fundamentally important information is present. If, at the same time, the volatility of the market is largely constant, a momentary influence of the market volatility on the volatility of the stock under consideration can be excluded, and it can then be concluded that the system is in dynamic equilibrium. Let us note that the level of T can be arbitrary, but it is important that very small volatilities are also included in the containment because only then is the effect of spontaneous coupling of investors' attitudes observable.

To find market phases with constant volatility, we determine the 15-minute volatilities  $T_{15'}$ for the entire sample of the BioNTech stock and the market indices (S&P 500, NASDAQ 100) according to Börner et al. (2023b). From the rate of change of these 15-minute volatilities, we determine the standard deviation  $\sigma$  as the range of variation. Finally, we use only the data points whose 15 previous data points fall within this  $\sigma$ -band of the rate of change. Next, the goal is to extract the critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$  from the data. To do this, the data belonging to the bifurcation, if the data contain one, must be separated from the rest of the data scattering around the T-axis from the filtered sample (T, m). We use a rolling window-based search procedure to find the bifurcation as well as the associated outgoing branches, as shown in Figure 6, and we take the smallest possible vertical window that includes the maximum bandwidth of the trade potential m. If no bifurcation is found, the smallest measurable value can be taken as an estimate for  $\tilde{T}_c$ . This approach has the advantage of objectively extracting a cloud of points from which  $\tilde{T}_c$  can be obtained as the average of the included volatilities, see Figure 6. This selective extraction of a cloud of points neglects some points, also scattering along the *m*-axis, which could be relevant for the determination of  $\tilde{T}_c$ . To account for this potential error, we specify a bandwidth for  $\tilde{T}_c$ . The lower bound of the range is reflected by the minimum volatility, and the upper bound of the range is reflected by the same distance between  $\tilde{T}_c$  and minimum volatility, but as a markup on  $\tilde{T}_c$ . In our application, the measured  $T_c = 1.33384e - 3$  and the specified bandwidth are shown in Table 7.



**Figure 6:** The trade potential and the respective volatilities prefiltered with the conditions are plotted. The figure shows the bifurcation around the *T*-axis, which can also be seen in the simulations in Figure 7. The peak of the bifurcation is identified as the critical volatility  $\tilde{T}_c$ .

#### Mean Attitude m and Neutral Positions m<sub>0</sub>

As introduced in Section 3.3.4, m and  $m_0$  as macroscopic variables indicate the mean attitude and the quantity of neutral positions, respectively. In the context of the financial market, these quantities of the system are central, as they can be interpreted as price-influencing trade potential (Börner et al., 2023b). Since the macroscopic variable m does not specify a direction, it must be specified via the message field  $\mathcal{B}$ . Based on Equation (30), this results in the average trade potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  with

$$\bar{N}_{\text{pot}} = \text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) \frac{2\sinh(+\beta\mu B_1)}{2\cosh(+\beta\mu B_1) + \exp(-\beta\alpha_1\mu B_2)}$$
$$= \text{sign}(\mathcal{B})m.$$
(44)

Given  $\mathcal{B} > 0$ ,  $\bar{N}_{pot} = m$  holds, and the trade potential is a buying potential provided m > 0. In empirical application, the hold positions  $m_0$  can be calculated only with the coupled implicit Equations (30) and (31) if  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  are known. Assuming  $\alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 1$ , there exists a fixed quantity  $m_0^c = 0.1882859...$  at the critical point  $\tilde{T}_c$ , which can be calculated by using Equations (38) and (39).

For the empirical identification of the quantity  $\bar{N}_{pot}$ , we follow Börner et al. (2023b) and compute  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  as the balance of buyer and seller potential. The number of hold positions  $m_0$ can be disregarded at this point since they have no effect on price changes in the system. To extract the trade potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  from the market data, we use an indirect method. We calculate the concatenation factors  $K_t = P_{t+1}/P_t$  of the instant price movements at all time points t. Then, the trade potential is calculated according to Vikram and Sinha (2011) and later Börner et al. (2023b):

$$\hat{N}_{\text{pot}}(t) = \frac{K_t - 1}{K_t + 1}.$$
(45)

The trade potential  $\hat{N}_{pot}$  is plotted together with the corresponding volatilities *T* in Figure 6. Coupling Parameter J

By using Equation (37), the parameter *J* is calculated if  $\tilde{T}_c$  can be obtained from the data. The remaining quantities have already been discussed. Thus, z = 12 was assumed for the ordinal number that indicates the average number of connected investors,  $m_0^c = 0.1882859...$  results from the solution of the implicit Equations (38) and (39), given that  $\alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 1$ , and k = 1 USD is set in our application since it was introduced as a measure of cost. For  $\tilde{T}_c = 1.33384e - 3$  according to Figure 6 we obtain J = 2.738731e - 4 USD. A bandwidth and a deduced standard deviation are given in Table 7.

#### 3.4.3. Summary of Results

We determine bandwidths for our estimated parameter values to account for potential estimation errors. These can be used to construct standard deviations according to  $\sigma \leq \frac{1}{2}(M-m)$  given by Popoviciu (1935), where *M* and *m* are the supremum and infimum of the support of the underlying distribution. The sample yields a bandwidth whose limits can be used as an initial indication of the supremum or infimum. Thus, a first estimate for  $\sigma$  is possible. The values and error ranges are summarized in Table 7.

Parameter	Value	Range	Std. Dev. $\sigma$
$\frac{\mu}{\alpha_1}  (10^{-4} \text{ USD})$	3.92 0.75	(3.51 – 4.21) (0.00 – 1.00)	0.35 0.50
$\begin{array}{ccc} \tilde{T}_{c} & (10^{-3}) \\ J & (10^{-4} \text{ USD}) \\ \alpha_{2} \\ \alpha_{3} \end{array}$	1.33 2.74 1.00 1.00	$ \begin{array}{c c} (0.26 - 2.41) \\ (0.53 - 4.95) \\ (0.00 - 2.00) \\ (0.00 - 2.00) \end{array} $	1.07   2.21   -   -

**Table 7:** Summary of the estimated parameters as well as details on the scattering in terms of the bandwidths and the standard deviation  $\sigma$ . Results for  $\mu$  and  $\alpha_1$  are taken from Börner et al. (2023b).

In addition to the modeling approach shown here, there are strands of research that deal with similar models but assume distributions of the parameters, e.g., cf. Bouchaud (2013); Crescimanna and Di Persio (2016). By specifying a value and the possible distribution of a model parameter, it might be possible to parameterize the distribution-based models mentioned above as well.

#### 3.4.4. Model Phenomenology

With the parameters identified thus far, the solution set of Equations (30) and (31) was determined numerically as a function of the external conditions T and  $\mathcal{B}$ . The volatility T varied within an interval from 0 to slightly above  $T_c$ , and the news environment  $\mathcal{B}$  varied within an interval from 0 to 1.

Figure 7 shows the numerically determined solution sets. The slightly gray graphs show the solution sets for the hold positions  $\bar{N}_0$  as a proportion of the whole. The hold positions correspond to the neutral positions in the generalized agent system and the following applies:  $\bar{N}_0 = m_0$ . The black lines show the solution sets for the mean attitude *m* in the generalized agent system and correspond here to the buyer or seller surplus. With sign(*B*) = +1, the trade potential is  $\bar{N}_{pot} = m$ . The bold black lines in the lower part of the upper graphic reflect the gross utility  $\bar{\mathcal{U}}$  determined for each solution set. Its value can be read on the right axis.

First, there are several solution sets for the same external conditions  $\mathcal{B} = \text{const.}$  depending on the setting T = const. The solution that can be actually observed in practice, i.e., the macroscopic state of the system, can be deduced from fundamental econometric considerations. The analyses showed that this realized macroscopic state corresponds to a maximum of gross utility  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ , as assumed in Section 3.3.5.

We describe the solution set for decreasing volatilities  $T \to 0$  using the upper graphic in Figure 7. The case where  $\mathcal{B} = 0^+$  is thus described in detail. If the volatility falls below  $T_c$ , there is hardly any change in the system that can be observed macroscopically based on the price change of the stock. The proportion of hold positions  $\bar{N}_0$  is falling, but the increasing proportions of buyers and sellers neutralize each other overall; thus,  $\bar{N}_{pot} = 0$ . The critical point in the standard Ising system (two-state model) is connected to  $T_c$ , and a macroscopically relevant phase transition is expected in this model framework; see also Section 3.3.6. However, this phase transition occurs only at a lower volatility, specifically for  $T = \tilde{T}_c$ . One possible interpretation is that the presence of investors in position "hold" (the third possible state) leads to a moderating effect. In the sense that the density of positions "holds" must first continue to decrease before an increased adjustment (herding) of buying behavior or selling behavior takes place, a macroscopic effect can be observed.

At point  $T = \tilde{T}_c$ , we observe a pitchfork bifurcation. Then, the trade potential for  $T = \tilde{T}_c^-$  can have three different values:  $\bar{N}_{pot} < 0$ ,  $\bar{N}_{pot} = 0$  and  $\bar{N}_{pot} > 0$ . In addition, the proportion of holding positions  $\bar{N}_0$  can have two values. The larger value belongs to  $\bar{N}_{pot} = 0$  and the smaller one to the other two values  $\bar{N}_{pot} \neq 0$ . The latter two configurations are the ones observed in practice. In the literature, the configuration with  $\bar{N}_{pot} = 0$  is referred to as a configuration that is not observable in econometrics and is unstable (Bouchaud, 2013). The other configurations with  $\bar{N}_{pot} \neq 0$  are stable and observable in practice. This observation can be explained more precisely using the gross utility  $\bar{U}$ : The gross utility is at its maximum for the two configurations  $\bar{N}_{pot} \neq 0$ , as the lower part of the upper graphic shows.

Phase transitions may occur again as volatility T decreases further. According to Table 6, two further phase transitions could take place at  $\tilde{T}_c = 0.2718612 \cdot T_c$  and  $\tilde{T}_c = 0 \cdot T_c$ . In Figure 7 (upper graph), the second phase transition at  $\tilde{T}_c \approx 0.45 \cdot 10^{-3}$  is shown as the second pitchfork bifurcation. The third phase transition at  $\tilde{T}_c = 0$  cannot be further resolved graphically. However, the second phase transitions should not be observable in practice if the assumption of the maximum of the gross utility applies to observable configurations. The third phase transition can only be observed under very special conditions, as the following analysis shows.

For  $T = 0^+$ , an interesting case can be analyzed, namely, when  $\bar{N}_0$  tends toward +1 (upper branch of the slightly gray graph at the top left). For this case, i.e.,  $(\bar{N}_{pot}, \bar{N}_0) = (0, +1)$ , the gross utility  $\bar{\mathcal{U}}$  is also at its maximum and equal to the other two configurations with  $(\bar{N}_{pot}, \bar{N}_0) = (\pm 1, 0)$ . Thus, for T = 0, the system can exist in three possible pure states: All investors sell, all investors hold, or all investors buy the stock. This result may have been guessed but is derived here from theory. We show shortly that this result is a direct consequence of the assumption  $\alpha_2 = 1$  and supports the latter.

The gross utility is analyzed more precisely for T = 0. With T = 0,  $\bar{\mathcal{U}} = \bar{\mathcal{U}}$  immediately applies. With  $\mathcal{B} = 0$  it is calculated from Equation (23) for the configurations  $(\bar{N}_{\text{pot}}, \bar{N}_0) =$  $(\pm 1, 0)$  the gross utility  $\bar{\mathcal{U}} = \frac{1}{2}Jz$ . For the configuration  $(\bar{N}_{\text{pot}}, \bar{N}_0) = (0, +1)$  the gross utility is  $\bar{\mathcal{U}} = \frac{1}{2}\alpha_2 Jz$ . Both gross utilities are only equal if  $\alpha_2 = 1$ . Thus, if all three pure states are possible from an econometric point of view at T = 0, then  $\alpha_2 = 1$  is mandatory in this application. In this case, the maximum gross utility is  $\bar{\mathcal{U}} = 1.6432 \cdot 10^{-3}$  USD and corresponds to the numerical limit value in the lower part of the upper graphic (upper bold black line on the left).

If not only  $\tilde{T}_c$  can be determined from the data but also an estimator for  $m_0^c$  can be determined from the curvature behavior at  $\tilde{T}_c$  by using Equation (43), then, with  $\alpha_2 = 1$ ,  $\alpha_3$  can be calculated by using the implicit Equation (38). Hence, statements may be made about how the market participants implicitly assess the loss of utility through asymmetric configurations if one position in the configuration is the holding position, compare Term 5 in Equation (22). Unfortunately, modeling of the curvature behavior is not possible with the available data. Thus, the parameter  $\alpha_3$  cannot be estimated here. The bifurcation on the left side that can be seen in Figure 6 does not allow any conclusions to be drawn about an inversion of the curvature near the critical point. It can therefore be assumed that  $\alpha_3 > 0.5$ , as in Section 3.3.6. For the simulations, it was assumed that  $\alpha_3 = 1$ .

Examples of solution sets for  $\mathcal{B} > 0$  are shown in the lower graphic in Figure 7 and should be interpreted analogously. Here, in practice, the state  $\bar{N}_{pot} > 0$  is always realized. A maximum of  $\bar{\mathcal{U}}$  could also be calculated for these solutions (not shown here). There is no phase transition for the critical points observed in the case of  $\mathcal{B} = 0$ . The trade potential  $\bar{N}_{pot}$  continuously changes its value with decreasing volatility. However, compared to the standard Ising system, a slower behavior can also be observed, with the same  $\mathcal{B} \neq 0$  and the same volatility, and the trade potential is lower in comparison.

#### 3.4.5. Model Predictions with Practical Relevance

Up to this point, we have been concerned with how models that basically replicate the properties of complex systems can be applied in practice. The necessary step of calibrating the model parameters to the underlying empirical system has been shown. The following describes a concept of how the parameterized model can be used in practice. The application concerns a one-step ahead forecast, which can be used, e.g., for short-term price forecasts.

With continuous measurements of the external state variables  $\mathcal{B}$  and T, the trading potential m and  $m_0$  can be calculated via Equations (30) and (31). The sign of the message field  $\mathcal{B}$  provides the necessary information to interpret the trading potential as buyer or seller potential. By using Equation (45) from Vikram and Sinha (2011) and later Börner et al. (2023b), the following equation is determined for the estimated price at time t + 1 given the price at time t and the trade potential defined in Equation (44):

$$\hat{P}_{t+1} = \frac{1 + \bar{N}_{\text{pot}}}{1 - \bar{N}_{\text{pot}}} P_t \qquad \text{with} \qquad \bar{N}_{\text{pot}} = \text{sign}(\mathcal{B}) \ \frac{N_+ - N_-}{N}.$$
(46)

Thus, the trading potential can be used to formulate an estimator for the price in the next moment, depending on the external conditions T and  $\mathcal{B}$ . This prediction is not completely accurate but gives an initial indication of the direction of the price movement and the approximate magnitude of the possible price change. In the event of negative news, this can form the basis of a risk assessment and serve as preparation for countermeasures.

### 3.5. Conclusion

In the last 50 years or so, several strands of research have opened up econometrics that deal with models in a strong analogy to the statistical physics of many-particle systems. While in physics, special experiments are designed and built to parameterize models, this possibility does not exist in econometrics in general. For almost all of these models, the question of parameterization arises, e.g., determining the parameters by using capital market data. The question of how to estimate parameters directly rather than indirectly in bottom-up agent-based models was addressed in this paper, and a solution for the appropriate parameterization was given. A stock investment as an example showed the practical application.

Frequently, models are found in the literature where two possible decision states (e.g., buy, sell) are considered. For many applications, however, three states (e.g., buy, hold, sell) are more appropriate. Therefore, all interaction possibilities between agents (investors) are considered and influence a utility maximizer calculus in the context of the model operationalization, where the market is explained by incurring information costs. As a main contribution, it was shown how to parameterize the developed three-state model in special cut-out experiments. Capital market data were analyzed to empirically determine the model parameters.

As part of the empirical parametrization, the variables of the general model were first transferred to the application context of the capital market. In a second step, measurement equations derived from the general model were used to specify concrete parameter values, which, in addition to the bandwidths and distribution parameters, represent key findings. In simulations when using the estimated parameter values for the shares of BioNTech SE, first-and second-order transitions were identified within the rich model phenomenology that can be used to explain short-term herd behavior in capital markets. This short-term herding behavior occurs at a critical point of volatility. Another important result in this context is that the critical point in the three-state model under consideration is reached at lower volatilities than in a binary system. Thus, predictions with binary models over three-state systems lead to biased results. Furthermore, it was shown how to implement a forecast model over short-term price changes with a one-step-ahead forecast.

Many extensions of the presented three-state model are conceivable, and a selection of extensions were discussed. All of them have in common that the parameters of the basic

model determined in cut-out experiments can be used for the extensions. Even if distributions of parameters are considered in extensions, a first indication for the values of the distribution parameters can be given by the presented concept. For this purpose, a way was shown how this can be implemented. At this point, the integration and investigation of the presented model and its parameterization procedure in more complex applications, e.g., influence of social interactions in higher model degrees or the modeling of multiasset systems, is left to following, subsequent research.



**Figure 7:** Simulation of the generalized agent system for different news environments and different volatilities for the example of a stock investment (see text for further explanations).

# 3.6. Declaration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments

Title:	Generalized Agent System with Triplet States: Model Parameter	
	Identification of Agent-Agent Interaction	
Author(s):	Christoph J. Börner (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)	
	Ingo Hoffmann (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)	
	John H. Stiebel (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)	
Conferences:	_	
Publications:	SSRN published. Submitted to Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and	
	Applications, a single-blind peer-reviewed journal.	
	Current status: Under review.	

# Share of contributions:

Contributions	Christoph J. Börner	Ingo Hoffmann	John H. Stiebel
Research design	10%	45%	45%
Development of research question	10%	45%	45%
Method development and specification	10%	45%	45%
Research performance & analysis	0%	35%	65%
Literature review and framework development	0%	30%	70%
Data collection, preparation and analysis	0%	10%	90%
Analysis and discussion of results	0%	50%	50%
Derivation of implications and conclusions	0%	50%	50%
Manuscript preparation	20%	40%	40%
Final draft	20%	40%	40%
Finalization	20%	40%	40%
Overall contribution	10%	40%	50%

# Date, Cristoph J. Börner

Date, Ingo Hoffmann

its

# 4. On the Connection Between Temperature and Volatility in Ideal Agent Systems

# 4.1. Abstract

Models for spin systems known from statistical physics are applied by analogy in econometrics in the form of agent-based models. Researchers suggest that the state variable temperature T corresponds to volatility  $\sigma$  in capital market theory problems. To the best of our knowledge, this has not yet been theoretically derived, for example, for an ideal agent system. In the present paper, we derive the exact algebraic relation between T and  $\sigma$  for an ideal agent system and discuss implications and limitations.

Keywords: Agent System, Econophysics, Temperature, Volatility

JEL Classification: C10, C46, C51

#### 4.2. Introduction

In the context of econophysics, methods from statistical physics are used to model the behavior of investors (so-called agents), for example, to draw conclusions about the price movement of a stock and arrive at a one-step ahead forecast model; see, e.g., Vikram and Sinha (2011). Starting with the work of Weidlich (1971) and Galam et al. (1982), the research field of econophysics utilizing spin systems has steadily developed and branched out; see, e.g., Bouchaud (2013); Sornette (2014) for a review. The models of econophysics, based on the analogy with spin systems from statistical physics, depend on a state variable T that describes the system and is called temperature in statistical physics. For temperature in statistical physics, see, e.g., Isihara (1971); Landau and Lifšic (1980); Greiner et al. (1995); Kardar (2007). In econophysics, the state variable T is referred to differently in various applications: noise, irrationality, degree of randomness in agents' decisions, the collective climate parameter or volatility; see, e.g., Weidlich (1971); Kaizoji (2000); Kozuki and Fuchikami (2003); Oh and Jeon (2007); Kleinert and Chen (2007); Kozaki and Sato (2008); Krause and Bornholdt (2012); Bouchaud (2013); Crescimanna and Di Persio (2016). In models for capital markets in which temperature T is identified with volatility  $\sigma$ , e.g., of a stock, various relationships are assumed:  $T \propto \sigma^2$  (Kozuki and Fuchikami, 2003),  $T = \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{2}}$  (Kleinert and Chen, 2007),  $T \propto \sigma$  (de Mattos Neto et al., 2011).

To the best of our knowledge, the relationship  $T \propto \sigma$  is predominantly used in capital market theory applications (de Mattos Neto et al., 2011; Bouchaud, 2013; Börner et al., 2023b), but the exact algebraic relation does not appear to have been theoretically derived, even for an ideal agent system. This contribution is dedicated to this precise question and is intended to close the research gap reflected in the variety of algebraic equations adopted and proposed (Kozuki and Fuchikami, 2003; Kleinert and Chen, 2007; de Mattos Neto et al., 2011). The function  $f: \sigma \to T$  is derived from theory. Implications are examined, and the limits that need to be considered are identified. For the simple, ideally designed example of a two-state agent system (Bouchaud, 2013) the equation  $T = f(\sigma)$  is derived and further analyzed.

This study is structured as follows. In the next section, temperature is defined as state variable T. In Section 4.4, the example of a two-state ideal agent system is introduced. Section 4.5 is devoted to determining the central equation for deriving measurement equations. An application to the ideal agent system and a conclusion follow.

# 4.3. Definition of T

In physics, since the revision of the international system of units, temperature T has been linked to thermal energy using the Boltzmann constant k (International Bureau of Weights and Measure, 2019, p. 133). If the internal energy  $E = E(S, \mathbf{X})$  is described as a function of the entropy S and possibly other state variables  $\mathbf{X}$  and the entropy is calculated from the microcanonical partition function  $\Omega$  using the equation  $S = k \ln \Omega$ , then

$$T := \left. \frac{\partial E}{\partial S} \right|_{\mathbf{X} = \text{const.}}$$
(47)

is the definition of temperature in statistical physics; see, e.g., Greiner et al. (1995).

Analogy considerations establish a connection between energy and utility in econometrics. While phyiscal systems minimize their energy, utility maximization is assumed in econometrics. Accordingly, as a first starting point for further calculations, the relation E = -U is often found in the literature (Marsili, 1999; Sornette, 2014; Börner et al., 2023b).

With the relation E = -U, Marsili (1999) arrives at the definition of the state variable T in econometrics:

$$T := -\left. \frac{\partial U}{\partial S} \right|_{\mathbf{X} = \text{const.}}$$
(48)

Where **X** summarizes other variables, for example, the message environment  $\mathcal{B}$  in the ideal agent system (Bouchaud, 2013; Börner et al., 2023b).

If finite changes are considered with constant **X**, then Equation (48) leads to the simple relation  $\Delta U \propto -T\Delta S$ . That is, with fixed *T* and increasing entropy, utility decreases. Marsili (1999, p. 13) concluded that state variable *T* "[...] *can be considered as the price of (negative) entropy*".

If and only if the definition of Equation (48) is used in econophysics, a consistent theory can be constructed based on the methods of statistical physics. The state variable T is initially used as a parameter in all equations and must be identified based on the specific circumstances of the application under consideration. This is specifically shown for the example of a two-state ideal agent system.

The relationship between energy and utility, as well as Equation (48), provides a theoretical framework that offers one way in which the state variable *T* can be interpreted in econometrics. The calculations shown in the following sections to determine  $T = f(\sigma)$  focus on a simple, idealized example of a two-state agent system and are consistent with the theoretical framework (Bouchaud, 2013). Therefore, systems with interactions between the agents and more complex systems, which e.g. show segregations (Schelling, 1971, 1978) and make the analogy E = -U questionable when considering an additional individual utility (Grauwin et al., 2009; Lemoy et al., 2011; Bouchaud, 2013), are not discussed here and are left to further research.

#### 4.4. Two-State Ideal Agent System

A number N of stock investors will be considered as an example of a system of agents. A news situation  $-1 \le \mathcal{B} \le +1$  is given and influences the investors. For the sake of simplicity, it is assumed that each investor only acts based on the news situation  $\mathcal{B}$  and only buys or sells one share at a time. Agreements or alliances between investors are excluded, so each investor acts in isolation and is uninfluenced by other investors. These systems can be referred to as systems without interactions or ideal agent systems; see, e.g., Bouchaud (2013); Börner et al. (2023b).

In the following, w.l.o.g., a positive, constant news situation with strength  $|\mathcal{B}| = B$  is assumed. Investors can act in "conformity" to the news, i.e., buy if the news is positive, or in "non-conformity", i.e., sell if the news is positive. The state of an investor i = 1, ..., Nis described with  $s_i = +1$  (conform) or  $s_i = -1$  (non-conform). If a dynamic equilibrium is established, then there is a number  $N_+$  of "conform" and a number  $N_-$  of "non-conform" investors, with  $N = N_+ + N_-$ . If an inversion of the agent system is ruled out, i.e., the overall system acts in accordance with the positive news, the difference  $N_+ - N_-$  is positive and corresponds to a buyer surplus. In econometric applications, the normalized variable  $M = \frac{1}{N}(N_+ - N_-) = \frac{1}{N}\sum_i s_i$  can be referred to as trade potential (*phys.*:  $\propto$  magnetization), see, e.g., Börner et al. (2023b), and can be used, e.g., for one-step ahead forecast models (Vikram and Sinha, 2011).

#### 4.4.1. Occupation Probabilities

For the two states, occupation probabilities can be specified with the help of the logit rule (Bouchaud, 2013), which corresponds to the Boltzmann-Gibbs distribution in statistical physics (Landau and Lifšic, 1980; Greiner et al., 1995).

Let  $x = \frac{T_0}{T}$ , and  $T_0$  is calculated from all constant system parameters and constant external conditions (e.g., the constant news *B*); see, e.g., Bouchaud (2013); Börner et al. (2023b). Then, the probabilities for each state s = (-1, +1) of the agent are:

$$P_{-} = \operatorname{Prob}(s = -1) = \frac{\exp(-x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(+x)}$$

$$P_{+} = \operatorname{Prob}(s = +1) = \frac{\exp(+x)}{\exp(-x) + \exp(+x)}$$
(49)

with  $P_- + P_+ = 1$ . A similar representation of the occupation probabilities can be found in, e.g., Bouchaud (2013). Equation (49) can be derived within the framework of econophysics and is consistent with the definition given in Equation (48). Accordingly, *T* is initially only a parameter, and the question of whether *T* is related to the volatility of the stock remains open.

#### 4.4.2. Distribution of the Trade Potential M

For a finite number  $N < \infty$  of isolated investors (ideal agents), the occupation numbers  $N_-$  and  $N_+$  are stochastically dependent random variables, and thus the trade potential M is also a random variable. If all investors are lined up for illustration, it becomes clear that both  $N_-$  and  $N_+$  follow a binomial distribution: Binom $(N_-; N, P_-)$  and Binom $(N_+; N, P_+)$ ; for a definition, see, e.g., Abramowitz (2014). This allows the expected value  $\mu_M = P_+ - P_-$  and the variance  $\sigma_M^2 = \frac{4}{N}P_+P_-$  to be calculated for the random variable M. The derivation is almost identical to the calculation in Fließbach (2018, Chap. 2), with the difference being that the normalized variable M is considered here. For large N, the above binomial distributions can be approximated by normal distributions (Kendall and Stuart, 1977). This means that the distribution of the random variable M can also be described by a normal distribution:  $M \sim N(\mu_M, \sigma_M)$ . The variance is proportional to  $\frac{1}{N}$ , so for large N, the relative width of the distribution tends to zero and is thus sharply localized around  $\mu_M$ , i.e., fluctuations in M are almost no longer observed; see Fließbach (2018), and also compare Greiner et al. (1995).

#### 4.5. Stochastic Model of Market Capitalization

Let the news situation  $\mathcal{B} > 0$  be constant for a finite period  $\mathbb{T}$ . If this period is broken down into finite subperiods  $\Delta t$ , then in each subperiod  $[t, t + \Delta t]$  there is a number  $N_+$  of buyers and a number  $N_-$  of sellers. At the beginning of the period, the last quoted price of the stock  $p_t$  is known, and the potential rate of change in market capitalization ( $V_t = Np_t$ ) that will take effect at the end of the subperiod can be inferred:

$$\Delta V_t = p_t (N_+ - N_-) \Delta t$$
  
=  $V_t M_t \Delta t$  (50)

with  $M_t \sim \mathcal{N}(\mu_M, \sigma_M)$  in each subperiod. Thus, the change  $\Delta V_t$  is a random variable and changes in each subperiod. The time-discrete representation of a stochastic process becomes observable. Such processes are described by stochastic differential equations; see, e.g., Hull (2018). Following technics described in Wilmott (1998, Chap. 3) and Hull (2018, Chap. 14), a stochastic differential equation with drift term ( $\propto \mu_M$ ) and diffusion term ( $\propto \sigma_M$ ) for the stochastic process can be written:

$$dV_t = V_t \mu_M dt + V_t \sigma_M dW_t, \tag{51}$$

where  $W_t$  denotes a Wiener process. The transformation  $X_t = G(V_t, t) = \ln(V_t) - \ln(N)$ transforms to the logarithmic price  $X_t$  of the stock. Using Itō's lemma with the partial derivatives  $\partial_V G = \frac{1}{V}$ ,  $\partial_{VV} G = -\frac{1}{V^2}$  and  $\partial_t G = 0$ , it follows that:

$$dX_t = \left(\mu_M - \frac{\sigma_M^2}{2}\right)dt + \sigma_M \, dW_t.$$
(52)

Only one price is quoted on the capital market at a time. This means that there is only one logarithmic price at a time. The stochastic process for logarithmic returns (Hull, 2018, Eq. 14.17) and the process defined with Equation (52) must therefore be identical. A comparison of coefficients then provides the following relationship:

 $\mu_X = \mu_M \quad \text{and} \quad \sigma_X = \sigma_M.$  (53)

Where  $\mu_X$  is the expected value of the logarithmic returns and  $\sigma_X$  is the standard deviation. The latter is therefore the volatility of the stock under consideration.

Note that it was assumed that the positive news situation  $\mathcal{B}$  is constant for the period  $\mathbb{T}$ . In practice, this will only happen for a short period (a few minutes) of a daily trading session. The relationships described in Equation (53) should therefore only be observable in practice for short periods of time. If the focus is on one-step-ahead forecasts, mean values and sample variances calculated over short periods of time are to be preferred as estimators for  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$ . Furthermore, note that Equation (52) does not capture contributions to expected value and volatility due to changes in news flow  $\mathcal{B}$ .

Section 4.4.2 showed that  $\sigma_M \propto \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}$ . With Equation (53), this also applies to  $\sigma_X$  for short periods of time with a constant news situation. The latter means that the volatility that can be observed over short periods of time decreases as the number of investors *N* increases and in the limiting case of an infinite number of investors approaches zero. A similar phenomenon was described by Bouchaud (2013) in the context of socioeconomic issues. There, however, it related to noise levels that influence decision-making situations and scale with  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}$  depending on the population size.

Equation (53) provides a very general connection between the capital market quantities and the distribution parameters of the trade potential M. However,  $|M| \le 1$  is limited and thus also  $\sigma_M$ . The validity of  $\sigma_X = \sigma_M$  must always be checked for large volatilities  $\sigma_X$ , in particular whether strongly fluctuating messages or high-frequency message changes could be the reason for the high volatility.

# 4.6. Application

In the following, the central equation  $\sigma_X = \sigma_M$  for the example of the two-state ideal agent system from Section 4.4 is used to establish the connection between *T* and the volatility  $\sigma_X$ :

$$\sigma_{X} = \sigma_{M}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{4}{N}P_{+}P_{-}}$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{4}{N}\frac{1}{4\cosh^{2}(x)}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\operatorname{sech}(x).$$
(54)

With  $x = \frac{T_0}{T}$ , the measurement equation follows:

$$T = \frac{T_0}{\operatorname{sech}^{-1}(\sqrt{N}\sigma_X)}.$$
(55)

Where sech<sup>-1</sup>(*u*) is the inverse hyperbolic secant function, and  $\sigma_X$  as the volatility of the logarithmic returns is now the observable that can be measured on the capital market. Equation (55) indirectly measures the state variable *T*. For the two-state ideal agent system, it is the state variable that is consistent according to Equation (48). In further state equations for the system, this state variable determined in this way must be used to maintain consistency within the theory.

#### 4.7. Conclusion

The highly simplified example of a two-state ideal agent system was studied in detail, and the relationship between the volatility  $\sigma_X$  and the state variable T was established. Even this simplest conceivable example shows that the relationship between  $\sigma_X$  and T can be nonlinear. It can be assumed that this is also the case in other applications. This consideration is not exhaustive; Equation (55) is a special measurement equation for the example, and in individual cases, the measurement equation  $T = f(\sigma_X)$  must always be derived. This allows for the indirect and theory-conforming determination of the state variable T from the measured volatility  $\sigma_X$ . If a linear relationship  $T = a\sigma_X + b$  is required, then the measurement equation can be linearized around an operating point  $\sigma_X^0$ , i.e., considering a Taylor series up to the linear term. In practice, questions about the validity of the approximation (keyword: measuring range) then have to be answered.

# 4.8. Declaration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments

Title:	On the connection between temperature and volatility in ideal agent systems
Author(s):	Christoph J. Börner (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf) Ingo Hoffmann (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)
Conferences:	-
Publications:	Published on SSRN and in the Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory
	and Experiment, 2023, 103401, a single-blind peer-reviewed journal. Current status: Published. doi: https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-5468/ad002c.

# Share of contributions:

Contributions	Christoph J. Börner	Ingo Hoffmann	John H. Stiebel
Research design	5%	80%	15%
Development of research question	10%	70%	20%
Method development and specification	0%	90%	10%
Research performance & analysis	5%	70%	25%
Literature review and framework development	0%	50%	50%
Data collection, preparation and analysis	0%	80%	20%
Analysis and discussion of results	20%	60%	20%
Derivation of implications and conclusions	0%	90%	10%
Manuscript preparation	20%	45%	35%
Final draft	20%	50%	30%
Finalization	20%	40%	40%
Overall contribution	10%	65%	25%

Date, Ingo Hoffmann

# **5.** Beyond the Individual: Investigating the Interdependence of Speculative Bubbles and Herding in Financial Markets

# 5.1. Abstract

Speculative bubbles have the potential to cause significant economic damage. It is therefore important to better understand the driving factors. This study empirically examines herding behavior as a theoretically known driver of speculative bubbles for the United States (US) stock market. First, the results suggest the presence of speculative bubbles and herding behavior within the S&P 500 stock market index. Second, it is discovered that herding behavior significantly reduces the probability of a bubble occurring. The negative influence of herding behavior can be observed for both the rate of change and for the absolute level. Analysis of the interaction effect shows that the absolute level of the herding variable moderates the rate of change. The examination of sub-hypotheses indicates that the relationship remains consistent across different industries, company sizes, sub-periods, and various time horizons, confirming the existence of the general relationship.

**Keywords:** Anomalies, Speculative Bubbles, Herding Behavior, Financial Markets, Behavioral Finance

JEL Classification: G10, G40, G41
### 5.2. Introduction

Anomalies such as speculative bubbles are widely documented capital market phenomena. They have the potential to cause significant economic damage (Jordà et al., 2015). Examples include the French stock market bubble of 1881–82, the US stock market bubble of 1928–29 followed by the Great Depression, and the Japanese stock market bubble of 1985–2003, all of which were followed by recessions (Brunnermeier and Schnabel, 2015). Regulators and central banks stabilize financial markets and are interested in anticipating exuberance and its driving factors (Phillips et al., 2015). The prevention of bubbles and the effectiveness of different policies in achieving this goal have been the subject of a long-standing debate (Brunnermeier and Schnabel, 2015). Moreover, investors and risk managers are exposed to potential misallocations through price distortions. Understanding the factors that lead to bubbles is therefore beneficial not only from a theoretical perspective but also from a practical one.

The existing literature addressing this question primarily examines speculative bubbles from a theoretical, often model-theoretical, perspective. There are few empirical studies investigating the driving factors behind bubbles, e.g. Wang and Chen (2019); Pan (2020); Maghyereh and Abdoh (2022). This study also addresses this research question and aims to gain a better empirical understanding of the driving factors by focusing on new variables in the analysis.

Theory suggests that herding behavior is a potential driver of asset mispricing. Empirically, herding behavior has been shown to affect asset prices in general. Several studies suggest a potential link between herding behavior and returns (Nofsinger and Sias, 1999; Wermers, 1999; Sias, 2004; Dasgupta et al., 2011; Singh, 2013; Brown et al., 2014; Celiker et al., 2015). However, herding behavior has not been empirically studied as a factor driving bubbles. Therefore, the second link is whether there is a relationship between bubbles and herding behavior as predicted by theory.

The study aims to empirically examine whether herding behavior affects stock market bubbles. This requires the identification of both variables, bubbles and herding behavior, initially. First, stock market bubbles are detected using a widely used recursive unit root test proposed by Phillips et al. (2015). Second, a dynamic herding measure proxied by market-wide herding behavior proposed by Hwang and Salmon (2004) is computed. The relationship between these input variables is then examined using various model specifications of multivariate logistic and linear regressions. Variations in the relationship across specific sub-periods, different industries, company sizes and time horizons are also considered.

The contribution of this study is the empirical examination of a theoretical hypothesis to better understand the factors driving bubbles, which is essential given the potential risks associated with bubbles. Furthermore, the empirical framework employed is innovative in its methodological objectivity, integrating two well-established methods into a logistic regression. Both methods are widely recognized and largely robust. This approach avoids the inclusion of arbitrary bubble periods as dummy variables. In addition, the use of a time-varying herd measure allows for deeper insights into the underlying herding dynamics.

The main results of the study are briefly presented. First, there is evidence of both speculative bubbles and herding behavior in the US S&P 500 stock market index over the period from 1990 to 2022. Second, it is discovered that market-wide herding behavior towards the market has a significant negative impact on the probability of a bubble occurrence. This contradicts expectations based on theoretical models but aligns with findings from other studies (Bekiros et al., 2017; Haykir and Yagli, 2022). With adverse or negative herding behavior, investors act against the market consensus rather than in its direction. This leads to systematically higher returns for subsets of the overall market than would be rationally expected. The negative influence of herding behavior is evident in both the rate of change of the variable and its absolute level. Negative rates of change, as well as negative absolute levels, favor the emergence of speculative bubbles. In addition, the examination of the interaction effect shows that the absolute level of the herding variable acts as a moderator on the rate of change. The analysis of sub-periods reveals that the relationship holds true irrespective of specific periods. Examining different industries indicates that the relationship manifests with varying degrees of significance across all sectors, thereby not highlighting clear systematic sector-specific differences. However, the most pronounced manifestations are observed in the service sector and the finance, insurance, and real estate sector. The analysis based on company size reveals that contrary to expectations, the relationship is more pronounced in larger companies. However, it is noteworthy that the relationship exists in both larger and smaller companies and that the difference is not statistically significant. Furthermore, the examination of longer time horizons indicates that herding behavior has predictive value for the probability of a bubble occurring in the medium to long term. This holds true even after a bubble has occurred, with a significant negative relationship persisting up to six months after the event.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows: Section 5.3 establishes the theoretical foundations, introducing the concepts of bubbles and herding behavior along with the related literature. Additionally, the working hypothesis is derived from theoretical models and empirical evidence for the relationship between these two concepts. In Section 5.4, the empirical framework and results are presented and discussed. This includes the introduction of methods used to measure bubbles and herding behavior, along with an overview of the dataset. Section 5.5 tests the robustness of the main results, and finally Section 5.6 concludes.

#### 5.3. Theoretical Background

# 5.3.1. Bubbles

# 5.3.1.1 Definition

A clear definition of the term speculative bubble is problematic, as the phenomenon of a speculative bubble is the subject of a long-standing controversy in the academic literature (O'Hara, 2008; Wöckl, 2019; Quinn and Turner, 2020). Aliber et al. (2015) take a technical perspective, according to which a bubble is characterized primarily by unsustainable patterns of price changes or cash flows. Specifically, their definition is that a bubble consists of a prolonged, between 15 and 40 months, price increase that subsequently collapses. Garber (2000) conceives of the term as a fuzzy concept that is not based on an operational definition. According to him, bubbles are the part of a price development that cannot be explained on the basis of the underlying fundamentals. Nevertheless, history shows that asset prices can be inexplicable relative to their theoretical underlying values (Brunnermeier and Oehmke, 2013; Quinn and Turner, 2020). Moreover, these phenomena are often accompanied by high price volatilities (Scheinkman and Xiong, 2003). Most of the academic research on bubbles assumes that asset prices should be linked to a true or fundamental value (O'Hara, 2008).

Therefore, in this study, a (speculative) bubble is defined as a persistent and significant deviation of the price of an asset from its fundamental value, defined as the risk-adjusted present value of all expected future cash flows (Tirole, 1985; Brooks and Katsaris, 2005; Wöckl, 2019). Additionally, the attribute "explosive" serves as a means to characterize the trajectory of bubbles. In this context, it implies that the coefficients of an autoregressive process temporarily exceed unity, as discussed in more detail in Section 5.4.3. This scenario is also referred to as having a temporarily explosive root (Phillips et al., 2015; Balcombe and Fraser, 2017). Adhering to this definition, the emergence of negative price bubbles is also feasible, signifying instances where prices fall below their theoretically justified levels (Yan et al., 2012; Scherbina and Schlusche, 2014). For instance, the loss of the illusion of control triggered by an event could lead to a panicked response among investors (Samuelson and Zeckhauser, 1988; Bracha and Weber, 2012). The illusion of control refers to the human tendency to believe that the outcome of certain events is influenced by them, even when those events are subject to chance (Langer, 1975). This response might result in market overreaction, akin to that driven by overconfidence (Daniel et al., 1998), causing prices to fall below their fundamental value.

## 5.3.1.2 Formation

Bubbles are relevant from both a research and a practical perspective because prices guide the allocation of resources in an economy, so price distortions can lead to potential incorrect investment incentives. Real estate price bubbles, e.g., could lead to inefficient new construction. In addition, the balance sheets of companies, financial institutions, and households may suffer when a bubble bursts, thus fostering an economic downturn (Brunnermeier and Oehmke, 2013). A look at historical examples also shows how bubbles can lead to economic crises, depending on the configuration of external and internal circumstances of a market or economy. See, e.g., Brunnermeier and Schnabel (2015), whose selection is based on a technical definition similar to Aliber et al. (2015). Because of the potential impact on the real economy, it is important to understand how and under which circumstances bubbles occur. The literature on bubbles is very broad and offers numerous approaches to explain the formation. Gürkaynak (2008) as well as Brunnermeier and Oehmke (2013) provide noteworthy literature reviews. Scherbina and Schlusche (2014) also survey bubble formation models and focus on behavioral models as well as rational models with incentive problems, market frictions, and non-traditional preferences. The recent survey by Wöckl (2019) categorizes bubble models broadly in rational and irrational, or behavioral models. In rational bubble models, agents are assumed to be perfectly rational with respect to expected future dividends and markets are assumed to be predominantly efficient. Most rational bubble models are built on the present value model, according to which the price of an asset consists of discounted future expected dividends. The bubble is thereby supplemented by an additional term that reflects the price development that is not justified by fundamental data (Gürkaynak, 2008). Well-known studies in this tradition include, e.g., Flood and Garber (1980); Blanchard and Watson (1982); Tirole (1985); Diba and Grossman (1988); Froot and Obstfeld (1991) among others. One implication of these models is that prices rise explosively in the build-up phase. This property is also exploited in empirical studies to identify bubbles, as discussed in more detail in Section 5.4.3. In addition to rational bubble models, there are other approaches that incorporate behavioral economic aspects into the modeling and thus soften the strong assumption of rational agents. Wöckl (2019) distinguishes between four behavioral economic models based on the fact that investors are driven by different opinions on the one hand and influenced by psychological biases on the other. In addition, Scherbina and Schlusche (2014) suggest that herding behavior is an important mechanism that can reinforce or promote bubbles.

## 5.3.1.3 Empirical Methods

The goal of bubble identification methods is to accurately determine when bubbles form and end using quantitative measures. The challenge is that fundamental values of securities are not observable and therefore, the determination of prices is not unambiguous. Various methods are known in the literature, for reviews see, e.g., Gürkaynak (2008); Wöckl (2019). Some types of tests are also explained below. The Variance bound test belongs to the early empirical methods and was initially designed by Shiller (1981) to criticize the EMH. Only in later applications the results of the tests were interpreted as possible bubbles (Blanchard and Watson, 1982). The test implements an upper bound for the variance of observed prices. The problem with this test is its model-related nature: testing for bubbles under the assumption that prices are adequately represented by a present value model are two hypotheses, so that the test suffers from the joint hypothesis problem. West (1987) proposed the Two-Step Test, which avoids the joint hypothesis problem by testing the model and bubble hypothesis sequentially. Another category of tests are based on statistical properties such as stationarity and cointegration. In an exemplary application of such a test, the security prices must be stationary after difference formation, if fundamentals are stationary after difference formation, under the assumption that there is no bubble (Diba and Grossman, 1988). Regime-switching tests, or Markov-switching tests, are further developments of the standard tests based on stationarity and cointegration. The advantage of these tests is that the dynamics of a bubble are not restricted to a linear process. In other words, these tests consider the periodically collapsing nature of bubbles by modeling two or more different Markov regimes. A security price can discretely switch between these regimes with certain transition probabilities (Hamilton, 1989). Similar to these tests, recursive unit root tests are also further developments of the stationarity and cointegration based tests and work with the assumption that security prices can be modeled as random walks and consequently have a unit root. Recursive means that the tests are applied sequentially to sub-samples. The approach by Phillips et al. (2011) (hereafter PWY) uses a so-called sup ADF test (SADF) based on a forward recursive series of right-sided ADF unit root tests to check a time series for bubbles. In addition, a dating strategy using a backward-looking regression technique identifies the times at which a bubble originates and ends. The approach is consistent as long as there is only one bubble in the data. If there are multiple bubbles in the sample, this procedure suffers from lower quality and can lead to inconsistent results. To address the problem of periodically collapsing bubbles, the refined version of Phillips et al. (2015) (hereafter PSY) uses flexible sub-sample sizes in the implementation of the recursive tests as an extension of the PWY approach. This improved version of the test is applied and presented in detail in Section 5.4.3.

# 5.3.2. Herding Behavior

### 5.3.2.1 Definition

Herding behavior describes the phenomenon of individuals imitating the actions of other individuals or aligning their decisions with those of others (Spyrou, 2013). On the capital market, investors subsequently trade in the same direction (Nofsinger and Sias, 1999) and disregard private information to follow the current trend instead (Avery and Zemsky, 1998). Although herding behavior is widely recognized as irrational behavior that impairs market

efficiency, situations exist in which herding behavior is at least similar to rational decisionmaking. As Litimi et al. (2016) point out, herding behavior as such cannot be strictly classified as a bias, whereas other biases, such as conformity (Hirshleifer, 2001), home bias (Feng and Seasholes, 2004), or availability bias (Kuran and Sunstein, 1999), can contribute to herding tendencies. Two general forms can be distinguished. Intentional herding means that investors choose to suppress prior judgments and instead copy actions of others. This type of imitation may be motivated by the expectation of positive externalities or "payoffs". These payoffs may be *informational* and driven by the expectation about asymmetrically distributed information, so that investors ignore private information either because other agents might be better informed or have better information processing capabilities (Devenow and Welch, 1996). Thus, by imitation, agents can gain an informational advantage in information-based models. Such behavior may foster the development of information cascades and lead to inefficient equilibria (Banerjee, 1992; Bikhchandani et al., 1992), e.g., capital market anomalies such as bubbles and collapses, increasing systemic risk. *Professional* payoffs are also subject to herd incentives and can be categorized into two types of models. Reputation-based models explain herd incentives in terms of the relative performance of fund managers compared to their peers (Scharfstein and Stein, 1990; Froot et al., 1992; Graham, 1999). In compensation-based models, managers participate in herding behavior as they are often compensated relative to a benchmark (Chevalier and Ellison, 1999; Graham, 1999; Maug and Naik, 2011). Spurious or unintentional herding occurs when investors react independently to the same set of information (Gebka and Wohar, 2013; Galariotis et al., 2015; Bekiros et al., 2017). Similar investment strategies due to similarities between investment professionals and investment styles are drivers of spurious herding behavior (Kallinterakis and Gregoriou, 2017; Kyriazis, 2020). However, as noted earlier, herding behavior is perceived as an irrational phenomenon, in part because of its potential to reduce market efficiency and induce capital market anomalies such as speculative bubbles (Lux, 1995; Olsen, 2011; Scherbina and Schlusche, 2014; Bekiros et al., 2017). Refer to literature surveys, e.g., by Hirshleifer and Hong Teoh (2003); Fenzl and Pelzmann (2012); Spyrou (2013); Kallinterakis and Gregoriou (2017); Komalasari et al. (2022) for more details about the different forms of herding behavior.

# 5.3.2.2 Evidence for the US Stock Market

Regardless of the methods discussed in Sections 5.3.2.3 and 5.4.2, there are various findings in the literature. Since this study is focused on the US market, the overview of empirical findings is limited to the American market. Lakonishok et al. (1992) examined the fund positions of 769 tax-exempt American funds and found no evidence of herding behavior or positive feedback trading. A similar result is reported by Grinblatt et al. (1995), who also analyzed transaction data of American investment funds and could not identify herding

behavior. The studies conducted by Chang et al. (2000) and Chiang and Zheng (2010) investigated herding behavior in international financial markets but could not establish its presence in the American market. Methodologically, both studies were based on a variation of the approach introduced by Christie and Huang (1995) and confirmed their results for the American market. On the contrary, Hwang and Salmon (2004) identified herding behavior in the S&P 500 using their own methodology, both in rising and falling markets. Their findings suggest that market stress and crises contribute to restoring market equilibrium, potentially enhancing market efficiency. The studies by Sias (2004) and Choi and Sias (2009) indicate that institutional investors in the US tend to follow each other in herding behavior to derive information from previous transactions. Furthermore, Messis and Zapranis (2014) found evidence of herding behavior in the American S&P 500 and observed that herding behavior is triggered by shocks in macroeconomic variables. Finally, Bekiros et al. (2017) examined the American indices S&P 100 and DJIA and detected herding behavior in both markets. Their analysis of sub-periods revealed that herding behavior was insignificant during the global financial crisis (GFC) but prevailed in the post-crisis period. The accumulation of these studies highlights the ambiguity of the results, even within a single market. This highlights the need to re-examine the US market with a new sample and also opens up the perspective of considering herding behavior as a subject of study in the context of stock market bubbles.

# 5.3.2.3 Empirical Methods

The empirical literature knows several measures to identify herding behavior in market data. For review articles, see, e.g., Spyrou (2013); Kallinterakis and Gregoriou (2017). A distinction can be made between a micro level and a macro level or aggregate view.

The former uses, e.g., trading data from investors on their accounts, portfolios and transactions. An early measure of the first category is based on the LSV model of Lakonishok et al. (1992) which focuses on the micro level of investor behavior. Institutional fund data is used to identify the degree of correlation between the trading positions of different fund managers to test for herding behavior. The test statistic measures the average tendency of (pension) funds to trade (buy or sell) a respective stock at the same time. The portfolio change measure (PCM) of Grinblatt et al. (1995) is methodologically in the same vein, but additionally differentiates whether the transaction is a purchase or a sale in each case. Sias (2004) further developed this approach by testing directly for inter-temporal dependence of cross-sectional institutional demand.

At the macro level, the methods are primarily based on easily accessible market data, such as prices and trading volumes (Kallinterakis and Gregoriou, 2017). Christie and Huang (1995) proposed a model based on the relationship between cross-sectional dispersion of returns and extreme market returns. Thus, they measure herding behavior towards the market

under the assumption that investors are more likely to neglect their own information in favor of market opinion in times of market stress. When herding takes place, the dispersion of individual asset returns is smaller than a rational asset price model would predict. Therefore, a negative coefficient indicates herding behavior when the dispersion measure is regressed on extreme market returns. The approach of Chang et al. (2000) is similar, but in addition to the linear relationship between the cross-sectional return dispersion and the market return, nonlinearities are considered in the regression specification. Hwang and Salmon (2004) measure herding behavior using the deviation of the observed cross-sectional dispersion of the factor sensitivities of individual assets from the equilibrium beliefs derived from the capital asset pricing model (CAPM). This approach is implemented and discussed in detail in Section 5.4.2.

# 5.3.3. Bubbles due to Herding Behavior

# 5.3.3.1 Theoretical Contributions

Numerous models and studies exist which show how herding behavior can lead to price distortions. Avery and Zemsky (1998) propose a model that takes several dimensions of uncertainty in the financial market into account. There is uncertainty about the future value of an asset and uncertainty about the information of other market participants. The authors show that herding behavior can occur and lead to bubbles when uncertainty is high and the information of market participants is not perfect. Scherbina and Schlusche (2014) list several incentives for why money managers participate in herding behavior. For example, managers may be forced to invest in high-sentiment stocks, thereby perpetuating bubbles, knowing that mutual fund investors will move their money into the best-performing funds, as suggested by Frazzini and Lamont (2008). Managers therefore have incentives to follow their peers when their performance lags behind. Shiller (2002) argues that money managers' limited resources imply that not every investment opportunity can be conclusively evaluated. Observing peers' trading decisions might lead to the assumption that it was made on the basis of more extensive assessments so that managers may decide to imitate. In the model of Scharfstein and Stein (1990), competing agents of two different types behave in a manner consistent with Keynes' assertion that "it is better to fail conventionally than to succeed unconventionally" (Keynes, 1936). Under certain circumstances, the decisions of the first mover are adapted irrespective of private information, since the feared reputational damage is greater if they fail alone. In addition, the fact that money managers are often evaluated based on their relative performance to an appropriate benchmark and compensated accordingly reinforces the case to follow other managers (Lux, 1995). DeMarzo et al. (2008) show that retail investors, like professional investors, are also affected by incentives to imitate. In their model, agents' utility depends on their relative wealth compared to other agents. Therefore, they choose to invest in bubbles to avoid falling behind the relative wealth of peers when prices rise. The price distortion thereby grows over time and increases the incentive to herd. The authors identify herding behavior as a key component in driving bubbles and thus characterize bubbles as a social phenomenon. Bikhchandani et al. (1992) explain localized herding behavior in a general environment with sequential decisions and social contagion, where individuals stochastically choose to adopt a prior decision of other investors. Chang (2014) supposes a model with heterogeneous interacting agents and finds that herding behavior arises naturally when there are strong social interactions among investors. Moreover, a bubble can be perpetuated by herding behavior in the presence of strong exogenous social interactions. Steiger and Pelster (2020) use an experimental test to show that social interaction increases the likelihood of bubbles occurring. Interestingly, the effect is stronger in natural face-to-face situations than in typical social media-like interactions. The agent-based model by Harras and Sornette (2011) shows how bubbles can arise due to a social feedback mechanism that transforms a streak of positive news into a transient collective herding regime. Schaal and Taschereau-Dumouchel (2023) propose a herding model in which technology-driven boom-bust cycles arise due to investors' overoptimism. Thoma (2013) shows that the likelihood of a bubble occurring is higher when the herding propensity of heterogeneous agents increases due to bad advice. Hott (2009) proposes a model in which herding behavior leads to bubbles without investors being exposed to speculative incentives. Instead, market participants follow so-called mood investors who overestimate the level of information in the market. The positive feedback effect ultimately results in price distortions.

# 5.3.3.2 Empirical Evidence

The theoretical contributions suggest quite clearly that herding behavior, among other factors, can trigger and drive financial market bubbles. The empirical evidence is less clear. First, studies show that asset returns are influenced by herding behavior, cf. e.g., Nofsinger and Sias (1999); Sias (2004); Singh (2013); Celiker et al. (2015). Chen and Demirer (2018) study the Taiwanese stock market using different herding measures and find that a high level of herding yields higher subsequent returns. The findings indicate that the level of herding could act as a systematic driver of returns. Other studies demonstrate the relationship between volatility and herding behavior. Hoitash and Krishnan (2008) argue that herding behavior might lead to excessive volatility. Venezia et al. (2011) find in a four-year data set of customer transactions of an Israeli bank a tendency toward herding behavior among both professional and amateur investors, although it is more pronounced among the latter. Moreover, they observe that herding behavior correlates with stock price volatility and even conditions it in terms of Granger causality. Tan et al. (2008) find that herding behavior is more pronounced in a rising market and also relate this to high trading volume and excessive volatility. Other

studies have also commented on this, but some go further by exploring the link between herding behavior and bubbles. Litimi et al. (2016) argue that excessive trading volume can thus further drive herding behavior and lead to potential abnormal price increases. They study the US stock market during four major periods of turbulence using dummy variables in a modified version of the regression model by Chang et al. (2000), the Black Monday (1987), the dot-com bubble (1997–2000), the downturn afterwards (2002) and the GFC (2008). The Granger causality test results suggest that herding behaviour and trading volume have an inhibitory effect on overall market volatility in large markets which is contrasted with other research that focuses on more concentrated markets. Moreover, the study shows that herding behavior is a crucial factor in the formation of bubbles in some sectors, but not all. This confirms the theoretical prediction that growing bubbles incentivise temporary collective herding behavior. Singh (2013) studies the trading behavior of institutional investors during the internet bubble and crash of 1998-2001. The study shows that institutional herding is associated with positive abnormal returns, while negative abnormal returns occur when herding behavior ceases. This suggests that institutional herding may have caused temporary price pressure and contributed to a price bubble. Bekiros et al. (2017) employ a cross-sectional absolute deviation approach in the spirit of Chang et al. (2000) and quantile regressions in US markets over varying time periods. They examine the impact of the GFC (2007–2009) on herding behavior and find a dynamic pattern in which herding behavior was strong and significant in the pre-crisis period, i.e. the build-up phase of the housing bubble. During and after the crisis, the intensity increasingly weakened. The authors also find a positive and significant correlation between herding behavior and market volatility. Chmura et al. (2022) study herding behavior in an experimental financial market with a feature reminiscent of social trading platforms. Thereby, the trading decisions of investors who have the largest wealth gains on a scoreboard are imitated. In this particular setting, the authors find that herding behavior is associated with less asset mispricing. Haykir and Yagli (2022) examine the cryptocurrency market for bubbles using the identification method of Phillips et al. (2015) during 15 months of the COVID-19 period. In addition, they investigate whether herding behavior occurs during bubbles by including dummies for bubbles of each cryptocurrency in the regression model of Chang et al. (2000). They find that herding behavior in the overall market declines when a particular cryptocurrency has a bubble, suggesting that bubbles cannot be explained by herding behavior. In addition, they calculate herding dummies using a timevarying measure based on 30-day rolling window regressions according to Bouri et al. (2019). Examining the reverse relationship, they find in a logistic regression that only bubbles in a few cryptocurrencies have an impact on herding behavior.

The mixed empirical results necessitate further research that takes a different methodolog-

ical approach while aiming at a general investigation of the relationship between bubbles and herding behavior. In contrast to other studies, this study aims at methodological objectivity by combining two well-established methods in logistic and other multivariate regressions which are accepted in the literature and largely robust. This approach avoids the arbitrary inclusion of bubble periods as dummy variables. In addition, unlike the studies conducted with Chang et al. (2000), a time-varying measure is used, providing a deeper insight into herding dynamics. Based on the theoretical starting point, the relationship is examined. This is based on the following working hypothesis:

#### *H*<sub>0</sub>: *Bubbles are not driven or triggered by herding behavior.*

# 5.4. Empirical Analysis

# 5.4.1. Data

The daily stock market variables for all constituents of the S&P 500 stock index, including closing prices, market capitalizations, dividend yields, and trading volumes, representing the US market from 1990-01-01 to 2022-12-31 are obtained from Refinitiv Eikon. Changes in index composition are taken into account on an annual basis to avoid survivorship bias. A market capitalization-weighted market index is calculated to ensure greater consistency when comparing herding behaviour with the occurrence of bubbles.

Trade volume and return volatility are included as control variables as the theoretical models of Scheinkman and Xiong (2003) and Mei et al. (2009) provide evidence that bubbles are associated with increasing trading volume and higher volatility, while Wang and Chen (2019) empirically confirm these variables as drivers of bubbles. Wang and Chen (2019) additionally note that monetary policy and credit have an impact, so the growth rate of money supply M2, a reference interest rate and the growth of credit relative to GDP are included. The interest rate, proxied by the 3-month US government bond yield, reflects the macroeconomic situation and influences both the cost of borrowing and investment behaviors (Pan, 2020). As bubbles are often accompanied by economic expansion (Scherbina and Schlusche, 2014), economic growth is additionally included depicting the macroeconomic situation. The variable is proxied by the growth of industrial production (Pan, 2020) and GDP. Pan (2020) also shows that investor sentiment can be used to predict bubble probabilities, highlighting the importance of investor sentiment in explaining bubbles. For this reason, a sentiment variable proxied by the survey-based US Consumer Confidence Index (CCI) by the Conference Board is included. Moreover, Bouri et al. (2019) demonstrate that economic uncertainty significantly increases the probability of herding in cryptocurrencies using a probit model. Enoksen et al. (2020) find that the occurrence of bubbles can also be explained by economic uncertainty. Therefore, uncertainty is also included here, measured by the news-based economic policy uncertainty  $(EPU_t)$  index of the US by Baker et al. (2016). This complements the consideration of return volatility, as volatility can also be seen as an indicator of uncertainty and bubbles can be accompanied by higher volatility (Avery and Zemsky, 1998).

Most of the control variables are also obtained from Refinitiv Eikon, such as trade volume  $(tv_t)$ , economic growth  $(gGDP_t)$ , industrial production growth  $(gIP_t)$ , growth of money supply M2  $(gM2_t)$ , the reference interest rate  $(r_t)$ , consumer sentiment  $(SENT_t)$  and the price-dividend ratio  $(PDR_t)$ . The growth of credit as a ratio to GDP  $(gCRGDP_t)$  is from the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) data base. Monthly volatility  $(pv_t)$  is calculated as standard deviation over daily log returns of the market index for each month. Most variables are available in monthly frequency, except for  $gGDP_t$  and  $gCRGDP_t$ . However, as outlined in Section 5.4.2, the main drawback of the method utilized subsequently, which was proposed by Hwang and Salmon (2004), is the reduction in data points compared to the methodologies introduced by Christie and Huang (1995) and Chang et al. (2000). Therefore, quarterly control variables are converted to monthly data when feasible to avoid losing even more observations in the subsequent regression analysis. The quarterly GDP data are transformed from quarterly to monthly data using the R package "tempdisagg" proposed by Sax and Steiner (2013) for temporal disaggregation of time series. In this case, the standard Denton-Cholette method (Dagum and Cholette, 2006) applies a simple interpolation that satisfies the temporal additivity constraint, which makes sense here since the quarterly values of GDP are split between the individual months, as the quarterly values of GDP are a sum of the monthly output generated. The quarterly data for credit relative to GDP are in turn transformed using linear interpolation, since the level of credit or money supply remains at the quarterly level each month.

Table 8 summarizes the descriptive statistics of the main variables. As can be seen, the results of the Jarque-Bera (JB) test suggest that all variables are significantly different from a normal distribution. The results of the augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) test indicate that six of the variables are stationary, while trading volume, interest rate, and sentiment become stationary after taking the first-order differences. The variable  $h_{mt}$  calculated in Section 5.4.2 fluctuates around 0 in the long run and therefore has no drift and no trend as suggested by Hwang and Salmon (2004). Thus, the ADF test specification excludes trend and drift for  $h_{mt}$ . This is important because the power of the ADF test suffers when irrelevant parameters are included in the specification (Enders, 2015). In addition, a correlation analysis indicated that there are no multicollinearity problems. All variance inflation factors are below 2.5. The results are available upon request.

	Mean	Std	Max	Min	JB test	ADF test
h <sub>mt</sub>	0.045	0.290	0.692	-0.747	10.312***	-2.888***
$pv_t$	0.015	0.009	0.063	0.003	421.34***	-3.954**
$tv_t$	15662.51	10978.68	54458.48	0.000	53.153***	-2.295
$gGDP_t$	0.002	0.005	0.049	-0.054	58155***	-8.295***
$gIP_t$	0.001	0.011	0.063	-0.144	129380***	$-6.658^{***}$
$gM2_t$	0.005	0.007	0.063	-0.015	3144.8***	-4.541***
$gCRGDP_t$	0.001	0.003	0.013	-0.009	158.31***	-3.450**
$r_t$ (%)	2.583	2.272	8.094	-0.010	31.365***	-2.754
$SENT_t$	95.166	26.523	1.447	25.300	12.543***	-1.916
$EPU_t$	126.276	60.251	503.963	44.783	1224.9***	-3.810**

Table 8: Descriptive statistics.

*Note:* Descriptive statistics for all variables relevant to the subsequent regression analysis. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

#### 5.4.2. Detection of Herding Behavior

In the subsequent analysis of the relationship between bubbles and herding behavior in Section 5.4.4, where both variables are merged as inputs, it is preferable, for the sake of consistency, to calculate both input variables on a common data base. Therefore, a market-wide measure of herding is more suitable here than a transaction-based one. The advantage of the method by Hwang and Salmon (2004) is that it provides a visual and continuous measure that can be used as an explanatory variable in regression. Moreover, in the realm of market-wide herding measures, Demirer et al. (2010) confirm that the method of Hwang and Salmon (2004) is equally effective as the method of Chang et al. (2000). For these reasons, herding behavior is calculated using the approach by Hwang and Salmon (2004) for the following analysis.

The CAPM (Sharpe, 1964; Lintner, 1965; Mossin, 1966) is used to define the risk-return equilibrium relationship of equities and is expressed as:

$$\mathbf{E}_t(r_{it}) = \beta_{imt} \mathbf{E}_t(r_{mt}),\tag{56}$$

where  $r_{it}$  and  $r_{mt}$  are the excess returns on asset *i* and the market at time *t*, respectively.  $\beta_{imt}$  is the systematic risk measure, and  $E_t(\cdot)$  is conditional expectation at time *t*. The concept of market-wide herding behavior differs from the common definition of investors following each other by imitating trading activities, because here investors follow market views about a market index, for example. Both notions of herding behavior are important because both potentially lead to mispricing of individual assets as equilibrium beliefs are suppressed. It is assumed that investors first form expectations of market returns and then, conditional on these, consider the value of an individual asset. In this view, herding behavior leads to a distorted risk-return relationship, so that CAPM betas for individual assets deviate from their unbiased

equilibrium values. The conditional expectation on the excess return of asset *i* and its beta at time t are denoted by  $E_t^b(r_{it})$  and  $\beta_{imt}^b$ , respectively. According to the CAPM, if the market rises significantly, then for an asset with  $\beta_{imt} > 1$ ,  $E_t(r_{it}) > E_t(r_{mt})$ . Herding behavior in the direction of the market performance, however, leads to selling of the asset, which causes the price to fall, so that  $0 < E_t^b(r_{it}) < E_t(r_{it})$  and correspondingly  $1 < \beta_{imt}^b < \beta_{imt}$ . When the market falls significantly,  $E_t(r_{it}) < E_t(r_{mt})$  holds for the same asset according to the CAPM. Here, however, herding behavior in the direction of the market performance causes the asset to be bought and the price to rise, so that  $E_t(r_{it}) < E_t^b(r_{it}) < 0$  and accordingly  $1 < \beta_{imt}^b < \beta_{imt}$ . For an asset with  $\beta_{imt} < 1$ , the inverse relationship holds such that  $1 > \beta_{imt}^b > \beta_{imt}$ . An asset with  $\beta_{imt} = 1$  is immune to herding behavior. Consequently, herding behavior towards the performance of the market portfolio reduces the cross-sectional dispersion of individual betas. In the extreme case where the expected returns of all assets become equal to the expected return of the market portfolio, all individual betas would be equal to one and the cross-sectional dispersion would be zero. The opposite form of herding behavior exists as well, adverse herding behavior, where betas > 1 become even larger and betas < 1 become even smaller. Individual returns are then more sensitive to stocks with high betas and less sensitive to stocks with low betas. Adverse herding behavior represents mean reversion and must exist because there must be a systematic mechanism by which the long-run equilibrium beta can be regained.

Therefore, instead of the equilibrium relationship in Equation (56), in the presence of herding Hwang and Salmon (2004) assume the following relationship:

1. .

$$\frac{E_t^o(r_{it})}{E_t(r_{mt})} = \beta_{imt}^b = \beta_{imt} - h_{mt}(\beta_{imt} - 1),$$
(57)

where  $h_{mt}$  is a latent herding parameter that changes over time. If  $h_{mt} = 0$ , then no herding behavior exists and  $\beta_{imt} = \beta_{imt}^b$ . On the other hand, if  $h_{mt} = 1$ , then  $\beta_{imt}^b = 1$ , which is the beta of the market portfolio, so the expected excess return of the asset will be equal to that of the market portfolio. In general, if  $0 < h_{mt} < 1$ , there exists a degree of herding behavior whose magnitude is given by  $h_{mt}$ . As described, adverse herding behavior also exists, so  $h_{mt} < 0$  is allowed. The level of herding behavior is calculated across all assets, as market-wide herding behavior is examined here, thus eliminating idiosyncratic effects in any individual  $\beta_{imt}^b$ . It is assumed that Equation (57) holds for all assets in the market. Therefore, the cross-sectional standard deviation is calculated according to

$$Std_{c}(\beta_{imt}^{b}) = \sqrt{E_{c}((\beta_{imt} - h_{mt}(\beta_{imt} - 1) - 1)^{2})}$$

$$= \sqrt{E_{c}((\beta_{imt} - 1)^{2})(1 - h_{mt})}$$

$$= Std_{c}(\beta_{imt})(1 - h_{mt}),$$
(58)

where  $E_c(\cdot)$  and  $Std_c(\cdot)$  are the cross-sectional expectation and standard deviation, respectively. The impact of idiosyncratic changes in  $\beta_{imt}$  is minimized by calculating  $Std_c(\beta_{imt})$ using a large number of assets, while  $Std_c(\beta_{imt})$  is allowed to be stochastic to monitor movements in the equilibrium beta. It is assumed that  $Std_c(\beta_{imt})$  does not change significantly, so that systematic movements in  $Std_c(\beta_{imt}^b)$  can be explained by changes in  $h_{mt}$ . By taking the logarithm of Equation (58),  $h_{mt}$  can be extracted in the following:

$$\log[\operatorname{Std}_c(\beta_{imt}^b)] = \log[\operatorname{Std}_c(\beta_{imt})] + \log(1 - h_{mt}).$$
(59)

Defining  $\mu_m = E(\log[Std_c(\beta_{imt})])$ , the above assumption on  $Std_c(\beta_{imt})$  yields:

$$\log[\operatorname{Std}_c(\beta_{imt})] = \mu_m + v_{mt},\tag{60}$$

where  $v_{mt} \sim i.i.d.(0, \sigma_{mv}^2)$  is assumed. The parameter  $H_{mt}$  is assumed to be dynamic and modeled as an AR(1) process:

$$\log[\operatorname{Std}_c(\beta_{imt}^b)] = \mu_m + H_{mt} + v_{mt},\tag{61}$$

$$H_{mt} = \phi_m H_{mt-1} + \eta_{mt},\tag{62}$$

where  $H_{mt} = \log(1 - h_{mt})$  and  $\eta_{mt} \sim i.i.d.(0, \sigma_{m\eta}^2)$ . This results in a state-space model that can be estimated with a Kalman filter, where Equations (61) and (62) are the measurement equation and state equation. The focus is on the process of the latent variable  $H_{mt}$ . If  $\sigma_{m\eta}^2 = 0$  there is no herding behavior and  $H_{mt} = 0$  for all *t*. In contrast, a significant value for  $\sigma_{m\eta}^2$  indicates the existence of herding behavior while this interpretation is supported by a significant  $\phi$ . Since  $H_{mt}$  is assumed to be stationary,  $|\phi_m| \le 1$  is required.

To calculate  $\text{Std}_c(\beta_{imt}^b)$ , first the market model betas are estimated over monthly intervals with daily return data using OLS according to:

$$r_{it_d} = \alpha_{it}^b + \beta_{imt}^b r_{mt_d} + \epsilon_{it_d},\tag{63}$$

where  $t_d$  indicates daily data *d* for the given month *t*. Using the estimated betas for each sample stock *i* and month *t*,  $\hat{\beta}_{imt}^b$ , the monthly time-series of cross-sectional standard deviation of the betas is calculated as follows:

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Std}_{c}(\hat{\beta}_{imt}^{b})} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{N_{t}} (\hat{\beta}_{imt}^{b} - \overline{\hat{\beta}_{imt}^{b}})^{2}}{N_{t}}},$$
(64)

where  $\overline{\hat{\beta}_{imt}^b} = \frac{1}{N_t} \sum_{i=1}^{N_t} \hat{\beta}_{imt}^b$  and  $N_t$  is the number of assets in the month *t*.

Table 9: Results of the state-space model.

	$\mu_m$	$\sigma_{mv}$	$\phi_m$	$\sigma_{m\eta}$
S&P 500	-0.751***	0.0564***	0.978***	0.005***
	(0.162)	(0.005)	(0.010)	(0.001)

*Note:* The table shows the results of estimating the state-space model from Equation (61). Standard errors are given in parentheses. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

Results for the state-space model estimation are displayed in Table 9. The variable  $H_{mt}$  exhibits strong persistence with a high and statistically significant  $\phi_m$ . Additionally,  $\sigma_{m\eta}^2$  is highly significant at the 1% level, indicating the presence of herding behavior towards the S&P 500 market index. The herding measure  $h_{mt} = 1 - \exp(H_{mt})$  is displayed in Figure 8

Figure 8: The herding measure  $h_{mt}$  for the S&P 500 based on the state-space model specified in Equations (61) and (62).



for the US market. Initially, the highest values of  $h_{mt}$  are less than 1, reaching a maximum of 0.69 in the positive range and -0.75 in the negative range. Overall,  $h_{mt}$  moves around its

long-term average value of zero, similar to Hwang and Salmon (2004). In 1995, however, there is a significant drop in its level, which causes  $h_{mt}$  to hover around zero in 1996, with minor fluctuations. Between 2000 and 2015, a significant downward movement is observed, marking the beginning of various cycles of herding and adverse herding behavior towards the market portfolio, some of which have strong characteristics. From 2016 to 2018,  $h_{mt}$  experiences a sharp decline, characterized by a period of adverse herding behavior. Towards the end of the sample period, around 2020,  $h_{mt}$  shows an upward trend, reaching higher levels by 2022.

#### 5.4.3. Detection of Bubbles

The method of PWY (2011) and the refined version of PSY (2015) offer a widely acknowledged generalized sup ADF (GSADF) test that has been used multiple times and is considered as largely robust, cf. e.g., Phillips et al. (2015); Cheung et al. (2015); Escobari et al. (2017); Corbet et al. (2018); Gomez-Gonzalez et al. (2018); Hu and Oxley (2018a,b); Pan (2020); Hudepohl et al. (2021). Therefore, the improved test is utilized to identify bubbles in the US stock market. However, for the application of the PSY (2015) test procedure, the GSADF test statistic must first be explained. The GSADF test takes repeated ADF test regressions on sub-samples of the data while varying the start and end points of the sub-samples. The sample of a rolling regression starts at  $r_1$  and ends at  $r_2$ , where  $r_1$  and  $r_2$  are each fractions of the total sample T and  $r_w$  indicates the size of the window, since  $r_2 = r_1 + r_w$  and  $r_w > 0$ . The start points  $r_1$  vary in the range from 0 to  $r_2 - r_0$ , and the end points  $r_2$  vary from  $r_0$  to 1. The GSADF statistic is the largest ADF statistic over all feasible sub-samples and is specified by:

$$GSADF(r_0) = \sup_{r_2 \in [0, r_1]; r_1 \in [0, r_2 - r_0]} \{ADF_{r_1}^{r_2}\}.$$
(65)

The following regression is used to perform the test:

$$y_{t} = \alpha_{r_{1},r_{2}} + \beta_{r_{1},r_{2}}y_{t-1} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \psi_{r_{1},r_{2}}^{i} \Delta y_{t-i} + \varepsilon_{t},$$
(66)

where  $y_t$  is the variable of interest at time t, k indicates the lag order, and  $\Delta$  is the difference operator. For the error term  $\varepsilon_t \sim i.i.d.(0, \sigma^2)$  is assumed. If the null hypothesis is rejected because the test statistic exceeds a critical value, this is considered an indicator of explosive behavior, which is interpreted as a bubble. The null and alternative hypotheses of the test are:

 $H_0: \beta_{r_1,r_2} = 1$  (no bubble)  $H_1: \beta_{r_1,r_2} > 1$  (explosive bubble). To determine the period of a bubble, the backward SADF (BSADF) method of PSY (2015) is used. Right-tailed ADF tests are applied to the backward expanding sample sequences using

$$BSADF_{r_2}(r_0) = \sup_{r_1 \in [0, r_2 - r_0]} \{ADF_{r_2}(r_1)\}.$$
(67)

The (fractional) starting and ending points (i.e.,  $r_e$  and  $r_f$ ) of a bubble are the first chronological observation whose BSADF test statistic exceeds a corresponding critical value, and the first observation of the BSADF test statistic that falls below the critical value after  $\lfloor T\hat{r}_e \rfloor + \delta \log(T)$ , respectively. The parameter  $\delta$  is determined based on the frequency of the data. The effect of this specification is that the duration of bubbles should exceed a minimum period to avoid interpreting short-lived outliers as bubbles. Formally, the points are given by:

$$\hat{r}_e = \inf_{r_2 \in [r_0, 1]} \{ r_2 : BSADF_{r_2}(r_0) > scv_{r_2}^{\beta_T} \},$$
(68)

$$\hat{r}_f = \inf_{\substack{r_2 \in [\hat{r}_e + \delta \log(T)/T, 1]}} \{ r_2 : BSADF_{r_2}(r_0) < scv_{r_2}^{\beta_T} \},$$
(69)

where  $scv_{r_2}^{\beta_T}$  is the  $100(1 - \beta_T)\%$  critical value of the sup ADF statistic based on  $\lfloor T\hat{r}_2 \rfloor$  observations. The minimum sub-sample size  $r_0$  is recommended to follow  $r_0 = 0.01 + 1.8\sqrt{T}$  so that sufficient observations are used for initial calculation. In addition, a bootstrapping procedure following Phillips and Shi (2020) is implemented to mitigate the potential influence of conditional heteroskedasticity in asset returns (Harvey et al., 2016) and to address the multiplicity issue in recursive testing (Shi et al., 2020).

The procedure is applied to the price-dividend ratio of the market index and the optimal lag k length is selected based on the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) with a maximum lag order of six. The result is a dummy variable, indicating a bubble at time t with a value of 1, so that:

$$B_{t} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } BSADF_{t} \ge scv_{r_{2}}^{\beta_{T}} \\ 0, & \text{if } BSADF_{t} \le scv_{r_{2}}^{\beta_{T}} \end{cases}$$
(70)

Figure 9 shows the identified explosive periods for the S&P 500 (shaded areas), as well as the path of the price-dividend ratio. The explosive market phases encompass bubble and crisis periods, depending on whether there is an overall increase or decrease in the price-dividend ratio (Phillips et al., 2015). In the context of the analysis, we consider both of these explosive



**Figure 9:** The price-dividend ratio  $(PDR_t)$  with shaded areas indicating exuberant bubble periods.

phases as bubbles, as a sharp decline in the price-dividend ratio leads to undervaluation, which can be interpreted as a negative bubble (Yan et al., 2012; Scherbina and Schlusche, 2014).

Three significant bubble periods have been identified using the method proposed by Phillips et al. (2015). The first and longest bubble period commences in January 1996 and, with the exception of two brief interruptions, extends until February 2001. This period coincides with the dot-com period and pertains to the late 1990s stock market boom, during which numerous internet companies were founded. Both private and institutional investors invested heavily in technology stocks, encouraged by media coverage of the boom and expectations of strong productivity improvements due to technological progress (Kindleberger, 2005; Brunnermeier and Schnabel, 2015). The second explosive phase in the sample spans seven months, from September 2008 to April 2009, marking the collapse of the accumulated house price boom, coinciding with the insolvency of investment bank Lehman Brothers in the same month, which triggered the GFC Brunnermeier and Schnabel (2015). This explosive period is not a classic bubble but rather a negative bubble due to the undervaluations caused by the collapse. The third period runs from January 2021 to February 2022, coinciding with the time of the COVID-19 pandemic. As the COVID-19 virus rapidly spread globally and the S&P 500 lost over 30% of its value in March 2020, the Federal Reserve (FED), like other central banks, implemented loose monetary policies. Monetary (and fiscal) instruments to support the US economy, such as lowering the federal funds rate, reviving quantitative easing programs, among others (Haas et al., 2020), may have contributed to the rapid recovery of the financial markets, thus causing the third explosive period in this sample.

## 5.4.4. Regression Analysis

## 5.4.4.1 Baseline Analysis

To analyze the influence of herding on bubbles the following binary regression specifications are employed:

$$\operatorname{Prob}(B_t = 1) = \operatorname{F}(Y_t\beta) \tag{71}$$

where  $Prob(\cdot)$  represents the probability of a bubble at time *t*.  $F(\cdot)$  is the cumulative density function, and  $Y_t$  is the parameter vector containing predictors, including the herding measure and control variables, described in Section 5.4.1. For the logit model,  $F(\cdot)$  is the cumulative density function of the logistic distribution, and for the probit model,  $F(\cdot)$  is the cumulative density function of the standard normal distribution. Additionally, a linear regression specification based on the BSADF test statistic is included as it provides guidance to which variables are statistically significant (Cameron and Trivedi, 2005, p. 471) and offers a more comfortable interpretation of the estimated coefficients as predicted probabilities.

Table 10 displays the results of the baseline regressions to test  $H_0$ . The variable  $h_{mt}$  is included as a rate of change, as this makes it more responsive. The results in columns (1), (3) and (5) demonstrate a significant negative influence of the change of herding denoted as  $\Delta h_{mt}$ on the probability of speculative bubbles to occur. The coefficient's significance level varies based on the selected model specification, being observed at the 10% significance level in the logit and probit model specification and at the 5% level in the OLS specification.

Notably, the negative coefficient sign for  $\Delta h_{mt}$  raises curiosity, suggesting that herding towards markets may not inherently contribute to bubble formation, which is contrary to theory or educated expectation. Instead, this negative correlation implies that adverse herding could serve as a predictive factor for the emergence of speculative bubbles or exuberant behavior. Since  $h_{mt}$  has been included as a differentiated variable in the regression and is therefore more sensitive, the probability of bubble occurrence decreases as herding behavior increases, and conversely, the probability of bubble occurrence increases as herding behavior decreases.

If  $h_{mt}$  decreases from a positive level towards zero, then adverse herding behavior will occur to restore the long term equilibrium. If  $h_{mt}$  is absolutely negative, this is also adverse herding, and the effect from there back to equilibrium should then be normal herding towards the market. However, the same mechanical process always occurs with adverse herding behavior: the betas develop away from the market instead of aligning with it. In the positive absolute range of herding behavior ( $h_{mt} > 0$ ) this means that equilibrium is restored, whereas in the negative absolute range ( $h_{mt} < 0$ ) the magnitudes become even stronger, beyond equilibrium (Hwang and Salmon, 2004).

	B <sub>t</sub>		E	$B_t$	BSADF <sub>t</sub>		
	Lo	git	Pro	obit	0	LS	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
$\Delta h_{mt}$	-5.938*	-8.862***	-3.301*	-4.974***	-3.452**	-5.453***	
	(3.411)	(3.090)	(1.869)	(1.682)	(1.506)	(1.172)	
magnitude $(h_{mt})$		-0.296* (0.158)		-0.174** (0.086)		-0.156** (0.070)	
$\Delta h_{mt} \times \text{magnitude}(h_{mt})$		-1.428*** (0.454)		-0.817*** (0.242)		-0.750*** (0.222)	
$\log(pv_t)$	1.767**	2.612***	1.018**	1.496***	1.142***	1.587***	
	(0.792)	(0.893)	(0.445)	(0.495)	(0.377)	(0.304)	
$\Delta \log(t v_t)$	0.615***	0.597***	0.348***	0.336***	0.149**	0.119*	
	(0.151)	(0.173)	(0.087)	(0.094)	(0.063)	(0.067)	
$gGDP_t$	89.492***	100.815***	54.592***	60.982***	48.876***	48.582***	
	(20.363)	(30.480)	(12.857)	(18.958)	(17.510)	(17.790)	
$IP_t$	-9.394	-3.043	-5.954	-2.806	-3.635	-2.218	
	(15.687)	(23.463)	(8.815)	(13.489)	(6.159)	(4.483)	
$gM2_t$	82.028***	75.175**	45.621***	41.467**	28.644**	28.073**	
	(22.207)	(36.714)	(12.745)	(20.577)	(12.729)	(12.714)	
gCRGDP <sub>t</sub>	-93.222	-118.404	-55.992	-69.754	18.174	10.411	
	(184.768)	(184.031)	(106.505)	(105.806)	(93.567)	(85.729)	
$\Delta r_t$ (%)	-0.333	-0.099	-0.227	-0.114	-0.249	-0.122	
	(0.848)	(0.836)	(0.490)	(0.478)	(0.445)	(0.403)	
$\Delta SENT_t$	-0.001	0.001	-0.002	-0.00004	0.001	0.001	
	(0.015)	(0.021)	(0.008)	(0.011)	(0.006)	(0.007)	
$\log(EPU_t)$	-1.862**	-2.495**	-1.042**	-1.392***	-0.741	-0.987**	
	(0.818)	(0.975)	(0.458)	(0.536)	(0.450)	(0.431)	
Constant	14.548**	21.129***	8.227**	11.911***	8.325**	11.409***	
	(6.585)	(7.766)	(3.730)	(4.310)	(3.395)	(2.964)	
Observations Log Likelihood	337 -142.140 306.28	337 -135.886	337 -141.893 305 70	337 -135.835 207.67	337	337	
$R^2$ F Statistic	0.160	0.197	0.162	0.197	0.221 9.218***	0.262 9.529***	

Table 10: Results of the baseline regressions.

*Note:* Results of the baseline regressions with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors, given in parentheses among other regression statistics. Columns (1), (3) and (5) investigate the relationship with  $\Delta h_{mt}$  only. Columns (2), (4) and (6) additionally include the magnitude of  $h_{mt}$ , denoted by magnitude ( $h_{mt}$ ), as well as the interaction term. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

This circumstance of adverse herding potentially reflects a shift in investor sentiments, favoring a prevailing perspective or a specific subset of assets. Consequently, this dynamic could lead to pronounced price fluctuations, surpassing the equilibrium threshold, thereby accentuating the dispersion in market returns (Bekiros et al., 2017). This interpretation gains relevance within the sample context, notably during the dot-com bubble when the exaggerated market behavior primarily affected technology firms – an identifiable subgroup within the S&P 500 index – so that the returns on these shares have risen more than in equilibrium. To rigorously validate this assumption, a more nuanced investigation involving sub-periods and industry affiliations becomes imperative.

Thus, the interpretation of the baseline regression initially suggests that adverse herding behavior increases the probability of bubbles occurring, which makes sense given the mechanics of the method, regardless of the level. Therefore, the next question pertains to whether the level of  $h_{mt}$  has an impact, meaning whether a high value of  $h_{mt}$  exerts a stronger influence. Furthermore, the interaction is of interest, specifically whether decreasing herding behavior in the positive ( $h_{mt} > 0$ ) or negative ( $h_{mt} < 0$ ) range has a more pronounced effect.

Columns (2), (4) and (6) in Table 10 underscore the significance of the negative coefficient  $\Delta h_{mt}$ . Moreover, the significance of  $\Delta h_{mt}$  is robust to the amount of lags k considered in calculating the bubble periods. In terms of odds, if  $\Delta h_{mt}$  decreases by 10% points, the odds of a bubble increase by factor 2.462 for the coefficient in column (2) of Table 10. Additionally, the variable magnitude  $(h_{mt})$  has been introduced to approximate the magnitude of the herding parameter. This numerical variable is centered around zero and spans from -1 to +1 in tenths, covering the entire spectrum of  $h_{mt}$ . When choosing the step size, steps smaller than 0.1 appear overly detailed, whereas steps larger than 0.2 are too coarse. However, the results are robust for step sizes of 0.1 or 0.2. The negative coefficient of magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ) suggests that positive values of  $h_{mt}$  do not contribute to the probability of bubble occurrences; quite the opposite, negative absolute values are again conducive to the emergence of bubbles. The significant interaction term reinforces this interpretation in all specifications, but also reveals complex dynamics. The interaction term  $\Delta h_{mt} \times \text{magnitude}(h_{mt})$  additionally suggests that the main effect of  $\Delta h_{mt}$  also depends on the specific absolute level of the herding parameter. For instance, the effect of  $\Delta h_{mt}$  on the probability of bubble occurrence is stronger at very high positive absolute values of magnitude $(h_{mt})$  compared to high negative values. Specifically, the odds of a bubble occurring increase by a factor of 1.030 for a 10%-point reduction in  $\Delta h_{mt}$ at a high negative absolute level (magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ) = -6). At a high positive absolute level (magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ) = +6), the odds for bubbles increase by a factor of 5.715 for a 10%-point reduction in  $\Delta h_{mt}$ . For this reason, magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ) serves as a moderating variable, as the effect of  $\Delta h_{mt}$  varies depending on specific values of magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ). However, on one hand, the decrease in herding behavior (adverse herding) promotes the occurrence of bubbles, and on the other hand, a negative absolute level also contributes to their emergence, as the main effect of magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ) is negative as well. As a result, bubbles do not emerge when investors follow the market but rather when exaggerations occur in certain assets within the overall market. In response to  $H_0$ , it can be stated that herd behavior towards the market does not contribute to the formation of bubbles. On the other hand, the reversion process and absolute negative or adverse herding increase the probability.

Although the overall approach is methodologically objective, careful econometric choices have to be made, e.g. when the monthly market index is calculated by aggregating daily data. During this aggregation process, the question arises as to which value best represents the monthly observation. Possible options are the closing value and the average value within a month. An analysis of the regression results based on both alternatives has shown the robustness of the results to this arbitrary choice, with no significant effect observed. Detailed results are available upon request.

In addition, the interpretation of the control variables is also of interest. Both volatility and trading volume exhibit a positive and significant influence on the probability of bubble occurrence. These findings align with theoretical models suggesting that bubbles are often accompanied by high trading volumes and occur in periods of elevated volatility (Scheinkman and Xiong, 2003; Mei et al., 2009). The positive coefficient for  $gGDP_t$  further confirms that bubbles tend to emerge during economic expansions, consistent with Scherbina and Schlusche (2014). Similarly, the positive coefficient for  $gM2_t$  suggests that looser monetary policy contributes to a higher likelihood of bubble occurrences, in line with the findings of Wang and Chen (2019). The present findings on economic uncertainty contrast with those of Enoksen et al. (2020), who studied bubbles in cryptocurrencies. In this context, the negative and significant coefficient implies that bubbles are more likely to occur in economically stable environments.

## 5.4.4.2 Sub-period Analysis

As motivated above, the presumption arises that a subset of the S&P 500, such as technology companies during the dot-com bubble, exhibited higher returns than the overall average. Therefore, the next step is to examine whether the herding parameter shows any particularities during the sub-periods. The sample includes three different characteristic periods with exuberant periods. Two of them have a positive bubble, while the period surrounding the GFC is a negative bubble. As described above, the negative sign of the coefficient on  $\Delta h_{mt}$ seems quite reasonable, especially in the context of the dot-com bubble, as the technology stocks included in the S&P 500 experienced a significant boom and achieved higher returns than the market average. The sample exhibits a limited number of bubble periods, prompting the need for a careful consideration of sub-periods. To ensure that the unique characteristics of each period are adequately captured, the sub-periods are implemented as dummies and categorized as follows: The first sub-period corresponds to the dot-com period, spanning from 1995 to 2001 according to Brunnermeier and Schnabel (2015). The second sub-period encompasses the house price boom and the GFC, extending from 2003 to 2010, as defined by Brunnermeier and Schnabel (2015). The final period covers the exuberance during the COVID-19 pandemic, from March 2020 to 2022, as the World Health Organization (WHO) declared a global health emergency and classified the outbreak of the virus as a pandemic on 11 March 2020 (World Health Organization, 2023).

Table 11 provides further insight into the sub-periods. In column (1), all three dummies for the sub-periods are included, whereas columns (2) to (4) each include only one subperiod. The interactions of the sub-periods with the herding parameter exhibit ambiguous significances depending on the respective model specification. Only the third sub-period, inclusive of COVID-19, shows a significant difference at least at a 10% significance level. In the context of the dot-com bubble, for example, it could be that individual assets initially benefited from higher returns, but subsequently, the enthusiasm spilled over into the overall market. Anderson et al. (2010) support this conjecture by showing that the dot-com bubble was widespread in the US stock market and affected other sectors besides the technology sector. Hatipoglu and Uyar (2012) provide similar evidence of bubble contagion between the US stock market and emerging markets. However, the conclusion of this analysis is that no clear sub-period-specific characteristics can be identified. It can be inferred that the relationship is not specific to sub-periods but is universally applicable and remains more or less constant. This, on one hand, reinforces the overall relationship identified earlier. On the other hand, this analysis does not provide clear evidence as to whether the assumption that subsets of the overall market with above-average returns are actually driving the relationship, or whether it is indeed a phenomenon that applies to the overall market.

	B <sub>t</sub>					
_	Combined (1)	Dot-com (2)	GFC (3)	COVID-19 (4)		
$\Delta h_{mt}$	-15.670**	-8.382	-8.487***	-12.025***		
	(7.595)	(7.160)	(3.060)	(2.133)		
magnitude $(h_{mt})$	-0.634**	-0.503**	-0.484***	-0.323**		
	(0.305)	(0.213)	(0.179)	(0.160)		
$\Delta h_{mt} \times \text{magnitude}(h_{mt})$	-3.233*	-1.178	-1.369**	-1.730***		
	(1.824)	(0.948)	(0.591)	(0.539)		
$DC_t$	21.057*** (1.346)	4.450*** (1.247)				
$FC_t$	16.409*** (0.360)		-2.950*** (1.003)			
$CC_t$	20.359*** (1.018)			3.148*** (1.076)		
$\Delta h_{mt} \times DC_t$	15.812 (11.936)	9.481 (6.292)				
$\Delta h_{mt} \times FC_t$	-8.634 (7.141)		-13.225*** (4.518)			
$\Delta h_{mt} \times CC_t$	13.465* (7.261)			7.041** (2.947)		
$\log(pv_t)$	2.814***	2.369**	3.302***	3.098***		
	(0.861)	(1.045)	(0.976)	(0.706)		
$\Delta \log(t v_t)$	0.499**	0.494***	0.529***	0.643***		
	(0.231)	(0.182)	(0.106)	(0.214)		
$gGDP_t$	56.855	91.202*	97.565**	84.132***		
	(56.975)	(52.286)	(38.704)	(28.506)		
gIP <sub>t</sub>	-10.749	-18.437	-7.780	-3.616		
	(23.904)	(36.072)	(23.317)	(12.353)		
$gM2_t$	59.630	61.322	66.790**	67.424**		
	(40.018)	(41.773)	(30.654)	(32.174)		
$gCRGDP_t$	-340.644**	-429.492***	-157.893	-73.565		
	(140.250)	(133.298)	(179.003)	(163.556)		

 Table 11: Logistic regression results for sub-periods.

$\Delta r_t$ (%)	0.036	1.575	-0.562	-0.936
	(1.196)	(0.984)	(1.094)	(0.934)
$\Delta SENT_t$	-0.024	-0.018	-0.012	-0.003
	(0.042)	(0.024)	(0.030)	(0.025)
$\log(EPU_t)$	-3.174**	-1.134	-3.531***	-3.979***
	(1.561)	(1.447)	(1.045)	(1.053)
Constant	6.412	11.972	29.540***	29.830***
	(9.642)	(10.206)	(8.274)	(6.672)
Observations	337	337	337	337
Log Likelihood	-72.150	-90.297	-117.058	-124.407
Akaike Inf. Crit.	182.3	210.59	264.12	278.81
R <sup>2</sup>	0.574	0.467	0.308	0.265

*Note:* Results of the logistic regression with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors, given in parentheses. Columns (1) to (4) show the results of the sub-period analysis, where (1) includes all sup-period-specific dummies. Columns (1) to (3) each include only one sup-period-specific dummy.  $DC_t$ ,  $FC_t$  and  $CC_t$  represent the dot-com bubble, the house price boom and subsequent financial crisis as well as the COVID-19 pandemic. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

# 5.4.4.3 Long-term Analysis

Given that bubbles are typically not short-term phenomena and instead can develop over an extended period, an investigation into the extent to which herding behavior can be utilized for the long-term prediction of bubbles presents itself as an interesting question. As can be seen in Table 12, the coefficient of  $\Delta h_{mt}$  is significant for the next three months as well as the sixth month in the future, indicating that herding behavior predicts the medium- to long-term probability of a bubble occurring. The interaction with the absolute level of herding behavior also points in the same direction as in the baseline regression and is significant even in the fourth month. The perspective on what happens after a bubble has occurred is also interesting in the context of this horizon analysis. For instance, it could be the case that months after a bubble has occurred, herding behavior remains at a low level. As shown in Table 13, adverse herding behavior remains consistently significant six months after a bubble has occurred. This applies to both the rate of change  $\Delta h_{mt}$  and the level of herding behavior magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ). In terms of the level, this means that herding behavior tends to remain medium- to long-term negative after a bubble has occurred.

	$B_{t+1}$	$B_{t+2}$	$B_{t+3}$	$B_{t+4}$	$B_{t+5}$	$B_{t+6}$
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
$\Delta h_{mt}$	-8.493***	-9.570***	-8.221***	-5.702*	-3.503	-5.944**
	(2.864)	(2.315)	(2.828)	(3.360)	(2.709)	(3.023)
magnitude $(h_{mt})$	-0.217	-0.175	-0.152	-0.115	-0.101	-0.132
	(0.149)	(0.148)	(0.162)	(0.160)	(0.163)	(0.173)
$\Delta h_{mt} \times \text{magnitude}(h_{mt})$	-1.453***	-1.916***	-2.051***	-1.382**	-0.308	-0.751
	(0.452)	(0.494)	(0.697)	(0.606)	(0.699)	(0.733)
$\log(pv_t)$	2.100**	1.949**	1.910**	1.700*	1.591*	1.871**
	(0.876)	(0.860)	(0.974)	(0.954)	(0.903)	(0.916)
$\Delta \log(t v_t)$	0.358***	0.386***	0.311**	0.195	0.256	0.371***
	(0.134)	(0.133)	(0.142)	(0.186)	(0.164)	(0.129)
gGDP <sub>t</sub>	91.462***	75.716**	66.405*	70.042*	104.861**	253.989***
	(33.085)	(33.863)	(40.354)	(38.653)	(49.936)	(74.502)
gIP <sub>t</sub>	-3.194	3.494	8.136	9.681	9.814	-7.712
	(17.915)	(16.677)	(14.799)	(19.986)	(21.713)	(26.652)
$gM2_t$	82.319***	76.507***	64.429**	50.432*	42.206*	61.498***
	(27.062)	(29.153)	(26.702)	(26.037)	(25.029)	(22.849)
gCRGDP <sub>t</sub>	-95.577	-36.953	1.411	26.075	42.036	58.257
	(163.941)	(152.426)	(147.293)	(138.967)	(142.079)	(144.580)
$\Delta r_t$ (%)	-0.175	0.086	-0.113	-0.054	-0.050	0.438
	(0.863)	(1.013)	(0.817)	(0.818)	(0.919)	(1.158)
$\Delta SENT_t$	0.001	0.013	0.016	0.015	0.006	0.019
	(0.020)	(0.017)	(0.016)	(0.013)	(0.016)	(0.014)
$\log(EPU_t)$	-2.157**	-1.803**	-1.742*	-1.592	-1.708	-1.832
	(0.942)	(0.897)	(1.056)	(1.159)	(1.284)	(1.383)
Constant	17.316**	15.037**	14.640*	13.084	13.088	14.370
	(7.449)	(7.041)	(8.227)	(8.539)	(8.849)	(9.288)
Observations	338	338	338	337	336	336
Log Likelihood	-142.331	-145.066	-146.507	-149.712	-148.191	-137.016
Akaike Inf. Crit.	310.66	316.13	319.01	325.42	322.38	300.03
R <sup>2</sup>	0.160	0.144	0.136	0.115	0.123	0.189

 Table 12: Logistic regression results for longer horizons in the future.

*Note:* Results of the logistic regression with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors, given in parentheses. Columns (1) through (6) respectively indicate the results for predictive capability when the bubble occurs in one to six months. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

	$B_{t-1}$	$B_{t-2}$	$B_{t-3}$	$B_{t-4}$	$B_{t-5}$	$B_{t-6}$
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
$\Delta h_{mt}$	-7.036**	-10.490***	-10.609**	-8.830**	-6.784*	-7.290*
	(3.046)	(3.260)	(4.584)	(3.616)	(3.686)	(3.741)
magnitude $(h_{mt})$	-0.310**	-0.380**	-0.399**	-0.423***	-0.420***	-0.433***
	(0.148)	(0.152)	(0.156)	(0.153)	(0.153)	(0.161)
$\Delta h_{mt} \times \text{magnitude}(h_{mt})$	-0.763	-1.451**	-1.346**	-1.027*	-1.102	-0.720
	(0.792)	(0.702)	(0.626)	(0.556)	(0.732)	(0.538)
$\log(pv_t)$	2.664***	3.085***	3.001***	2.992***	2.989***	3.125***
	(0.831)	(0.913)	(1.037)	(0.908)	(0.923)	(0.999)
$\Delta \log(t v_t)$	0.317***	0.390*	0.438***	0.058	-0.003	-0.075
	(0.107)	(0.209)	(0.153)	(0.107)	(0.134)	(0.099)
$gGDP_t$	89.715***	90.412**	86.960**	61.567	55.144	57.822
	(29.927)	(38.882)	(42.589)	(40.266)	(36.834)	(37.640)
gIP <sub>t</sub>	9.799	15.239	13.447	27.082*	28.264	31.389
	(27.280)	(21.815)	(18.244)	(15.754)	(21.352)	(25.677)
$gM2_t$	68.001**	84.081***	37.048	-21.089	4.884	-7.812
	(27.675)	(24.530)	(23.469)	(23.219)	(16.435)	(17.369)
gCRGDP <sub>t</sub>	-105.902	-73.758	-25.879	25.845	40.684	36.124
	(185.058)	(208.843)	(192.254)	(181.628)	(177.060)	(175.568)
$\Delta r_t$ (%)	-0.129	0.878	0.818	0.628	0.849	0.802
	(0.653)	(1.044)	(0.794)	(0.777)	(0.755)	(0.783)
$\Delta SENT_t$	0.013	0.037	-0.005	-0.012	-0.001	0.006
	(0.020)	(0.027)	(0.028)	(0.027)	(0.031)	(0.035)
$\log(EPU_t)$	-2.534***	-2.615***	-2.444***	-2.115**	-2.062**	-1.962**
	(0.850)	(0.821)	(0.913)	(0.895)	(0.892)	(0.917)
Constant	21.566***	23.607***	22.676***	21.377***	21.024***	21.223***
	(6.829)	(6.748)	(7.905)	(7.218)	(7.123)	(7.584)
Observations	336	335	334	333	332	331
Log Likelihood	-136.270	-129.309	-133.023	-135.262	-135.923	-135.526
Akaike Inf. Crit.	298.54	284.62	292.05	296.52	297.85	297.05
R <sup>2</sup>	0.194	0.234	0.211	0.196	0.198	0.205

 Table 13: Logistic regression results for bubble persistence.

*Note:* Results of the logistic regression with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors, given in parentheses. Columns (1) through (6) respectively indicate the results for the persistence of herding behavior when a bubble has occurred one to six months earlier. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

## 5.4.4.4 Industry Analysis

Herding behavior also varies across sectors and industries, as various studies have shown. Consequently, the relationship between bubbles and herding behavior may also vary significantly within different sectors. Analogous to the findings of Voronkova and Bohl (2005), it is plausible to assume that this relationship is more pronounced in certain sectors, e.g. those characterized by a higher degree of uncertainty about earnings and future cash flows. Again, existing studies are based on different methodologies. Therefore, a brief reference to the methods mentioned in Section 5.3.2.3 will be made at this point. Through a micro level transaction-based analysis of the Polish market, Voronkova and Bohl (2005) showed that herding behavior is more pronounced in sectors such as computer services, banking and metal production. Similarly, Zhou and Lai (2009) employed a transaction-based herding measure and discovered that herding behavior is less prevalent in sectors such as industrial goods, information technology, properties and construction, and utilities. Demirer et al. (2010) apply macro level market-wide herding measures by Chang et al. (2000) and Hwang and Salmon (2004) and find herding in all investigated sectors. Gavriilidis et al. (2013) conducted an investigation into transaction-based institutional herding behavior. They found that Spanish fund managers engaged in significant herding in industries like consumer services and industrials. Conversely, they found less evidence of herding in industries such as basic materials, financials and consumer goods. Gebka and Wohar (2013) employed market-wide herding measures and discovered herding behavior in sector-specific indices across countries. Notably, they found evidence of herding in sectors such as basic materials, consumer services, and oil and gas. Surprisingly, the patterns of herding were less pronounced in industries with high information asymmetries like information technology and financials. This finding aligns with the results from Zhou and Lai (2009). Celiker et al. (2015) also identified institutional investors engaging in herding within specific industries. However, they argued that this behavior does not significantly deviate industry valuations from their fundamental values.

To examine whether there are sector-specific differences in the relationship between bubbles and herding behavior, it is necessary to construct sector-specific sub-indices of the S&P 500. The sectoral classification is based on the first two digits of the SIC industry classification, as shown in Table 14. Initially, it was suspected that during the dot-com bubble, higher returns were associated with a subset of technology companies in the S&P 500. As no distinct period-specific characteristics could be identified, industry analysis might provide more insights. The industry analysis is therefore extended to include a high-tech (HT) category. Following the approach of Ljungqvist and Wilhelm (2003) and Loughran and Ritter (2004), this category is composed of companies with SIC codes 3571, 3572, 3575, 3577, 3578 (computer hardware), 3661, 3663, 3669 (communication equipment), 3674 (electronics), 3812 (navigational equipment), 3823, 3825, 3826, 3827, 3829 (measuring and control equipment), 4899 (communication services) and 7370, 7371, 7372, 7373, 7374, 7375, 7378 and 7379 (software).

Division	Title	Major Group
А	Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing	01-09
В	Mining	10-14
С	Construction	15-17
D	Manufacturing	20-39
Ε	<b>Transportation &amp; Public Utilities</b>	40-49
F	Wholesale Trade	50-51
G	Retail Trade	52-59
Н	Finance, Insurance, Real Estate	60-67
Ι	Services	70-89
J	Public Administration	91-99

Table 14: General SIC code classifications based on first two digits.

The herding parameters themselves for industries Mining, Transportation & Public Utilities and Finance, Insurance and Real Estate are significant at the 1% level, for the industries High-Tech, Manufacturing, Retail Trade and Services at the 5% level, and insignificant for the remaining industries. The examination of the constructive relationship between bubbles and herding behavior is conducted solely for those industries in which the herding parameter is significant. The corresponding industries are marked in bold in Table 14. The results are presented in Table 15.

The analysis of industries reveals that the relationship between bubbles and herding behavior is present in all industries, with varying magnitudes and significance levels in the growth rate, level or interaction of both of the parameters affiliated with  $h_{mt}$ . The results are, therefore, mixed and not straightforward to interpret. Nevertheless, based on the (inverted) odds ratios and average marginal effects, it can be highlighted that the association is most pronounced in the Services industry when considering  $\Delta h_{mt}$ . The strongest effect in terms of magnitude( $h_{mt}$ ) is observed in the sector Finance, Insurance and Real Estate, confirming previous findings. Once again, it is noteworthy that concerning the high-tech industry, only the interaction effect is significant, and the main parameters are not. This is consistent with the finding that no particular specifics were identified for the dot-com period compared to the baseline. This suggests that spill-over effects ensured that not only individual assets but the entire market was affected during the dot-com bubble. However, due to the varying significances regarding the herding-related parameters, it can be concluded that no clear systematic sector-specific differences were found, strengthening the significance of the relationship across the baseline.

	$B_t^{\mathrm{HT}}$	$B_t^{\mathrm{B}}$	$B_t^{\mathrm{D}}$	$B_t^{\rm E}$	$B_t^{\mathrm{G}}$	$B_t^{\mathrm{H}}$	$B_t^{\mathrm{I}}$
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
$\Delta h_{mt}$	-3.836	-3.908***	-5.205*	-8.938***	-7.525**	83.817	-14.521*
	(3.287)	(1.090)	(2.944)	(2.359)	(3.742)	(113.196)	(7.448)
magnitude $(h_{mt})$	-0.064	-0.108	0.107	-0.112	-0.274	-1.639***	-0.050
	(0.229)	(0.151)	(0.419)	(0.123)	(0.231)	(0.506)	(0.146)
$\Delta h_{mt} \times \text{magnitude}(h_{mt})$	-1.739**	-0.502**	-0.155	-0.346	1.093	-15.911	-1.553
	(0.848)	(0.236)	(1.264)	(0.676)	(1.642)	(17.576)	(1.514)
$\log(pv_t)$	1.906**	0.706	2.609***	1.715***	3.183***	2.560***	1.697*
	(0.772)	(0.909)	(0.755)	(0.479)	(0.845)	(0.490)	(0.910)
$\Delta \log(t v_t)$	0.175	0.477***	0.370**	0.343	0.252	0.276	0.280**
	(0.165)	(0.164)	(0.160)	(0.479)	(0.211)	(0.316)	(0.116)
gGDP <sub>t</sub>	205.872***	30.441	98.442***	100.404***	155.054***	-42.245	240.185***
	(76.276)	(49.701)	(35.152)	(20.753)	(40.417)	(68.077)	(78.944)
gIP <sub>t</sub>	40.132	47.505	26.983	-0.125	15.695	34.319	18.139
	(40.182)	(35.087)	(21.031)	(18.390)	(29.272)	(26.859)	(28.638)
$gM2_t$	31.676	-1.063	76.059***	51.903*	68.712***	48.073*	17.645
	(28.538)	(32.589)	(27.254)	(31.415)	(18.888)	(25.733)	(31.117)
gCRGDP <sub>t</sub>	-34.162	152.443	-181.547	503.651***	126.383	129.944	-36.326
	(125.589)	(196.283)	(162.856)	(104.865)	(116.677)	(180.641)	(119.419)
$\Delta r_t$ (%)	0.290	0.471	0.003	1.067	-1.196	0.165	-0.059
	(0.971)	(2.073)	(0.889)	(1.924)	(1.220)	(1.213)	(0.814)
$\Delta SENT_t$	0.014	0.004	0.002	0.033	0.044	-0.039	0.005
	(0.015)	(0.025)	(0.020)	(0.049)	(0.029)	(0.059)	(0.015)
$\log(EPU_t)$	-1.230	-3.663***	-3.285***	-2.030***	0.018	-3.234***	-1.182
	(1.030)	(0.988)	(0.925)	(0.600)	(0.888)	(0.770)	(1.105)
Constant	12.149*	16.958***	25.423***	11.619***	10.864*	33.469***	11.340
	(6.594)	(6.529)	(5.628)	(3.549)	(6.581)	(7.665)	(8.328)
Observations	337	337	337	337	337	337	337
Log Likelihood	-147.284	-85.064	-127.326	-30.579	-87.672	-48.656	-168.184
Akaike Inf. Crit.	320.57	196.13	280.65	87.159	201.34	123.31	362.37
R <sup>2</sup>	0.201	0.242	0.271	0.191	0.308	0.277	0.147

 Table 15: Logistic regression results by industry.

*Note:* Results of the logistic regression with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors, given in parentheses. The columns (1) through (7) display results for the High-Tech (HT) industry and other industries as listed in Table 14, each corresponding to the superscripts of the bubble dummies. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

## 5.4.4.5 Company Size Analysis

Another recurring theme in the literature is the influence of firm size on the intensity of herding behavior. Therefore, in this research context, it is explored whether a company's size influences the relationship between bubbles and herding behavior. The underlying theory suggests that due to higher information risks associated with small-capitalization stocks, observing the trading behavior of other investors can be informative. Hence, herding behavior might be more pronounced in smaller companies (Ferreruela et al., 2022).

For instance, Wermers (1999) examines the trading behavior of institutional investors based on transaction data and found that mutual funds tend to exhibit more herding behavior in small-capitalized stocks. Sias (2004), Wylie (2005) and Hung et al. (2010) also find that institutional investors are more likely to herd in smaller capitalization securities. Chang et al. (2000) conduct market capitalization-based portfolio tests to measure herding behavior and find that it is present for all sizes of companies, not just large or small capitalization stocks. Using a market-wide herding measure, Benkraiem et al. (2021) find that herding behavior is more prevalent among small- and medium-sized companies in normal times than in crisis periods. This phenomenon is attributed to the assumption that during crises all investors face the same information problems and are less likely to engage in herding behavior because it is assumed that no one has superior information.

To examine the relationship of interest among firms of different sizes, it is essential to divide the overall index into indices consisting of large and small companies. The size of the companies is proxied by market capitalization. The large-cap index comprises companies from the S&P 500 whose market capitalization falls within the upper quartile (75th percentile). Similarly, the small-cap index includes companies whose market capitalization falls within the lower quartile (25th percentile). Both size-based indices are re-weighted annually. This approach has been used in a similar context by Jacobs et al. (2010).

The herding parameters themselves for both large and small companies are significant at the 1% level in both cases, as seen in Table 9 for the overall index. Table 16 shows the results of the analysis of company size in the context of the relationship between herding behavior and bubbles. The coefficients in column (4) pertaining to small companies, while considering the absolute magnitude of  $h_{mt}$ , are notably more significant than the coefficients for large enterprises in column (2). The average marginal effects and the marginal effects at the mean for the coefficients associated with herding behavior are absolutely greater (larger negative magnitude) for large companies compared to small ones. They imply that the probability of bubbles occurring due to adverse herding behavior is higher for large companies than for small companies. The same conclusions can be drawn from a comparison with the directly interpretable coefficients of a linear regression.

	$B_t^{\mathrm{L}}$	arge	$B_t^{\text{Small}}$			
-	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
$\Delta h_{mt}$	-6.047**	-5.560*	-2.701**	-4.539***		
	(2.409)	(2.910)	(1.172)	(1.429)		
magnitude $(h_{mt})$		-0.361* (0.190)		-0.367*** (0.099)		
$\Delta h_{mt} \times \text{magnitude}(h_{mt})$		-0.383 (0.815)		-0.415** (0.202)		
$\log(pv_t)$	1.860**	2.435***	0.340	2.174**		
	(0.809)	(0.876)	(0.742)	(0.917)		
$\Delta \log(t v_t)$	0.426**	0.356*	0.101	0.279		
	(0.179)	(0.190)	(0.536)	(0.591)		
$gGDP_t$	94.008**	103.343**	-78.551*	-94.532**		
	(43.713)	(51.986)	(41.051)	(42.495)		
$gIP_t$	7.533	11.377	4.493	0.780		
	(20.097)	(20.432)	(26.710)	(18.451)		
$gM2_t$	72.240**	74.529**	-16.890	-26.404		
	(28.405)	(33.166)	(32.179)	(45.604)		
gCRGDP <sub>t</sub>	-79.793	-38.761	-216.580	-263.124**		
	(119.037)	(121.912)	(151.823)	(125.129)		
$\Delta r_t$ (%)	-0.088	0.105	$-1.709^{***}$	-1.220		
	(0.961)	(0.926)	(0.638)	(0.830)		
$\Delta SENT_t$	0.013	0.006	-0.078**	-0.085*		
	(0.014)	(0.020)	(0.034)	(0.046)		
$\log(EPU_t)$	-1.694	-1.905	-1.595*	-3.116***		
	(1.258)	(1.295)	(0.896)	(0.757)		
Constant	14.680*	18.036**	6.453*	20.512***		
	(8.604)	(9.184)	(3.482)	(4.600)		
Observations	337	337	337	337		
Log Likelihood	-155.840	-149.230	-74.935	-64.115		
Akaike Inf. Crit.	333.68	324.46	171.87	154.23		
R <sup>2</sup>	0.170	0.206	0.107	0.236		

Table 16: Logistic regression results by company size.

*Note:* Results of the logistic regression with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors, given in parentheses. Columns (1) and (2) represent the large companies and are proxied by the upper quartile of market capitalization, re-weighted annually. Columns (3) and (4) represent the small companies and are proxied by the lower quartile of market capitalization, re-weighted annually. The superscripts of the bubble dummies indicate the company size indices. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

results are available on request. A consideration of inverted odds of all parameters associated with herding behavior leads to the same conclusion. For example, the odds of a bubble occurring increases by a factor of 1.744 if  $\Delta h_{mt}$  falls by 10% points for large firms, while the analogous change in odds for small firms is only 1.574, based on columns (2) and (4) in Table 16. Only the inverse odds for magnitude $(h_{mt})$  are slightly higher for small firms. However, when comparing the confidence intervals of the coefficients, the differences are not significant. Interpretatively, they are so close that the effect of the degree of adverse herding on the occurrence of bubbles is roughly the same for large and small firms. The results, therefore, suggest that both large and small companies can contribute to the emergence of bubbles through adverse herding behavior, even though it is surprising that the relationship is not more pronounced for small companies. Conversely, there are also studies demonstrating investor herding behavior towards larger stocks (Wylie, 2005; Kremer and Nautz, 2013). An explanation for this phenomenon is offered by Walter and Moritz Weber (2006), who argue that institutional investors have incentives to mirror changes in the composition of a typically blue-chip benchmark index within their portfolios to minimize tracking error. They refer to this type of herding behavior as "benchmark herding".

#### 5.5. Robustness Analysis

Given that different methods of measuring herding behavior, as outlined in Section 5.3, can produce divergent or inconclusive results, the literature is followed and another widely used measure is implemented at this point. The method proposed by Chang et al. (2000) has already been mentioned in Section 5.3.2.3 and in the context of other empirical studies. Its main advantage is that no data points are lost in the estimation of monthly factors.

Chang et al. (2000) generalise the approach of Christie and Huang (1995) and also build on the CAPM, so that linearity between the individual stock returns and the market return is assumed. However, if the relationship is non-linear and the individual stock returns converge to the market, this is interpreted as evidence for the existence of herding behavior. The model is defined as

$$CSAD_t = \alpha + \gamma_1 |R_{mt}| + \gamma_2 R_{mt}^2 + \epsilon_t,$$
(72)

where  $R_{mt}$  is the return of the market index at time *t*. The dispersion of returns is proxied by the cross-sectional absolute deviation of returns (CSAD) and is defined as:

$$CSAD_{t} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |R_{it} - R_{mt}|,$$
(73)

where  $R_{it}$  are the individual stock returns at time t and N is the number of assets at time t. The non-linearity is represented by the coefficient  $\gamma_2$ . If the coefficient is negative and significant, then there is herding behavior towards the market, i.e. the CSAD is lower than a rational asset-pricing model would imply. If the coefficient is positive and significant, this indicates adverse herding behavior, which means that the CSAD has risen above the rationally expected level (Gębka and Wohar, 2013; Klein, 2013; Bekiros et al., 2017). In addition, as in Haykir and Yagli (2022), the bubble dummy  $B_t$  is included in the model in Equation (72) to examine the relationship between herding behavior and bubbles:

$$CSAD_t = \alpha + \gamma_1 |R_{mt}| + \gamma_2 R_{mt}^2 + \gamma_3 B_t + \gamma_4 R_{mt}^2 \times B_t + \epsilon_t.$$
(74)

The results of the robustness check are shown in Table 17. The significant and positive coefficient for  $R_{mt}^2$  suggests adverse herding behavior in the sample. This initially confirms the finding in the main part that herding behavior exists in the sample. The positive coefficient for  $B_t$  indicates that the CSAD are higher during bubbles. In other words, this suggests that higher returns occur during bubbles, supporting the main finding that subsets of the market benefit from adverse herding behavior. The significant interaction term also suggests that a different regime applies during bubbles compared to when no bubble exists. Due to the negative sign, there is less adverse herding behavior during a bubble.

Model	Constant	$ R_{mt} $	$R_{mt}^2$	$B_t$	$R_{mt}^2 \times B_t$	Obs.	R <sup>2</sup>
(1)	0.009*** (0.0002)	0.467*** (0.028)	2.225*** (0.589)			8574	0.635
(2)	0.009*** (0.0002)	0.432*** (0.024)	2.905*** (0.498)	0.002*** (0.0005)	-3.023*** (0.477)	8319	0.629

Table 17: Results of the robustness analysis.

*Note:* Results of the linear regression with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors, given in parentheses. Row (1) and (2) represent the models from Equations (72) and (74) respectively. Significance levels of 1%, 5% and 10% are indicated by \*\*\*, \*\* and \*, respectively.

### 5.6. Conclusion

The aim was to empirically investigate the relationship between speculative bubbles and herding behavior. To achieve this, the two variables had to be measured separately at first. To this end, a number of different approaches were presented, from which the methods ultimately used were selected. Using the method proposed by Hwang and Salmon (2004), based on the cross-sectional standard deviation of betas, herding behavior was identified in the American stock market for the period from 1990 to 2022. By employing the recursive

unit root test by Phillips et al. (2015), three bubble periods were identified within this sample. The relationship between the two variables was then examined in different specifications of mainly binary regression models.

Contrary to the initial assumption that herding behavior towards the market favors the emergence of speculative bubbles, the results suggest the opposite. In this respect, the results would confirm the findings of Haykir and Yagli (2022), who found that herding decreases during bubbles in cryptocurrencies. However, the results of this paper go further, as the adverse process of herding behavior increases the probability of bubbles to occur. Looking at the mechanism of the herding approach used when adverse herding behavior occurs, it is found that the cross-sectional standard deviation of the factor sensitivities exceeds the standard deviation in the CAPM equilibrium. This implies that bubbles are more likely to occur when subsets of the overall market systematically generate higher returns than would be rationally expected. The negative influence of herding behavior is evident in both the rate of change and the absolute level. In addition, the interaction effect between the two variables indicates that the rate of change is moderated by the absolute level, i.e. the effect of the rate of change varies in strength at different absolute levels. The examination of the sub-hypotheses revealed that the relationship holds regardless of industry, company size, sub-periods and different time horizons, as no clear differences were found. Although isolated differences can be identified, such as slightly larger absolute coefficients for larger companies, the results of these sub-hypotheses can be interpreted as confirming the existence of the general relationship.

However, the study also needs to be critically reflected upon. As described in Section 5.3.2.2, the empirical evidence on herding behavior in the American market is inconclusive, which is also related to the diversity of methods. A robustness check was conducted to address the issue that the relationship holds regardless of the method. The alternative method confirms the results of the main analysis, showing that adverse herding behavior continues to exist in the US market. Additionally, cross-sectional absolute deviations are higher during bubbles. Nevertheless, investigating the relationship with additional methods could be a possible subject for further research. However, the empirical approach chosen here is characterized by methodological objectivity, as the methods themselves do not require arbitrary calibrations.
## 5.7. Declaration of (Co-)Authors and Record of Accomplishments

Title:	Beyond the Individual: Investigating the Interdependence of Speculative Bubbles and Herding in Financial Markets
Author(s):	John H. Stiebel (Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf)
Conferences:	Participation and presentation at 'Forschungskolloquium Finanzmärkte', May 3rd, 2023, Düsseldorf, Germany
	Participation and presentation at 'HVB Doctoral Colloquium', February 2nd, 2024, hosted by University Münster, Germany
Publications:	SSRN published. Submitted to <i>Cogent Economics &amp; Finance</i> , a single- blind peer-reviewed journal. Current status: Revise & resubmit.

## Share of contributions:

Contributions	John H. Stiebel
Research design	100%
Development of research question	100%
Method development and specification	100%
Research performance & analysis	100%
Literature review and framework development	100%
Data collection, preparation and analysis	100%
Analysis and discussion of results	100%
Derivation of implications and conclusions	100%
Manuscript preparation	100%
Final draft	100%
Finalization	100%
Overall contribution	100%

Date, John H. Stiebel

## References

- Abramowitz, M., 2014. Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables. National Bureau of Standards applied mathematics series. Reprint ed., Martino Fine Books.
- Ahern, K.R., 2017. Information networks: Evidence from illegal insider trading tips. Journal of Financial Economics 125, 26–47.
- Aliber, R.Z., Kindleberger, C.P., Solow, R.M., 2015. Manias, panics, and crashes: A history of financial crises. 7. ed., Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke, Hampshire and New York. URL: https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/kxp/detail. action?docID=5180973.
- Allcott, H., 2011. Social norms and energy conservation. Journal of Public Economics 95, 1082–1095. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0047272711000478, doi:10.1016/j.jpubeco.2011.03.003.
- Amit, D.J., 1978. Field theory, the renormalization group, and critical phenomena. Rev. 3. ed. (2005), World Scientific Publ. Co, Singapore.
- Anderson, K., Brooks, C., Katsaris, A., 2010. Speculative bubbles in the S&P 500: Was the tech bubble confined to the tech sector? Journal of Empirical Finance 17, 345–361. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0927539809001054, doi:10.1016/j.jempfin.2009.12.004.
- Anderson, S.P., de Palma, A., Thisse, J.F., 2001. Discrete choice theory of product differentiation. 4. print ed., MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Andrei, D., Cujean, J., 2017. Information percolation, momentum and reversal. Journal of Financial Economics 123, 617–645. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0304405X16302380, doi:10.1016/j.jfineco.2016.05.012.
- Ausloos, M., Jovanovic, F., Schinckus, C., 2016. On the "usual" misunderstandings between econophysics and finance: Some clarifications on modelling approaches and efficient market hypothesis. International Review of Financial Analysis 47, 7–14. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1057521916300849, doi:10. 1016/j.irfa.2016.05.009.
- Avery, C., Zemsky, P., 1998. Multidimensional Uncertainty and Herd Behavior in Financial Markets. American Economic Review 88, 724–748. URL: http://www.jstor.org/ stable/117003.

- Axtell, R.L., Farmer, J.D., 2022. Agent-based modeling in economics and finance: past, present, and future. Journal of Economic Literature.
- Baker, H.K., Ricciardi, V., 2014. How Biases Affect Investor Behaviour. The European Financial Review, 7–10.
- Baker, S.R., Bloom, N., Davis, S.J., 2016. Measuring Economic Policy Uncertainty. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 131, 1593–1636. doi:10.1093/qje/qjw024.
- Balcombe, K., Fraser, I., 2017. Do bubbles have an explosive signature in markov switching models? Economic Modelling 66, 81–100. URL: https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0264999316307507, doi:10.1016/j.econmod.2017. 06.001.
- Ball, R., Brown, P., 1968. An Empirical Evaluation of Accounting Income Numbers. Journal of Accounting Research 6, 159–178. URL: https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc: bla:joares:v:6:y:1968:i:2:p:159-178.
- Baltakys, K., Le Viet, H., Kanniainen, J., 2021. Structure of investor networks and financial crises. Entropy 23, 381.
- Banerjee, A.V., 1992. A Simple Model of Herd Behavior. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 107, 797–817. doi:10.2307/2118364.
- Banerjee, A.V., Duflo, E., 2011. Poor economics: A radical rethinking of the way to fight global poverty. Public Affairs.
- Barberis, N., Thaler, R., 2003. Chapter 18 A survey of behavioral finance, in: Handbook of the Economics of Finance : Financial Markets and Asset Pricing. Elsevier. Vol. 1, pp. 1053–1128. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1574010203010276, doi:10.1016/S1574-0102(03)01027-6.
- Bazart, C., Bonein, A., Hokamp, S., Seibold, G., 2016. Behavioural Economics and Tax Evasion – Calibrating an Agent-based Econophysics Model with Experimental Tax Compliance Data. Journal of Tax Administration (JOTA).
- Bekiros, S., Jlassi, M., Lucey, B., Naoui, K., Uddin, G.S., 2017. Herding behavior, market sentiment and volatility: Will the bubble resume? The North American Journal of Economics and Finance 42, 107–131. doi:10.1016/j.najef.2017.07.005.

- Benkraiem, R., Bouattour, M., Galariotis, E., Miloudi, A., 2021. Do investors in SMEs herd? Evidence from French and UK equity markets. Small Business Economics 56, 1619–1637. doi:10.1007/s11187-019-00284-0.
- Bettinger, E., Slonim, R., 2007. Patience among children. Journal of Public Economics 91, 343–363. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0047272706000715, doi:10.1016/j.jpubeco.2006.05.010.
- Bikhchandani, S., Hirshleifer, D., Welch, I., 1992. A Theory of Fads, Fashion, Custom, and Cultural Change as Informational Cascades. Journal of Political Economy 100, 992–1026. doi:10.1086/261849.
- Black, F., 1986. Noise. The Journal of Finance 41, 528–543. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261. 1986.tb04513.x.
- Blanchard, O., Watson, M., 1982. Bubbles, Rational Expectations and Financial Markets. National Bureau of Economic Research. URL: https://www.nber.org/papers/w0945, doi:10.3386/w0945.
- Blume, M., 1966. Theory of the First-Order Magnetic Phase Change in UO<sub>2</sub>. Physical Review 141, 517–524. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.141.517.
- Blume, M., Emery, V.J., Griffiths, R.B., 1971. Ising Model for the λ Transition and Phase Separation in He<sup>3</sup>-He<sup>4</sup> Mixtures. Physical Review A 4, 1071–1077. URL: https://link. aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.4.1071, doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.4.1071.
- Borghesi, C., Bouchaud, J.P., 2007. Of songs and men: a model for multiple choice with herding. Quality & Quantity 41, 557–568. doi:10.1007/s11135-007-9074-6.
- Börner, C.J., Hoffmann, I., Stiebel, J.H., 2023a. Generalized Agent System with Triplet States: Model Parameter Identification of Agent-Agent Interaction. SSRN Electronic Journal. doi:10.2139/ssrn.4604595.
- Börner, C.J., Hoffmann, I., Stiebel, J.H., 2023b. Ideal Agent System with Triplet States: Model Parameter Identification of Agent–Field Interaction. Entropy 25, 1666. doi:10. 3390/e25121666.
- Börner, C.J., Hoffmann, I., Stiebel, J.H., 2023c. On the connection between temperature and volatility in ideal agent systems. Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2023, 103401. doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ad002c.

- Bornholdt, S., 2001. Expectation Bubbles in a Spin Model of Markets: Intermittency from Frustration Across Scales. International Journal of Modern Physics C 12, 667–674. doi:10. 1142/S0129183101001845.
- Bouchaud, J.P., 2009. The (unfortunate) complexity of the economy. Physics World 22, 28–32.
- Bouchaud, J.P., 2013. Crises and Collective Socio-Economic Phenomena: Simple Models and Challenges. Journal of Statistical Physics 151, 567–606. doi:10.1007/s10955-012-0687-3.
- Bouri, E., Gupta, R., Roubaud, D., 2019. Herding behaviour in cryptocurrencies. Finance Research Letters 29, 216–221. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S1544612318303647, doi:10.1016/j.frl.2018.07.008.
- Bracha, A., Weber, E.U., 2012. A Psychological Perspective of Financial Panic. FRB of Boston Public Policy Discussion Paper 12-7. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2192183.
- Brock, W.A., Durlauf, S.N., 2001. Discrete Choice with Social Interactions. The Review of Economic Studies 68, 235–260. doi:10.1111/1467-937X.00168.
- Brooks, C., Katsaris, A., 2005. Trading Rules from Forecasting the Collapse of Speculative Bubbles for the S&P 500 Composite Index. The Journal of Business 78, 2003–2036. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/431450, doi:10.1086/431450.
- Brown, N.C., Wei, K.D., Wermers, R., 2014. Analyst Recommendations, Mutual Fund Herding, and Overreaction in Stock Prices. Management Science 60, 1–20. doi:10.1287/ mnsc.2013.1751.
- 2013. Brunnermeier, M.K., Oehmke, М., Chapter 18 - Bubbles, Financial Crises. Systemic Risk, Constantinides, G.M., Harris, Stulz, and in: М., R.M. (Eds.), Handbook of the Economics of Finance. Elsevier. Vol. 2, pp. 1221-1288. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780444594068000184, doi:10.1016/B978-0-44-459406-8.00018-4.
- Brunnermeier, M.K., Schnabel, I., 2015. Bubbles and Central Banks: Historical Perspectives. CEPR Discussion Paper, 493–562.
- Brusentsov, N.P., Alvarez, J.R., 2011. Ternary Computers: The Setun and the Setun 70. IFIP International Federation for Information Processing 2011. J. Impagliazzo, E. Proydakov (Eds.), SoRuCom 2006, IFIP AICT 357, 74–80.

- Brush, S.G., 1967. History of the Lenz-Ising Model. Reviews of Modern Physics 39, 883-893. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.39.883, doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.39.883.
- Butera, P., Pernici, M., 2018. The Blume-Capel model for spins S = 1 and 3/2 in dimensions d = 2 and 3. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 507, 22–66. doi:10. 1016/j.physa.2018.05.010.
- Cameron, A.C., Trivedi, P.K., 2005. Microeconometrics: Methods and Applications. Cambridge University Press.
- Capel, H.W., 1966. On the possibility of first-order phase transitions in Ising systems of triplet ions with zero-field splitting. Physica 32, 966–988. doi:10.1016/0031-8914(66) 90027-9.
- Castellano, C., Fortunato, S., Loreto, V., 2009. Statistical physics of social dynamics. Reviews of Modern Physics 81, 591–646. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.81.591.
- Celiker, U., Chowdhury, J., Sonaer, G., 2015. Do mutual funds herd in industries? Journal of Banking & Finance 52, 1–16. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426614003537, doi:10.1016/j.jbankfin.2014.11.006.
- Chakraborti, A., Toke, I.M., Patriarca, M., Abergel, F., 2011a. Econophysics review: I. Empirical facts. Quantitative Finance 11, 991–1012. doi:10.1080/14697688.2010. 539248.
- Chakraborti, A., Toke, I.M., Patriarca, M., Abergel, F., 2011b. Econophysics review: II. Agent-based models. Quantitative Finance 11, 1013–1041. doi:10.1080/14697688. 2010.539249.
- Chang, E.C., Cheng, J.W., Khorana, A., 2000. An examination of herd behavior in equity markets: An international perspective. Journal of Banking & Finance 24, 1651–1679. doi:10.1016/S0378-4266(99)00096-5.
- Chang, S.K., 2014. Herd behavior, bubbles and social interactions in financial markets. Studies in Nonlinear Dynamics and Econometrics 18, 89–101. doi:10.1515/snde-2013-0024.
- Chen, C.D., Demirer, R., 2018. The profitability of herding: evidence from Taiwan. Managerial Finance 44, 919–934. doi:10.1108/MF-12-2016-0357.

- Chen, H., De, P., Hu, Y., Hwang, B.H., 2014. Wisdom of Crowds: The Value of Stock Opinions Transmitted Through Social Media. The Review of Financial Studies 27, 1367– 1403. doi:10.1093/rfs/hhu001.
- Chen, S.H., Chang, C.L., Du, Y.R., 2012. Agent-based economic models and econometrics. The Knowledge Engineering Review 27, 187–219. URL: https://www.cambridge. org/core/article/agentbased-economic-models-and-econometrics/ DF3E4987809567A9B277F83ED6E22E00, doi:10.1017/S0269888912000136.
- Cheung, A., Roca, E., Su, J.J., 2015. Crypto-currency bubbles: an application of the Phillips– Shi–Yu (2013) methodology on Mt. Gox bitcoin prices. Applied Economics 47, 2348–2358. doi:10.1080/00036846.2015.1005827.
- Chevalier, J., Ellison, G., 1999. Career Concerns of Mutual Fund Managers. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 114, 389–432. doi:10.1162/003355399556034.
- Chiang, T.C., Zheng, D., 2010. An empirical analysis of herd behavior in global stock markets. Journal of Banking & Finance 34, 1911–1921. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426609003409, doi:10. 1016/j.jbankfin.2009.12.014.
- Chmura, T., Le, H., Nguyen, K., 2022. Herding with leading traders: Evidence from a laboratory social trading platform. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 203, 93–106. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2022.08.035.
- Choi, N., Sias, R.W., 2009. Institutional industry herding. Journal of Financial Economics 94, 469–491. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304405X09001408, doi:10.1016/j.jfineco.2008.12.009.
- Chowdhury, D., Stauffer, D., 1999. A generalized spin model of financial markets. European Physical Journal B 8, 477–482. doi:10.1007/s100510050714.
- Christie, W.G., Huang, R.D., 1995. Following the Pied Piper: Do Individual Returns Herd around the Market? Financial Analysts Journal 51, 31–37. doi:10.2469/faj.v51.n4. 1918.
- Conlisk, J., 1996. Why Bounded Rationality? Journal of Economic Literature 34, 669–700. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2729218.
- Cont, R., Bouchaud, J.P., 2000. Herd Behavior and Aggregate Fluctuations in Financial Markets. Macroeconomic Dynamics 4, 170–196. doi:10.1017/S1365100500015029.

- Cont, R., Tankov, P., 2004. Financial modelling with jump processes. Chapman and Hall / CRC Press.
- Corbet, S., Lucey, B., Yarovaya, L., 2018. Datestamping the Bitcoin and Ethereum bubbles. Finance Research Letters 26, 81–88. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1544612317307419, doi:10.1016/j.frl.2017.12.006.
- Corrado, C.J., Miller, J.T.W., 2005. The forecast quality of CBOE implied volatility indexes. Journal of Futures Markets 25, 339–373. doi:10.1002/fut.20148.
- Costabile, E., Roberto Viana, J., Ricardo de Sousa, J., Plascak, J.A., 2014. The general-spin Blume–Capel model: A study of the multicritical behavior using effective-field theory. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 393, 297–303. doi:10.1016/j. physa.2013.09.003.
- Crescimanna, V., Di Persio, L., 2016. Herd Behavior and Financial Crashes: An Interacting Particle System Approach. Journal of Mathematics 2016. doi:10.1155/2016/7510567.
- Da, Z., Engelberg, J., Gao, P., 2015. The Sum of All FEARS Investor Sentiment and Asset Prices. The Review of Financial Studies 28, 1–32. URL: https://academic.oup.com/ rfs/article/28/1/1/1682440, doi:10.1093/rfs/hhu072.
- Dagum, E.B., Cholette, P.A. (Eds.), 2006. Benchmarking, Temporal Distribution, and Reconciliation Methods for Time Series: Lecture Notes in Statistics. 1. ed., Springer New York, NY. doi:10.1007/0-387-35439-5.
- Daniel, K., Hirshleifer, D., Subrahmanyam, A., 1998. Investor Psychology and Security Market Under– and Overreactions. The Journal of Finance 53, 1839–1885. doi:10.1111/ 0022-1082.00077.
- Dasgupta, A., Prat, A., Verardo, M., 2011. The Price Impact of Institutional Herding. The Review of Financial Studies 24, 892–925. doi:10.1093/rfs/hhq137.
- De Bondt, W.F.M., Thaler, R.H., 1985. Does the Stock Market Overreact? The Journal of Finance 40, 793–805. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1985.tb05004.x.
- De Bondt, W.F.M., Thaler, R.H., 1987. Further Evidence On Investor Overreaction and Stock Market Seasonality. The Journal of Finance 42, 557–581. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261. 1987.tb04569.x.
- DeMarzo, P.M., Kaniel, R., Kremer, I., 2008. Relative Wealth Concerns and Financial Bubbles. The Review of Financial Studies 21, 19–50. doi:10.1093/rfs/hhm032.

- Demirer, R., Kutan, A.M., Chen, C.D., 2010. Do investors herd in emerging stock markets?: Evidence from the Taiwanese market. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 76, 283–295. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0167268110001290, doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2010.06.013.
- Devenow, A., Welch, I., 1996. Rational herding in financial economics. European Economic Review 40, 603–615. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/0014292195000739, doi:10.1016/0014-2921(95)00073-9.
- Diba, B.T., Grossman, H.I., 1988. Explosive Rational Bubbles in Stock Prices? American Economic Review 78, 520–530. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1809149.
- Ding, W., Mazouz, K., Wang, Q., 2021. Volatility timing, sentiment, and the short-term profitability of VIX-based cross-sectional trading strategies. Journal of Empirical Finance 63, 42–56. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0927539821000438, doi:10.1016/j.jempfin.2021.05.003.
- Durlauf, S.N., 1996. Statistical Mechanics Approaches to Socioeconomic Behavior. Cambridge, MA. doi:10.3386/t0203.
- Edwards, W., 1982. Conservatism in human information processing, in: Kahneman, D., Slovic, P., Tversky, A. (Eds.), Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 359–369. URL: https: //www.cambridge.org/core/product/8B7029284C4E87E35765A09F768060CE, doi:10.1017/CB09780511809477.026.
- Ellsberg, D., 1961. Risk, Ambiguity, and the Savage Axioms. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 75, 643–669. doi:10.2307/1884324.
- Emmert-Streib, F., Musa, A., Baltakys, K., Kanniainen, J., Tripathi, S., Yli-Harja, O., Jodlbauer, H., Dehmer, M., 2017. Computational analysis of the structural properties of economic and financial networks. arXiv preprint arXiv:1710.04455.
- Enders, W., 2015. Applied econometric time series. 4. ed., Wiley, Hoboken, NJ.
- Enoksen, F.A., Landsnes, C., Lučivjanská, K., Molnár, P., 2020. Understanding risk of bubbles in cryptocurrencies. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 176, 129–144. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0167268120301505, doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2020.05.005.

- Escobari, D., Garcia, S., Mellado, C., 2017. Identifying bubbles in Latin American equity markets: Phillips-Perron-based tests and linkages. Emerging Markets Review 33, 90–101. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ s1566014117303527, doi:10.1016/j.ememar.2017.09.001.
- Fagiolo, G., Guerini, M., Lamperti, F., Moneta, A., Roventini, A., 2019. Validation of Agent-Based Models in Economics and Finance, in: Beisbart, C., Saam, N.J. (Eds.), Computer Simulation Validation: Fundamental Concepts, Methodological Frameworks, and Philosophical Perspectives. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 763–787. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-70766-2\_31.
- Fagiolo, G., Moneta, A., Windrum, P., 2007. A Critical Guide to Empirical Validation of Agent-Based Models in Economics: Methodologies, Procedures, and Open Problems. Computational Economics 30, 195–226. doi:10.1007/s10614-007-9104-4.
- Fama, E.F., 1965a. Random Walks in Stock Market Prices. Financial Analysts Journal 21, 55–59. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/4469865.
- Fama, E.F., 1965b. The Behavior of Stock-Market Prices. The Journal of Business 38, 34–105. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2350752.
- Fama, E.F., 1970. Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and Empirical Work. The Journal of Finance 25, 383–417. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2325486, doi:10.2307/2325486.
- Fama, E.F., 1991. Efficient Capital Markets: II. The Journal of Finance 46, 1575–1617. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1991.tb04636.x.
- Fama, E.F., Fisher, L., Jensen, M.C., Roll, R., 1969. The Adjustment of Stock Prices to New Information. International Economic Review 10, 1–21. URL: http://www.jstor.org/ stable/2525569, doi:10.2307/2525569.
- Fama, E.F., French, K.R., 1992. The Cross-Section of Expected Stock Returns. The Journal of Finance 47, 427–465. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1992.tb04398.x.
- Fama, E.F., French, K.R., 1993. Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds. Journal of Financial Economics 33, 3–56. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0304405X93900235, doi:10.1016/0304-405X(93)90023-5.
- Fama, E.F., French, K.R., 1996a. Multifactor Explanations of Asset Pricing Anomalies. The Journal of Finance 51, 55–84. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1996.tb05202.x.

- Fama, E.F., French, K.R., 1996b. The CAPM is Wanted, Dead or Alive. The Journal of Finance 51, 1947–1958. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1996.tb05233.x.
- Fehr, E., Falk, A., 2002. Psychological foundations of incentives. European Economic Review 46, 687–724. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0014292101002082, doi:10.1016/S0014-2921(01)00208-2.
- Feinerer, I., Hornik, K., Meyer, D., 2008. Text Mining Infrastructure in R. Journal of Statistical Software 25. doi:10.18637/jss.v025.i05.
- Feldman, T., 2010. A More Predictive Index of Market Sentiment. Journal of Behavioral Finance 11, 211–223. doi:10.1080/15427560.2010.526892.
- Feng, L.E., Seasholes, M.S., 2004. Correlated Trading and Location. The Journal of Finance 59, 2117–2144. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.2004.00694.x.
- Fenzl, T., Pelzmann, L., 2012. Psychological and Social Forces Behind Aggregate Financial Market Behavior. Journal of Behavioral Finance 13, 56–65. doi:10.1080/15427560. 2012.655383.
- Fernandez, M.A., Korutcheva, E., de La Rubia, F.J., 2016. A 3-states magnetic model of binary decisions in sociophysics. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 462, 603–618. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2016.06.017.
- Ferreruela, S., Kallinterakis, V., Mallor, T., 2022. Cross-Market Herding: Do 'Herds' Herd with Each Other? Journal of Behavioral Finance, 1–21. doi:10.1080/15427560.2022. 2100383.
- Ferri, I., Díaz-Guilera, A., Palassini, M., 2022. Equilibrium and dynamics of a three-state opinion model. arXiv URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/2210.03054, doi:10.48550/ ARXIV.2210.03054.
- Feuerriegel, S., Proellochs, N., 2021. SentimentAnalysis: Dictionary-Based Sentiment Analysis. Version 1.3-4. URL: https://github.com/sfeuerriegel/SentimentAnalysis.
- Fließbach, T., 2018. Statistische Physik: Lehrbuch zur Theoretischen Physik IV. 6. ed., Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Flood, R.P., Garber, P.M., 1980. Market Fundamentals versus Price-Level Bubbles: The First Tests. Journal of Political Economy 88, 745–770. doi:10.1086/260900.

- Foley, D.K., 1999. Statistical Equilibrium in Economics: Method, Interpretation, and an Example. XII Workshop on General Equilibrium: Problems, Prospects and Alternatives. 07-1999 New School University, New York.
- Föllmer, H., 1974. Random economies with many interacting agents. Journal of Mathematical Economics 1, 51–62. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/0304406874900354, doi:10.1016/0304-4068(74)90035-4.
- Frank, R., 2004. Behavioral Economics and Health Economics. doi:10.3386/w10881.
- Frazzini, A., Lamont, O.A., 2008. Dumb money: Mutual fund flows and the crosssection of stock returns. Journal of Financial Economics 88, 299–322. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304405X08000184, doi:10. 1016/j.jfineco.2007.07.001.
- Friedman, M., 1953. The case for flexible exchange rates, in: Friedman, M. (Ed.), Essays in positive economics. Univ. of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp. 157–203.
- Froot, K.A., Obstfeld, M., 1991. Intrinsic Bubbles: The Case of Stock Prices. American Economic Review 81, 1189–1214. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2006913.
- Froot, K.A., Scharfstein, D.S., Stein, J.C., 1992. Herd on the Street: Informational Inefficiencies in a Market with Short-Term Speculation. The Journal of Finance 47, 1461–1484. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1992.tb04665.x.
- Galam, S., Gefen, Y., Shapir, Y., 1982. Sociophysics: A new approach of sociological collective behaviour. I. mean-behaviour description of a strike. The Journal of Mathematical Sociology 9, 1–13. doi:10.1080/0022250X.1982.9989929.
- Galariotis, E.C., Rong, W., Spyrou, S.I., 2015. Herding on fundamental information: A comparative study. Journal of Banking & Finance 50, 589–598. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426614000971, doi:10. 1016/j.jbankfin.2014.03.014.
- Gao, B., Yang, C., 2017. Forecasting stock index futures returns with mixed-frequency sentiment. International Review of Economics & Finance 49, 69–83. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1059056017300588, doi:10. 1016/j.iref.2017.01.020.
- Garber, P.M., 2000. Famous First Bubbles: The Fundamentals of Early Manias. The MIT Press. doi:10.7551/mitpress/2958.001.0001.

- Gavriilidis, K., Kallinterakis, V., Ferreira, M.P.L., 2013. Institutional industry herding: Intentional or spurious? Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money 26, 192–214. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S1042443113000371, doi:10.1016/j.intfin.2013.05.008.
- Gębka, B., Wohar, M.E., 2013. International herding: Does it differ across sectors? Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money 23, 55–84. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1042443112000807, doi:10. 1016/j.intfin.2012.09.003.
- Giraldo-Barreto, J., Restrepo, J., 2021. Tax evasion study in a society realized as a diluted Ising model with competing interactions. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 582. URL: http://arxiv.org/pdf/2102.11763v1, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2021. 126264.
- Gomez-Gonzalez, J.E., Gamboa-Arbeláez, J., Hirs-Garzón, J., Pinchao-Rosero, A., 2018. When Bubble Meets Bubble: Contagion in OECD Countries. The Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics 56, 546–566. URL: https://link.springer.com/article/ 10.1007/s11146-017-9605-4, doi:10.1007/s11146-017-9605-4.
- Goodfellow, I., Bengio, Y., Courville, A., 2016. Deep learning. Adaptive computation and machine learning, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts and London, England.
- Gordon, M.B., Nadal, J.P., Phan, D., Semeshenko, V., 2009. Discrete Choices under Social Influence: Generic Properties. Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences 19, 1441–1481. doi:10.1142/S0218202509003887.
- Gordon, M.B., Nadal, J.P., Phan, D., Vannimenus, J., 2005. Seller's dilemma due to social interactions between customers. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 356, 628–640. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0378437105002220, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2005.03.003.
- Gordon, M.J., 1962. The Savings Investment and Valuation of a Corporation. The Review of Economics and Statistics 44, 37–51. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1926621, doi:10.2307/1926621.
- Graham, J.R., 1999. Herding among Investment Newsletters: Theory and Evidence. The Journal of Finance 54, 237–268. doi:10.1111/0022-1082.00103.

- Grauwin, S., Bertin, E., Lemoy, R., Jensen, P., 2009. Competition between collective and individual dynamics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, 20622–20626. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906263106.
- Greiner, W., Neise, L., Stöcker, H., 1995. Thermodynamics and statistical mechanics. Classical theoretical physics, Springer, New York and Berlin and Heidelberg and London and Paris and Tokyo and Hong Kong and Barcelona and Budapest.
- Grinblatt, M., Titman, S., Wermers, R., 1995. Momentum Investment Strategies, Portfolio Performance, and Herding: A Study of Mutual Fund Behavior. American Economic Review 85, 1088–1105. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2950976.
- Gromb, D., Vayanos, D., 2010. Limits of Arbitrage. Annual Review of Financial Economics 2, 251–275. URL: https://www.annualreviews.org/ content/journals/10.1146/annurev-financial-073009-104107, doi:10.1146/ annurev-financial-073009-104107.
- Guimaraes, W.R.S., Lima, L.S., 2021. Self-organizing three-dimensional Ising model of financial markets. Physical Review E 103. doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.103.062130.
- Gürkaynak, R.S., 2008. Econometric Tests of Asset Price Bubbles: Taking Stock. Journal of Economic Surveys 22, 166–186. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6419.2007.00530.x.
- Gursky, A., 1997. Chicago Board of Trade I. Digital version provided by the artist, used with permission.
- Haas, J., Neely, C.J., Emmons, W.R., 2020. Responses of International Central Banks to the COVID-19 Crisis. Federal Reserve Bank of St Louis Review 102, 339–384. doi:10. 20955/r.102.339-84.
- Hamilton, J.D., 1989. A New Approach to the Economic Analysis of Nonstationary Time Series and the Business Cycle. Econometrica 57, 357–384. URL: http://www.jstor. org/stable/1912559, doi:10.2307/1912559.
- Hampton, K.N., Goulet, L.S., Rainie, L., Purcell, K., 2011. Social networking sites and our lives. Vol. 1. Pew Internet & American Life Project Washington, DC.
- Han, B., Yang, L., 2013. Social Networks, Information Acquisition, and Asset Prices. Management Science 59, 1444–1457. doi:10.1287/mnsc.1120.1678.

- Harras, G., Sornette, D., 2011. How to grow a bubble: A model of myopic adapting agents. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 80, 137–152. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167268111000898, doi:10. 1016/j.jebo.2011.03.003.
- Harras, G., Tessone, C.J., Sornette, D., 2012. Noise-induced volatility of collective dynamics. Physical review. E, Statistical, nonlinear, and soft matter physics 85, 011150. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevE.85.011150.
- Harvey, D.I., Leybourne, S.J., Sollis, R., Taylor, A.R., 2016. Tests for explosive financial bubbles in the presence of non-stationary volatility. Journal of Empirical Finance 38, 548–574. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/s0927539815000961, doi:10.1016/j.jempfin.2015.09.002.
- Hatipoglu, O., Uyar, O., 2012. Do Bubbles Spill Over? Estimating Financial Bubbles in Emerging Markets. Emerging Markets Finance and Trade 48, 64–75. doi:10.2753/ REE1540-496X4806S505.
- Haykir, O., Yagli, I., 2022. Speculative bubbles and herding in cryptocurrencies. Financial Innovation 8, 78. doi:10.1186/s40854-022-00383-0.
- Henry, E., 2008. Are Investors Influenced By How Earnings Press Releases Are Written? Journal of Business Communication 45, 363–407. doi:10.1177/0021943608319388.
- Hirshleifer, D., 2001. Investor Psychology and Asset Pricing. The Journal of Finance 56, 1533–1597. doi:10.1111/0022-1082.00379.
- Hirshleifer, D., 2015. Behavioral Finance. Annual Review of Financial Economics 7, 133–159. doi:10.1146/annurev-financial-092214-043752.
- Hirshleifer, D., Hong Teoh, S., 2003. Herd Behaviour and Cascading in Capital Markets: A Review and Synthesis. European Financial Management 9, 25–66. doi:10.1111/ 1468-036X.00207.
- Hoitash, R., Krishnan, M., 2008. Herding, momentum and investor over-reaction. Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting 30, 25–47. doi:10.1007/s11156-007-0042-y.
- Hott, C., 2009. Herding behavior in asset markets. Journal of Financial Stability 5, 35–56. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1572308908000132, doi:10.1016/j.jfs.2008.01.004.

- Hu, Y., Oxley, L., 2018a. Bubble contagion: Evidence from Japan's asset price bubble of the 1980-90s. Journal of the Japanese and International Economies 50, 89–95. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0889158318300893, doi:10. 1016/j.jjie.2018.09.002.
- Hu, Y., Oxley, L., 2018b. Do 18th century 'bubbles' survive the scrutiny of 21st century time series econometrics? Economics Letters 162, 131–134. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165176517303713, doi:10. 1016/j.econlet.2017.09.004.
- Huang, K., 1987. Statistical mechanics. 2. ed., Wiley, New York, NY.
- Hudepohl, T., van Lamoen, R., de Vette, N., 2021. Quantitative easing and exuberance in stock markets: Evidence from the euro area. Journal of International Money and Finance 118, 102471. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0261560621001224, doi:10.1016/j.jimonfin.2021.102471.
- Hull, J.C., 2018. Options, futures, and other derivatives. 9. global ed., Pearson Education, Harlow.
- Hung, W., Lu, C.C., Lee, C.F., 2010. Mutual fund herding its impact on stock returns: Evidence from the Taiwan stock market. Pacific-Basin Finance Journal 18, 477–493. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0927538X10000405, doi:10.1016/j.pacfin.2010.06.001.
- Hwang, S., Salmon, M., 2004. Market stress and herding. Journal of Empirical Finance 11, 585–616. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0927539804000507, doi:10.1016/j.jempfin.2004.04.003.
- International Bureau of Weights and Measure, 2019. The International System of Units. 9. ed., Bureau International des Poids et Mesures, Sèvres Cedex, France.
- Iori, G., 1999. Avalanche Dynamics and Trading Friction Effects on Stock Market Returns. International Journal of Modern Physics C 10, 1149–1162. doi:10.1142/ S0129183199000930.
- Iori, G., Porter, J., 2012. Agent-based modelling for financial markets. Department of Economics Discussion Paper Series No. 12/08.
- Isihara, A., 1971. Statistical Physics. Elsevier Science, Reprint 2013, Burlington.

- Ising, E., 1925. Beitrag zur Theorie des Ferromagnetismus. Zeitschrift für Physik 31, 253–258. doi:10.1007/BF02980577.
- Jacobs, B.W., Singhal, V.R., Subramanian, R., 2010. An empirical investigation of environmental performance and the market value of the firm. Journal of Operations Management 28, 430–441. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/s0272696310000033, doi:10.1016/j.jom.2010.01.001.
- Jaynes, E.T., 1957. Information Theory and Statistical Mechanics. Physical Review 106, 620–630. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.106.620.
- Jegadeesh, N., Titman, S., 1993. Returns to Buying Winners and Selling Losers: Implications for Stock Market Efficiency. The Journal of Finance 48, 65–91. doi:10.1111/j. 1540-6261.1993.tb04702.x.
- Jordà, O., Schularick, M., Taylor, A.M., 2015. Leveraged bubbles. Journal of Monetary Economics 76, S1–S20. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0304393215000987, doi:10.1016/j.jmoneco.2015.08.005.
- Kahneman, D., Riepe, M.W., 1998. Aspects of Investor Psychology: 24 / 4. Journal of Portfolio Management, 52–65. URL: http://www.iijournals.com/loi/jpm.
- Kahneman, D., Tversky, A., 1973. On the psychology of prediction. Psychological Review 80, 237–251. doi:10.1037/h0034747.
- Kahneman, D., Tversky, A., 1979. Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision under Risk. Econometrica 47, 263–292. doi:10.2307/1914185.
- Kaizoji, T., 2000. Speculative bubbles and crashes in stock markets: an interacting-agent model of speculative activity. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 287, 493–506. doi:10.1016/S0378-4371(00)00388-5.
- Kallinterakis, V., Gregoriou, G.N., 2017. Herd behaviour: A survey. Aestimatio: The IEB International Journal of Finance. URL: https://livrepository.liverpool.ac.uk/ 3010304/3/herd%20behaviour%20kallinterakis.pdf.
- Kardar, M., 2007. Statistical physics of particles. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge.
- Kawasaki, Z., 1993. Organizational Use of Machine Translation Systems, in: Nirenburg (Ed.), Progress in machine translation. IOS Press, Amsterdam, pp. 217–224.

- Kearney, C., Liu, S., 2014. Textual sentiment in finance: A survey of methods and models.
  International Review of Financial Analysis 33, 171–185. doi:10.1016/j.irfa.2014.
  02.006.
- Kendall, M.G., Stuart, A., 1977. The advanced theory of statistics: In three volumes. 4. ed., Charles Griffin & Co Ltd, London.
- Keown, A.J., Pinkerton, J.M., 1981. Merger Announcements and Insider Trading Activity: An Empirical Investigation. The Journal of Finance 36, 855–869. doi:10.1111/j. 1540-6261.1981.tb04888.x.
- Keynes, J.M., 1936. The general theory of employment, interest, and money. Macmillan, New York.
- Kindleberger, C.P., 2005. Manias, Panics and Crashes. 5. ed., Palgrave Macmillan Ltd, Basingstoke. doi:10.1057/9780230628045.
- Kittel, C., McEuen, P., 1996. Introduction to solid state physics. 8. ed., Wiley New York.
- Klein, A.C., 2013. Time-variations in herding behavior: Evidence from a Markov switching SUR model. Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money 26, 291–304. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1042443113000437, doi:10.1016/j.intfin.2013.06.006.
- Kleinert, H., Chen, X.J., 2007. Boltzmann distribution and market temperature. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 383, 513–518. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2007.04.101.
- Komalasari, P.T., Asri, M., Purwanto, B.M., Setiyono, B., 2022. Herding behaviour in the capital market: What do we know and what is next? Management Review Quarterly 72, 745–787. doi:10.1007/s11301-021-00212-1.
- Kozaki, M., Sato, A.H., 2008. Application of the Beck model to stock markets: Value-at-Risk and portfolio risk assessment. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 387, 1225–1246. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378437107010771, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2007.10.023.
- Kozuki, N., Fuchikami, N., 2003. Dynamical model of financial markets: fluctuating 'temperature' causes intermittent behavior of price changes. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 329, 222–230. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0378437103005922, doi:10.1016/S0378-4371(03)00592-2.

- Krause, S.M., Bornholdt, S., 2012. Opinion formation model for markets with a social temperature and fear. Physical review. E, Statistical, nonlinear, and soft matter physics 86, 056106. doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.86.056106.
- Kremer, S., Nautz, D., 2013. Short-term Herding of Institutional Traders: New Evidence from the German Stock Market. European Financial Management 19, 730–746. doi:10. 1111/j.1468-036X.2011.00607.x.
- Kuran, T., Sunstein, C.R., 1999. Availability Cascades and Risk Regulation. Stanford Law Review 51, 683–768. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1229439, doi:10.2307/ 1229439.
- Kutner, R., Ausloos, M., Grech, D., Di Matteo, T., Schinckus, C., Eugene Stanley, H., 2019. Econophysics and sociophysics: Their milestones & challenges. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 516, 240–253. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0378437118313578, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2018.10.019.
- Kyriazis, N.A., 2020. Herding behaviour in digital currency markets: An integrated survey and empirical estimation. Heliyon 6, e04752. URL: https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S2405844020315954, doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2020. e04752.
- Laciana, C.E., Rovere, S.L., 2011. Ising-like agent-based technology diffusion model: Adoption patterns vs. seeding strategies. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 390, 1139–1149. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378437110009532, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2010.11.006.
- Lakonishok, J., Shleifer, A., Vishny, R.W., 1992. The impact of institutional trading on stock prices. Journal of Financial Economics 32, 23-43. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0304405X9290023Q, doi:10. 1016/0304-405X(92)90023-Q.
- Lakonishok, J., Shleifer, A., Vishny, R.W., 1994. Contrarian Investment, Extrapolation, and Risk. The Journal of Finance 49, 1541–1578. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1994. tb04772.x.
- Landau, L.D., Lifšic, E.M., 1980. Course of theoretical physics. Vol. 5. 2 parts, 3. rev. and enl ed., Pergamon Press, Oxford.

- Langer, E.J., 1975. The illusion of control. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 32, 311–328. URL: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1977-03333-001, doi:10. 1037/0022-3514.32.2.311.
- LeBaron, B., 2006. Chapter 24 Agent-based Computational Finance, in: Tesfatsion, L., Judd, K.L. (Eds.), Handbook of Computational Economics. Elsevier. Vol. 2, pp. 1187–1233. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1574002105020241, doi:10.1016/S1574-0021(05)02024-1.
- Lemoy, R., Bertin, E., Jensen, P., 2011. Socio-economic utility and chemical potential. Europhysics Letters 93, 38002. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/93/38002.
- LeRoy, S.F., Porter, R.D., 1981. The Present-Value Relation: Tests Based on Implied Variance Bounds. Econometrica 49, 555. doi:10.2307/1911512.
- Li, X., Xie, H., Chen, L., Wang, J., Deng, X., 2014. News impact on stock price return via sentiment analysis. Knowledge-Based Systems 69, 14–23. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/s0950705114001440, doi:10. 1016/j.knosys.2014.04.022.
- Lintner, J., 1965. Security Prices, Risk, and Maximal Gains From Diversification. The Journal of Finance 20, 587–615. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2977249, doi:10.2307/2977249.
- Litimi, H., BenSaïda, A., Bouraoui, O., 2016. Herding and excessive risk in the American stock market: A sectoral analysis. Research in International Business and Finance 38, 6–21. doi:10.1016/j.ribaf.2016.03.008.
- Ljungqvist, A., Wilhelm, W.J., 2003. IPO Pricing in the Dot-com Bubble. The Journal of Finance 58, 723–752. doi:10.1111/1540-6261.00543.
- Lo, A.W., Repin, D.V., 2002. The psychophysiology of real-time financial risk processing. Journal of cognitive neuroscience 14, 323–339. doi:10.1162/089892902317361877.
- Löffler, G., Norden, L., Rieber, A., 2021. Negative news and the stock market impact of tone in rating reports. Journal of Banking & Finance 133, 106256. doi:10.1016/j.jbankfin. 2021.106256.
- de Long, J.B., Shleifer, A., Summers, L.H., Waldmann, R.J., 1990. Noise Trader Risk in Financial Markets. Journal of Political Economy 98, 703–738. doi:10.1086/261703.

- Lord, C.G., Ross, L., Lepper, M.R., 1979. Biased assimilation and attitude polarization: The effects of prior theories on subsequently considered evidence. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 37, 2098–2109. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.37.11.2098.
- Loughran, T., McDonald, B., 2011. When is a liability not a liability? Textual analysis, dictionaries, and 10-Ks. The Journal of Finance 66, 35–65.
- Loughran, T., McDonald, B., 2016. Textual Analysis in Accounting and Finance: A Survey. Journal of Accounting Research 54, 1187–1230. doi:10.1111/1475-679X.12123.
- Loughran, T., McDonald, B., 2020. Textual Analysis in Finance. Annual Review of Financial Economics 12, 357–375. doi:10.1146/annurev-financial-012820-032249.
- Loughran, T., Ritter, J., 2004. Why Has IPO Underpricing Changed over Time? Financial Management 33, 5–37. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/3666262.
- Lux, T., 1995. Herd Behaviour, Bubbles and Crashes. The Economic Journal 105, 881–896. doi:10.2307/2235156.
- Maghyereh, A., Abdoh, H., 2022. Can news-based economic sentiment predict bubbles in precious metal markets? Financial Innovation 8, 35. doi:10.1186/s40854-022-00341-w.
- Mandelbrot, B., 1966. Forecasts of Future Prices, Unbiased Markets, and 'Martingale' Models. The Journal of Business 39, 242–255. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2351745.
- Marsili, M., 1999. On the multinomial logit model. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 269, 9–15. doi:10.1016/S0378-4371(99)00074-6.
- de Mattos Neto, P.S.G., Silva, D.A., Ferreira, T.A.E., Cavalcanti, G.D.C., 2011. Market volatility modeling for short time window. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 390, 3444–3453. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2011.04.031.
- Maug, E., Naik, N., 2011. Herding and Delegated Portfolio Management: The Impact of Relative Performance Evaluation on Asset Allocation. The Quarterly Journal of Finance 01, 265–292. doi:10.1142/S2010139211000092.
- Mechura, M.B., 2016. Lemmatization list: English (en) [Data file]. URL: http://www.lexiconista.com.
- Mei, J., Scheinkman, J.A., Xiong, W., 2009. Speculative Trading and Stock Prices: Evidence from Chinese A-B Share Premia. Annals of Economics and Finance 10, 225–255.

- Merton, R.C., 1987. On the Current State of the Stock Market Rationality Hypothesis, in: Dornbusch, R., Fischer, S. (Eds.), Macroeconomics and Finance: Essays in Honor of Franco Modigliani. MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Messis, P., Zapranis, A., 2014. Herding towards higher moment CAPM, contagion of herding and macroeconomic shocks: Evidence from five major developed markets. Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance 4, 1–13. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S2214635014000501, doi:10.1016/j.jbef.2014.09.002.
- Michard, Q., Bouchaud, J.P., 2005. Theory of collective opinion shifts: from smooth trends to abrupt swings. European Physical Journal B 47, 151–159. doi:10.1140/epjb/ e2005-00307-0.
- Mossin, J., 1966. Equilibrium in a Capital Asset Market. Econometrica 34, 768–783. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1910098, doi:10.2307/1910098.
- Murota, M., Inoue, J.i., 2014. Characterizing Financial Crisis by Means of the Three States Random Field Ising Model, in: Abergel, F., Aoyama, H., Chakrabarti, B.K., Chakraborti, A., Ghosh, A. (Eds.), Econophysics of Agent-Based Models, Springer International Publishing, Cham. pp. 83–98.
- Nadal, J.P., Chenevez, O., Weisbuch, G., Kirman, A., 1998. A Formal Approach to Market Organization: Choice Functions, Mean Field Approximation and Maximum Entropy Principle: CNAM Conference Proceedings, Self-Organization and Evolutionary Economics: New Developments, Paris. Economica.
- Nadal, J.P., Phan, D., Gordon, M.B., Vannimenus, J., 2003. Monopoly Market with Externality: an Analysis with Statistical Physics and Agent Based Computational Economics. doi:10.48550/arXiv.cond-mat/0311096.
- Nadal, J.P., Phan, D., Gordon, M.B., Vannimenus, J., 2005. Multiple equilibria in a monopoly market with heterogeneous agents and externalities. Quantitative Finance 5, 557–568. doi:10.1080/14697680500362346.
- von Neumann, J., 2007. Theory of games and economic behavior. Princeton classic editions. 60. anniversary ed., Princeton University Press, Princeton. doi:10.1515/9781400829460.
- Nofsinger, J.R., Sias, R.W., 1999. Herding and Feedback Trading by Institutional and Individual Investors. The Journal of Finance 54, 2263–2295. doi:10.1111/0022-1082.00188.

- Odean, T., 1998. Are Investors Reluctant to Realize Their Losses? The Journal of Finance 53, 1775–1798. doi:10.1111/0022-1082.00072.
- Oh, W., Jeon, S., 2007. Membership Herding and Network Stability in the Open Source Community: The Ising Perspective. Management Science 53, 1086–1101. doi:10.1287/ mnsc.1060.0623.
- O'Hara, M., 2008. Bubbles: Some Perspectives (And Loose Talk) from History. The Review of Financial Studies 21, 11–17. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/40056811.
- Olsen, R.A., 2011. Financial Risk Perceptions: A Behavioral Perspective, in: Yazdipour, R. (Ed.), Advances in Entrepreneurial Finance: With Applications from Behavioral Finance and Economics. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 45–67. doi:10.1007/ 978-1-4419-7527-0{\textunderscore}4.
- Onsager, L., 1944. Crystal Statistics. I. A Two-Dimensional Model with an Order-Disorder Transition. Physical Review 65, 117–149. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.65.117.
- Ozsoylev, H.N., Walden, J., Yavuz, M.D., Bildik, R., 2014. Investor Networks in the Stock Market. The Review of Financial Studies 27, 1323–1366. doi:10.1093/rfs/hht065.
- Pan, W.F., 2020. Does Investor Sentiment Drive Stock Market Bubbles? Beware of Excessive Optimism! Journal of Behavioral Finance 21, 27–41. doi:10.1080/15427560.2019. 1587764.
- Peskin, M.E., Schroeder, D.V., 1995. An introduction to quantum field theory. The advanced book program. 1. print ed., Addison-Wesley and Westview Press, Reading, Ma and Boulder, Co. URL: http://www.loc.gov/catdir/enhancements/fy0831/89027170-d. html.
- Phillips, P.C., Shi, S., 2020. Real time monitoring of asset markets: Bubbles and crises, in: Vinod, H.D., Rao, C.R. (Eds.), Financial, macro and micro econometrics using R. Elsevier North-Holland, Amsterdam and Oxford. Vol. 42 of *Handbook of statistics / series editor*, pp. 61–80. doi:10.1016/bs.host.2018.12.002.
- Phillips, P.C., Shi, S., Yu, J., 2015. Testing for Multiple Bubbles: Historical Episodes of Exuberance and Collapse in the S&P 500. International Economic Review 56, 1043–1078. doi:10.1111/iere.12132.
- Phillips, P.C., Wu, Y., Yu, J., 2011. Explosive Behavior in the 1990s NASDAQ: When did Exuberance Escalate Asset Values? International Economic Review 52, 201–226. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/23016628.

- Popoviciu, T., 1935. Sur les équations algébriques ayant toutes leurs racines réelles. Mathematica (University of Cluj), 129–145.
- Potts, R.B., 1952. Some generalized order-disorder transformations. Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 48, 106–109. doi:10.1017/ S0305004100027419.
- Quinn, W., Turner, J.D., 2020. Bubbles in history. Business History, 1–20. doi:10.1080/00076791.2020.1844668.
- Ramiah, V., Xu, X., Moosa, I.A., 2015. Neoclassical finance, behavioral finance and noise traders: A review and assessment of the literature. International Review of Financial Analysis 41, 89–100. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S1057521915001039, doi:10.1016/j.irfa.2015.05.021.
- Renault, T., 2017. Intraday online investor sentiment and return patterns in the U.S. stock market. Journal of Banking & Finance 84, 25–40. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/s0378426617301589, doi:10. 1016/j.jbankfin.2017.07.002.
- Ricciardi, V., 2008. The Psychology of Risk: The Behavioral Finance Perspective, in: Fabozzi, F.J. (Ed.), Investment management and financial management. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Rice, T., 2013. The behavioral economics of health and health care. Annual review of public health 34, 431–447. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031912-114353.
- Rinker, T.W., 2013. qdapDictionaries: Dictionaries to Accompany the qdap Package. Version 1.0.7. URL: http://github.com/trinker/qdapDictionaries.
- Rinker, T.W., 2018. Tools for stemming and lemmatizing text. Version 0.1.4. URL: http: //github.com/trinker/textstem.
- Roll, R., 1984. Orange Juice and Weather. American Economic Review 74, 861–880. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/549.
- Roll, R., 1988. R2. The Journal of Finance 43, 541–566. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261. 1988.tb04591.x.
- Samuelson, P.A., 1965. Proof That Properly Anticipated Prices Fluctuate Randomly. Industrial Management Review 6, 41. URL: https://www.proquest.com/

scholarly-journals/proof-that-properly-anticipated-prices-fluctuate/ docview/1302995663/se-2?accountid=14532.

- Samuelson, W., Zeckhauser, R., 1988. Status quo bias in decision making. Journal of Risk and Uncertainty 1, 7–59. doi:10.1007/BF00055564.
- Sato, A.H., 2007. Frequency analysis of tick quotes on the foreign exchange market and agent-based modeling: A spectral distance approach. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 382, 258–270. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0378437107003287, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2007.03.043.
- Sax, C., Steiner, P., 2013. Temporal Disaggregation of Time Series. The R Journal 5, 80—87. doi:10.32614/RJ-2013-028.
- Schaal, E., Taschereau-Dumouchel, M., 2023. Herding through booms and busts. Journal of Economic Theory 210, 105669. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0022053123000650, doi:10.1016/j.jet.2023.105669.
- Scharfstein, D.S., Stein, J.C., 1990. Herd Behavior and Investment. American Economic Review 80, 465–479. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2006678.
- Scheinkman, J.A., Xiong, W., 2003. Overconfidence and Speculative Bubbles. Journal of Political Economy 111, 1183–1220. doi:10.1086/378531.
- Schelling, T.C., 1971. Dynamic models of segregation. The Journal of Mathematical Sociology 1, 143–186. doi:10.1080/0022250X.1971.9989794.
- Schelling, T.C., 1978. Micromotives and macrobehavior. Fels lectures on public policy analysis. 1. ed., W. W. Norton & Company, New York and London.
- Scherbina, A., Schlusche, B., 2014. Asset price bubbles: a survey. Quantitative Finance 14, 589–604. doi:10.1080/14697688.2012.755266.
- Schinckus, C., 2016. 1996–2016: Two decades of econophysics: Between methodological diversification and conceptual coherence. The European Physical Journal Special Topics 225, 3299–3311. doi:10.1140/epjst/e2016-60099-y.
- Schinckus, C., 2018. Ising model, econophysics and analogies. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 508, 95–103. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0378437118306083, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2018.05.063.

- Scholes, M.S., 1972. The Market for Securities: Substitution Versus Price Pressure and the Effects of Information on Share Prices. The Journal of Business 45, 179–211. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2352030.
- Sewell, M., 2011. History of the Efficient Market Hypothesis. Research Note RN/11/04 UCL Dept. of Computer Science. URL: http://www.cs.ucl.ac.uk/fileadmin/UCL-CS/ images/Research\_Student\_Information/RN\_11\_04.pdf.
- Shannon, C.E., 1948. A Mathematical Theory of Communication. Bell System Technical Journal 27, 379–423. doi:10.1002/j.1538-7305.1948.tb01338.x.
- Sharma, A., Kumar, A., 2019. A review paper on behavioral finance: study of emerging trends. Qualitative Research in Financial Markets 12, 137–157. doi:10.1108/ QRFM-06-2017-0050.
- Sharpe, W.F., 1964. Capital Asset Prices: A Theory of Market Equilibrium under Conditions of Risk. The Journal of Finance 19, 425–442. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6261.1964. tb02865.x.
- Sharpe, W.F., Alexander, G.J., Bailey, J.V., 1999. Investments. 6. ed., Prentice Hall, Upper Saddler River, NJ.
- Shi, S., Hurn, S., Phillips, P.C.B., 2020. Causal Change Detection in Possibly Integrated Systems: Revisiting the Money–Income Relationship. Journal of Financial Econometrics 18, 158–180. doi:10.1093/jjfinec/nbz004.
- Shiller, R., 1981. Do Stock Prices Move Too Much to Be Justified by Subsequent Changes in Dividends? American Economic Review 71, 421–436.
- Shiller, R.J., 1997. Market volatility. 5. printing ed., MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Shiller, R.J., 2002. Bubbles, Human Judgment, and Expert Opinion. Financial Analysts Journal 58, 18–26. doi:10.2469/faj.v58.n3.2535.
- Shiller, R.J., 2003. From Efficient Markets Theory to Behavioral Finance. Journal of Economic Perspectives 17, 83–104. URL: https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/ 089533003321164967, doi:10.1257/089533003321164967.
- Shiller, R.J., 2015. Irrational exuberance. Revised and expanded 3. ed., Princeton University Press, Princeton and Oxfordshire. doi:10.1515/9781400865536.

- Shleifer, A., 2000. Inefficient Markets: An Introduction to Behavioral Finance. Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/0198292279.001.0001.
- Siami-Namini, S., Tavakoli, N., Siami Namin, A., 2019. A Comparative Analysis of Forecasting Financial Time Series Using ARIMA, LSTM, and BiLSTM. arXiv doi:09512.
- Sias, R.W., 2004. Institutional Herding. The Review of Financial Studies 17, 165–206. doi:10.1093/rfs/hhg035.
- Sieczka, P., Holyst, J.A., 2008. A threshold model of financial markets. Acta Physica Polonica A 114, 525–530.
- Simon, H.A., 1955. A Behavioral Model of Rational Choice. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 69, 99. doi:10.2307/1884852.
- Singh, V., 2013. Did institutions herd during the internet bubble? Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting 41, 513–534. doi:10.1007/s11156-012-0320-1.
- Sornette, D., 2014. Physics and financial economics (1776-2014): puzzles, Ising and agentbased models. Reports on Progress in Physics 77. doi:10.1088/0034-4885/77/6/ 062001.
- Sornette, D., Zhou, W.X., 2006. Importance of positive feedbacks and overconfidence in a self-fulfilling Ising model of financial markets. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 370, 704–726. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2006.02.022.
- Spyrou, S., 2013. Herding in financial markets: a review of the literature. Review of Behavioural Finance 5, 175–194. doi:10.1108/RBF-02-2013-0009.
- Stangor, P., Kuerzinger, L., 2021. Measuring investor sentiment from Social Media Data An emotional approach. SSRN Electronic Journal. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3976224.
- Steiger, S., Pelster, M., 2020. Social interactions and asset pricing bubbles. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 179, 503–522. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2020.09.020.
- Stein, J.C., 2008. Conversations among Competitors. American Economic Review 98, 2150–2162. doi:10.1257/aer.98.5.2150.
- Sun, L., Najand, M., Shen, J., 2016. Stock return predictability and investor sentiment: A high-frequency perspective. Journal of Banking & Finance 73, 147–164. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378426616301595, doi:10. 1016/j.jbankfin.2016.09.010.

- Takaishi, T., 2005. Simulations of financial markets in a Potts-like model. International Journal of Modern Physics C 16, 1311–1317. doi:10.1142/S0129183105007923.
- Takaishi, T., 2013. Analysis of Spin Financial Market by GARCH Model. Journal of Physics: Conference Series 454, 012041. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/454/1/012041.
- Takaishi, T., 2015. Multiple Time Series Ising Model for Financial Market Simulations. Journal of Physics: Conference Series 574, 1–4. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/574/1/012149.
- Tan, L., Chiang, T.C., Mason, J.R., Nelling, E., 2008. Herding behavior in Chinese stock markets: An examination of A and B shares. Pacific-Basin Finance Journal 16, 61–77. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0927538X07000236, doi:10.1016/j.pacfin.2007.04.004.
- Tate, 2024. Summary on Chicago, Board of Trade II (1999) by Andreas Gursky. URL: https://www.tate.org.uk/art/artworks/ gursky-chicago-board-of-trade-ii-p20191.
- Thaler, R., 1980. Toward a positive theory of consumer choice. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 1, 39–60. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/0167268180900517, doi:10.1016/0167-2681(80)90051-7.
- Thaler, R.H., Sunstein, C.R., 2009. Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Rev. and expanded ed., Penguin, New York, NY.
- The Nobel Prize, 2002. The Sveriges Riksbank Prize in Economic Sciences in Memory of Alfred Nobel 2002. URL: https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/economic-sciences/2002/summary/.
- The Nobel Prize, 2017. The Sveriges Riksbank Prize in Economic Sciences in Memory of Alfred Nobel 2017. URL: https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/economic-sciences/2017/summary/.
- Thoma, M., 2013. Bad Advice, Herding and Bubbles: 20 / 1. Journal of Economic Methodology, 45–55. URL: http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rjec20.
- Tirole, J., 1985. Asset Bubbles and Overlapping Generations. Econometrica 53, 1499–1528. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1913232, doi:10.2307/1913232.
- Tversky, A., Kahneman, D., 1974. Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Science (New York, N.Y.) 185, 1124–1131. doi:10.1126/science.185.4157.1124.

- Ugander, J., Karrer, B., Backstrom, L., Marlow, C., 2011. The anatomy of the facebook social graph. arXiv preprint arXiv:1111.4503.
- Venezia, I., Nashikkar, A., zur Shapira, 2011. Firm specific and macro herding by professional and amateur investors and their effects on market volatility. Journal of Banking & Finance 35, 1599–1609. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0378426610004449, doi:10.1016/j.jbankfin.2010.11.015.
- Vikram, S.V., Sinha, S., 2011. Emergence of universal scaling in financial markets from mean-field dynamics. Physical review. E, Statistical, nonlinear, and soft matter physics 83, 016101. doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.83.016101.
- Vilela, A.L., Wang, C., Nelson, K.P., Stanley, H.E., 2019. Majority-vote model for financial markets. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 515, 762–770. URL: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378437118313451, doi:10. 1016/j.physa.2018.10.007.
- Vincenzo, I., Carbone, G., Giannoccaro, I., 2014. An Ising-based approach to the study of inter-organizational team dynamics. 2014 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management. doi:10.13140/2.1.1004.8969.
- Voronkova, S., Bohl, M.T., 2005. Institutional Traders' Behavior in an Emerging Stock Market: Empirical Evidence on Polish Pension Fund Investors. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting 32, 1537–1560. doi:10.1111/j.0306-686X.2005.00639.x.
- Walter, A., Moritz Weber, F., 2006. Herding in the German Mutual Fund Industry. European Financial Management 12, 375–406. doi:10.1111/j.1354-7798.2006.00325.x.
- Wang, S., Chen, L., 2019. Driving factors of equity bubbles. The North American Journal of Economics and Finance 49, 304–317. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1062940818305382, doi:10.1016/j.najef.2019.04.014.
- Waud, R., 1970. Public Interpretation of Federal Reserve Discount Rate Changes: Evidence on the 'Announcement Effect'. Econometrica 38, 231–250. URL: https://EconPapers. repec.org/RePEc:ecm:emetrp:v:38:y:1970:i:2:p:231-50.
- Weidlich, W., 1971. The Statistical Description of Polarization Phenomena in Society<sup>†</sup>. British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology 24, 251–266. doi:10.1111/j. 2044-8317.1971.tb00470.x.

- Weiss, P., 1907. L'hypothèse du champ moléculaire et la propriété ferromagnétique.
  Journal de Physique Théorique et Appliquée 6, 661-690. doi:10.1051/jphystap:
  019070060066100.
- Werker, C., Brenner, T., 2004. Empirical calibration of simulation models. Papers on Economics and Evolution 0410. doi:88244.
- Wermers, R., 1999. Mutual Fund Herding and the Impact on Stock Prices. The Journal of Finance 54, 581–622. URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10. 1111/0022-1082.00118#, doi:10.1111/0022-1082.00118.
- West, K.D., 1987. A Specification Test for Speculative Bubbles. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 102, 553. doi:10.2307/1884217.
- Wilmott, P., 1998. Derivatives: The theory and practice of financial engineering. Frontiers in finance, Wiley, Chichester and Weinheim.
- Windrum, P., Fagiolo, G., Moneta, A., 2007. Empirical Validation of Agent-Based Models: Alternatives and Prospects. The Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation 10.
- Wöckl, I., 2019. Bubble Detection in Financial Markets A Survey of Theoretical Bubble Models and Empirical Bubble Detection Tests. SSRN Electronic Journal. doi:10.2139/ ssrn.3460430.
- World Health Organization, 2023. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. URL: https://www.who.int/europe/emergencies/situations/covid-19.
- Wu, X., Xiao, L., Sun, Y., Zhang, J., Ma, T., He, L., 2021. A Survey of Human-in-the-loop for Machine Learning. URL: https://arxiv.org/pdf/2108.00941.
- Wylie, S., 2005. Fund Manager Herding: A Test of the Accuracy of Empirical Results Using U.K. Data. The Journal of Business 78, 381–403. URL: http://www.jstor.org/ stable/10.1086/426529, doi:10.1086/426529.
- Yan, W., Woodard, R., Sornette, D., 2012. Diagnosis and prediction of rebounds in financial markets. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 391, 1361–1380. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ s0378437111007357, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2011.09.019.
- Yang, Y.H., 2010. Blume-Emery-Griffiths dynamics in social networks. Physics Procedia 3, 1839–1844. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1875389210002725, doi:10.1016/j.phpro.2010.07.027.

- Zaklan, G., Lima, F., Westerhoff, F., 2008. Controlling tax evasion fluctuations. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 387, 5857–5861. doi:10.1016/j.physa. 2008.06.036.
- Zaklan, G., Westerhoff, F., Stauffer, D., 2009. Analysing tax evasion dynamics via the Ising model. Journal of Economic Interaction and Coordination 4, 1. doi:10.1007/s11403-008-0043-5.
- Zha, Q., Kou, G., Zhang, H., Liang, H., Chen, X., Li, C.C., Dong, Y., 2021. Opinion dynamics in finance and business: a literature review and research opportunities. Financial Innovation 6. doi:10.1186/s40854-020-00211-3.
- Zhang, B., Wang, J., Fang, W., 2015. Volatility behavior of visibility graph EMD financial time series from Ising interacting system. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 432, 301–314. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2015.03.057.
- Zhang, W., Skiena, S., 2010. Trading strategies to exploit blog and news sentiment. Fourth international aAAI conference on weblogs and social media. URL: https://www.aaai.org/ocs/index.php/icwsm/icwsm10/paper/viewpaper/1529.
- Zhang, Y., Li, X., 2015. A multifractality analysis of Ising financial markets with small world topology. European Physical Journal B 88. doi:10.1140/epjb/e2015-50564-1.
- Zhou, R.T., Lai, R.N., 2009. Herding and information based trading. Journal of Empirical Finance 16, 388–393. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0927539809000061, doi:10.1016/j.jempfin.2009.01.004.
- Zhou, W.X., Sornette, D., 2007. Self-organizing Ising model of financial markets. European Physical Journal B 55, 175–181. doi:10.1140/epjb/e2006-00391-6.
- Zubillaga, B.J., Vilela, A.L., Wang, C., Nelson, K.P., Stanley, H.E., 2022. A three-state opinion formation model for financial markets. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 588, 126527. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378437121008001, doi:10.1016/j.physa.2021.126527.

## **Statutory declaration**

I, John Henrik Stiebel, swear that I am writing this dissertation independently and without inadmissible outside help, taking into account the 'principles for ensuring good scientific practice at the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf'.

Düsseldorf, November 6, 2024

John H. Stiebel